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CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The (consolidated) Corporate Governance Report 
for the business year 2019/20 was published on 
voest alpine AG’s website under the “Investors” tab. 
» The full link is  
 http://www.voestalpine.com/group/en/ 
 investors/corporate-governance 

REPORT ON THE GROUP’S  
BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND 
ECONOMIC SITUATION

The weakening of economic momentum shaped 
the business year 2019/20 from the outset. Some 
of its causes such as trade wars and the Brexit 
had already been apparent in the business year 
2018/19. What had been a very challenging en-
vironment over extended stretches of time did not 
ease until the reporting period’s final quarter.  
The COVID-19 pandemic brought the clearly ac-
celerating momentum at the turn of the year to 
an abrupt end. Economic developments in the 
final weeks of the business year 2019/20 are not 
comparable to past downturns. The fact that the 
economy came to a sudden standstill was not  
the result of economic forces but instead served 
to protect people’s health. Worldwide, and even 
within Europe, measures aimed at mitigating  
the coronavirus were handled differently at the 
regional level but the consequences were the  
same everywhere: Massive restrictions on con-
sumption, followed by sharp curtailments on pro-

duction and, in some areas, complete production 
stoppages.
This turn of events also affected the voestalpine 
Group in all its regions. The numbers for the busi-
ness year 2019/20, however, reflect only a frac-
tion of the impact on operating income still to be 
expected from the COVID-19 crisis. 

EUROPE
Throughout the first three quarters of the business 
year ended and thus prior to the outbreak of the 
pandemic, there was a dichotomy in Europe’s 
economic development. While both consumption 
and the service sector benefited from good em-
ployment levels, rising household incomes, and 
low interest rates that drove the positive momen-
tum, the manufacturing sector was weak. Besides 
the slowdown in the global economy, Europe’s 
traditionally export-led industry suffered espe-
cially from the international trade wars that damp-
ened investments in Europe. Add to that the  
reductions in automotive production, which af-
fected Germany’s economic performance above 
all. This development intensified yet further toward 
the close of calendar year 2019 because many 
sectors were reducing their inventories.  
Sentiment did not palpably improve until the  
turn of the year, which coincides with the start of 
the business year’s fourth quarter, only to be 
brought to a screeching stop by the onset of the 
COVID-19 pandemic in Europe toward the end 
of the quarter. 
The weakness of Europe’s manufacturing indus-
tries even prior to the COVID-19 outbreak posed 
considerable challenges for voestalpine, which 
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generates about two thirds of its revenue in Eu-
rope. Especially the slowdown in the automotive 
sector was a drag on earnings. By contrast, the 
Group benefited from positive developments in 
the rail technology and aerospace sectors up to 
the fourth quarter of the reporting period. 
The outbreak of COVID-19 led to restrictions on 
public life that were imposed at different rates 
and intensities throughout Europe, with far- 
reaching consequences for both consumption 
and production. The voestalpine Group already 
reacted to diminished demand toward the close 
of the business year 2019/20 by curtailing pro-
duction in its core facilities. Moreover, large sec-
tions of its labor force were registered for the  
different short time work models that apply in  
European countries.

NORTH AMERICA / USA
The growth trend in the United States continued 
unabated over most of the business year 2019/20. 
Particularly the service sector and private con-
sumption benefited from people’s growing pur-
chasing power thanks to the flourishing labor 
market, rising household income, and low interest 
rates. After delivering satisfactory performance 
at the start of the business year, the production 
sector increasingly suffered under the escalating 
trade war with China and the weakening global 
economy. There was a palpable decline in invest-
ments. The Phase 1 Trade Deal with China finally 
lent some momentum to the country’s economic 
development toward the end of the third quarter, 
which continued into the start of the fourth  
quarter. The COVID-19 pandemic reached North 
America also toward the close of the business 
year 2019/20. Due to the U.S. administration’s 
hesitant response, the virus quickly spread to a 
degree that made it imperative to impose ex-
tensive shutdowns on public life, especially in New 
York—just as the world’s other regions had done.
The COVID-19 pandemic thus interrupted the 
longest economic growth trend in the history of 
the United States, producing the sharpest con-
traction since World War II.
In sum, the voestalpine Group benefited through-
out most of the reporting period from the eco-
nomic momentum that prevailed in North Ameri-
ca. The aerospace industry, in particular, saw 
strong demand up to the third quarter. While the 
railway sector did slow down in the course of the 
business year ended, it remained attractive over-
all nonetheless. The oil and natural gas industry 

pre sented a different picture, however, posing a 
challenge for voestalpine throughout the report-
ing period mainly due to both the downturn in 
exploration activity and the Section 232 protectio-
nist tariffs. Add to that the pronounced worsening 
of conditions toward the close of the business  
year 2019/20 independently of the outbreak of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. The voestalpine Group 
reacted swiftly in North America, too, taking com-
prehensive measures to adjust production to  lower 
demand and imposing strict cost management. 

SOUTH AMERICA / BRAZIL
The weakness of macroeconomic momentum in 
Brazil, voestalpine’s most important market on 
the South American continent, continued unabat-
ed in the business year 2019/20. 
In addition to anemic investment throughout the 
country, this was chiefly due to weaker iron ore 
exports, which still account for a significant por-
tion of the country’s gross domestic product (GDP). 
Following a fatal dam break in a Brazilian mine 
at the start of calendar year 2019, the authorities 
closed down several mining operations for  safety 
reasons, allowing them to reopen but gradually 
over the course of the business year.
While economic growth virtually came to a stand-
still during the reporting period’s second quarter, 
growing consumption as well as rising investments 
fed an upswing that started in its third quarter. 
The devaluation of the real, Brazil’s currency, in 
the fourth quarter intensified this trend because 
it boosted exports. 
Although Brazil, too, was hit by the global COVID-19 
pandemic toward the close of the business year 
ended, the government’s reaction was rather lack-
adaisical. As a result, the pandemic’s economic 
effects in the reporting period are visible only  
to a limited extent at this time. It is to be expect-
ed, however, that the country’s inadequate re-
sponse to the crisis will lead to follow-on effects 
along with even stronger distortions in the coming 
months.
On the whole, the voestalpine Group’s Brazilian 
entities delivered very solid performance in this 
challenging environment. 

CHINA
In the business year 2019/20, China’s economic 
growth suffered increasingly from the trade war, 
especially with the United States. Aside from the 
decline in exports, a direct consequence, domes-
tic consumption also slumped. The country’s auto-



C O N S O L I D A T E D  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

motive market experienced a meltdown,  prompting 
the central government to enact state-sponsored 
economic stimulus programs that had a positive 
effect particularly in the construction and infra-
structure industries. This drove China’s production 
of pig iron and thus demand for iron ore on the 
global market to new highs, in turn triggering iron 
ore price increases worldwide, given China’s  
dominant position as the world’s largest steel pro-
ducer.
The voestalpine Group benefited from this envi-
ronment into the third quarter of the business year 
2019/20, especially its rail technology segment. 
The tool segment, by contrast, suffered from the 
weakness of both the consumer goods industry 
and the automotive industry. 
To keep the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic 
under control, China reduced public life to a bare 
minimum. At the start of the fourth quarter of the 
business year 2019/20, therefore, all work stopped 
at voestalpine’s production sites in China, too. 
While this lockdown triggered a dramatic down-
turn in the prevailing growth trend, China already 
launched a coordinated program in early March 
to restart its economy. Even the voestalpine Group’s 
sites in the country had returned almost to nor-
mal operations by the business year’s end. 

All told, the economic environment in the busi-
ness year 2019/20 turned out to be one of the 
most challenging in recent years.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL  
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
OF THE voestalpine GROUP

REVENUE
While the voestalpine Group successfully boosted 
revenue in recent years on account of its growth 
strategy, in the business year ended revenue fell 
year over year by 6.2%, from EUR 13,560.7 mil-
lion to EUR 12,717.2 million. This development is 
closely linked to the dampening of economic sen-
timent in both the customer segments and the 
sales regions critical to the voestalpine Group. 
Delivery volumes declined across the board as a 
result. Solely the Steel Division exhibits a stable 
trend, because the complete overhaul of blast 
furnace A already reduced the previous year’s 
basis. 

NON-RECURRING EFFECTS
Whereas the decline in revenue was moderate, 
the weakening in individual earnings categories 
is much more pronounced. This is due only in part 
to the Group’s operating performance. In the  
final analysis, non-recurring effects in the report-
ing period—as announced by way of ad hoc  
notices dated December 16, 2019, and April 7, 
2020—were material to this outcome. They im-
pacted EBITDA in the business year 2019/20 to 
the tune of EUR 83 million, with the majority af-
fecting its third quarter. Impairment tests led to 

REVENUE OF THE voestalpine GROUP
In millions of euros

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2019/20

11,068.7 11,294.5

12,897.8 12,717.2

2018/19

13,560.7
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REVENUE BY DIVISIONS
As percentage of total divisional revenue, business year 2019/20

22%
Metal Engineering

21%
Metal Forming

35%
Steel

22%
High Performance Metals

REVENUE BY INDUSTRIES
As percentage of Group revenue, business year 2019/20

33%
Automotive

5%
White goods/Consumer goods

12%
Railway systems

9%
Building/Construction

3%
Aerospace

14%
Energy

9%
Mechanical engineering

15%
Other

REVENUE BY REGIONS
As percentage of Group revenue, business year 2019/20  The revenue figures for Great Britain for both the current 

and the comparative period were reclassified 
from “European Union” to “Rest of world.”

62%
European Union 
(of which Austria: 7%)

9%
Asia

3%
South America

16%
USMCA

10%
Rest of world
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the recognition of impairment losses in numerous 
units. Of the total of EUR 402 million in impair-
ment losses for the voestalpine Group in the busi-
ness year ended, the third quarter accounts for 
about two thirds and the fourth quarter for about 
one third. The non-recurring effects thus reduced 
EBIT (including the EBITDA effects) by EUR 485 
million. At EUR 240 million in non-recurring  
effects, the Steel Division bore the brunt of it.  
The impact on the Group’s other divisions is con-
siderably weaker: High Performance Metals Divi-
sion: EUR 81 million, Metal Engineering Division: 
EUR 88 million, and Metal Forming Division:  
EUR 76 million. 

Non-recurring effects impacted the figures for 
the same period of the business year 2018/19, 
too. They were attributable to the delayed start-
up of the automotive component plant in Carters-
ville, Georgia, USA, as well as to the need to set 
up provisions in connection with an investigation 
by the German Federal Cartel Office (Bundes
kartellamt) against steel producers on suspicion 
of past anti-competitive practices in the heavy 
plate product segment. The scheduled overhaul 
of the Steel Division’s largest blast furnace also 
affected the Group’s performance in the business 
year 2018/19. Against this backdrop, any com-
parison of the financial key performance indica-
tors (KPIs) pursuant to IFRS is of limited relevance 
to descriptions of the company’s operating per-
formance.

OPERATING INCOME
EBITDA decreased year over year by 24.5%, from 
EUR 1,564.6 million in the business year 2018/19 
to EUR 1,181.5 million in the business year 2019/20. 
While this decline is largely due to the gradual 
dampening of economic sentiment, all divisions 
recorded lower EBITDA. 

EBIT of the voestalpine Group was substantially 
affected by large impairment losses in the report-
ing period, with the result that this earnings cat-
egory for the business year 2019/20 is negative 
at EUR –89.0 million. voestalpine had posted EBIT 
of EUR 779.4 million in the business year 2018/19. 
The analysis of the development of EBIT over the 
course of the reporting period underscores the 
impact of the non-recurring effects: It was  clearly 
positive in the first two quarters, but negative in 
both subsequent quarters.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  
AND PROFIT AFTER TAX
In keeping with EBIT, the Group’s profit before tax 
for the business year 2019/20 is negative, too. 
Based on net financial income of EUR –141.3 mil-
lion for the reporting period (previous year: EUR 
−133.7 million), the profit before tax is EUR –230.3 
million. The previous year’s Statement of Compre-
hensive Income of the voestalpine Group shows 
profit before tax of EUR 645.7 million. Given the 
negative earnings performance in the reporting 
period, at EUR 13.8 million the corporate income 
tax is positive (previous year: EUR –187.1 million). 
This results in a profit after tax for the business 
year 2019/20 of EUR –216.5 million, compared 
with EUR 458.6 million in the previous year.

PROPOSED DIVIDEND
Subject to the approval of the Annual General 
Meeting of voestalpine AG, which will take place 
on July 1, 2020, a dividend of EUR 0.20 per share 
will be paid to the company’s shareholders. This 
represents a decrease of 81.8% compared to  
the previous year’s dividend of EUR 1.10 per share. 
The reduction in the dividend stems from the  
voestalpine Group’s earnings performance in the 
business year 2019/20, the tense economic en-
vironment in connection with the COVID-19 pan-
demic as well as the decline in the price of voest-
alpine’s share. Relative to its average price of  
EUR 23.38 in the reporting period, the dividend 
yield for the business year is 0.9% (previous year: 
3.1%).

GEARING RATIO
At 67.2%, the gearing ratio (net financial debt as 
a percentage of equity) as of March 31, 2020, 
rose significantly from its level of 46.6% as of  
the previous year’s reporting date. In addition to 
the negative earnings performance, this increase 
also stems from accounting rules and the re-
demption of the hybrid bond. The EUR 500 million 
hybrid bond issued in 2013 was repaid as of  
October 31, 2019. It was recognized in equity as 
of September 9, 2019, and refinanced through 
borrowings. Moreover, in the business year 2019/20 
net financial debt increased by EUR 436.4 million 
due to the initial recognition pursuant to IFRS 16 
of both the capitalization of right-of-use assets 
and the corresponding lease liabilities under  
rental and leasing contracts. Against this back-
drop, the net financial debt rose by 20.8%, from 
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EBITDA
In millions of euros

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

1,583.4 1,540.7

1,954.1

2019/20

1,181.5

2018/19

1,564.6

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

EBIT
In millions of euros

888.8
823.3

1,180.0

2019/20

–89.0
2018/19

779.4

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

PROFIT AFTER TAX
In millions of euros Before deduction of non-controlling interests and shares of hybrid capital owners.

602.1
527.0

825.4

2019/20

–216.5

2018/19

458.6
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EPS – EARNINGS PER SHARE
In euros 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

2019/20

3.35

2.84

4.40

–1.24

2018/19

2.31

NET FINANCIAL DEBT – EQUITY – GEARING RATIO
In millions of euros   Net financial debt       Equity       Gearing (in %)

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

3,079.9

5,651.6

3,221.1

6,060.3

2,995.1

6,554.3

2019/20

3,775.0

5,614.9

2018/19

3,125.4

6,709.8

53.2

45.7

67.2

54.5
46.6

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

DIVIDEND PER SHARE
In euros  * As proposed to the Annual General Meeting.

1.05 1.10

1.40

2019/20

0.20*

1.10

2018/19
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EUR 3,125.4 million as of March 31, 2019, to EUR 
3,775.0 million as of March 31, 2020. Equity fell 
in the same period by 16.3%, from EUR 6,709.8 
million as of March 31, 2019, to EUR 5,614.9 mil-
lion as of March 31, 2020.

CASH FLOWS
Cash flows from operating activities rose year 
over year, specifically, from EUR 1,166.6 million 
in the business year 2018/19 to EUR 1,304.0 mil-
lion in the business year 2019/20, an increase of 
11.8%. While the profit after tax for the reporting 
period is negative, the year-over-year change in 
working capital from EUR –137.1 million in the 

previous year to EUR 433.9 million in the business 
year ended is clearly positive. 

The investments of the voestalpine Group in the 
business year 2019/20 were slightly lower year 
over year. Cash flows from investing activities are 
EUR –606.8 million (previous year: EUR −810.0 
million). The cash flows from Group financing  
activities in the business year 2019/20 are EUR 
−374.3 million (previous year: EUR −579.3 million).
This results in an increase of cash and cash  
equi valents in the business year 2019/20 by  
EUR 322.9 million (previous year: decrease of  
EUR 222.7 million).

Net financial debt can be broken down as follows:

NET FINANCIAL DEBT
In millions of euros 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Financial liabilities, non-current 2,661.8 3,889.7
Financial liabilities, current 1,142.3 754.1
Cash and cash equivalents –485.9 –794.7
Other financial assets –182.3 –55.4
Loans and other receivables from financing –10.5 –18.5
Net financial debt 3,125.4 3,775.0

QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE voestalpine GROUP
In millions of euros BY

1st quarter 
2019/20

2nd quarter 
2019/20

3rd quarter 
2019/20

4th quarter 
2019/20

2019/20 2018/19 Change  
in %

Revenue 3,336.1 3,205.5 3,033.6 3,142.0 12,717.2 13,560.7 –6.2
EBITDA 370.9 294.6 171.7 344.3 1,181.5 1,564.6 –24.5
EBITDA margin 11.1% 9.2% 5.7% 11.0% 9.3% 11.5%
EBIT 156.7 72.9 –311.9 –6.7 –89.0 779.4 –111.4
EBIT margin 4.7% 2.3% –10.3% –0.2% –0.7% 5.7%
Profit before tax 124.4 38.1 –347.7 –45.1 –230.3 645.7 –135.7
Profit after tax1 90.4 24.8 –275.2 –56.5 –216.5 458.6 –147.2
Employees  
(full-time equivalent) 51,670 51,275 49,838 49,682 49,682 51,907 –4.3

1 Before deduction of non-controlling interests and shares of hybrid capital owners.
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MARKET ENVIRONMENT  
AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

While a dampening of sentiment had already  
begun to make itself felt in the European steel 
market since the second half of the business year 
2018/19, the situation deteriorated  dramatically 
in the business year 2019/20. This extremely chal-
lenging development culminated in the fallout 
from the COVID-19 pandemic toward the close 
of the reporting period.
Demand for steel products had noticeably cooled 
off as early as at the start of the business year, 
due mainly to the slowing of demand in the auto-
motive, the mechanical engineering as well as 
the white goods and consumer goods industries. 
Solely the construction industry remained robust 
throughout.
The decline in demand contrasted starkly with the 
significant growth of steel imports into Europe. In 
the final analysis, these imports were the outcome 
of the United States’ Section 232 protectionist 
tariffs, which practically closed off the country’s 
market from the rest of the world, diverting the 
global flow of goods elsewhere. Europe’s attempt 
to protect its own (steel) market from this fore-
seeable development by enacting “Safeguard 
Measures” was not particularly effective, in evitably 
causing steel prices in Europe to decline. Unlike 
similar events in the past, however, this time the 
prices for the most important raw materials used 
in steelmaking did not decline also. 
China, the world’s largest steel producer by far, 
turned out yet again to be a key factor in the de-
velopment of the cost of raw materials worldwide. 

To stimulate its own economy, China launched 
an investment program aimed at the infrastruc-
ture, construction, and real estate industries, in 
turn pushing the country’s pig iron production to 
new highs. The demand for iron ore also rose to 
new highs as a result. Owing to the fatal dam 
break in a Brazilian iron ore mine, iron ore sup-
plies had already tightened during this period, 
putting yet more upward pressure on prices.

In the European steel industry, this combination 
of falling demand, rising imports, and falling steel 
prices combined with massively increasing raw 
material costs led to a meltdown in earnings across 
the board. Thanks to its long-term partnerships 
with customers, however, the quality-focused  
Steel Division partly succeeded in cushioning the 
price pressures but was unable in the end to avoid 
the devastating impact of the sharp increase in 
the cost of raw materials (above all iron ore).
Demand in the sales market noticeably slowed 
throughout calendar year 2019. Toward the close 
of the year, many customer segments worked to 
reduce their inventories—especially the automo-
tive industry, which had dramatically cut back 
production. While this sector showed clear signs 
of a recovery at the start of calendar year 2020 
(which coincided with the start of the fourth quar-
ter of the business year 2019/20), demand from 
the mechanical engineering sector remained re-
strained. This upward trend also affected the  
white goods and consumer goods industries. De-
velopments in the construction industry were  
solid throughout the business year 2019/20. 

STEEL DIVISION 
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There was little demand from the oil and natural 
gas industry during the same period, and low ca-
pacity utilization at all relevant heavy plate man-
ufacturers led to fierce competition for the small 
number of projects in the pipeline market. voest-
alpine’s focus on the quality segment—for exam-
ple, technologically sophisticated clad plates  
that are used in pipeline construction—turned out 
to be helpful indeed: It gave the Steel Division 
some room to maneuver despite the difficult 
 market conditions.
The COVID-19 pandemic paralyzed the market 
at the end of the fourth business quarter, just as 
the recovery in most customer segments had 
started to cause noticeable jumps in demand for 
steel products.
Particularly the automotive industry shut down its 
production almost completely in mid-March 2020. 
No new orders were placed with suppliers, nor 
were any deliveries accepted. While other cus-
tomer segments’ response was not quite as rad-
ical, most curtailed production to an extent un-
paralleled in living memory.
The sharp decline in orders led to a curtailment 
of production at the voestalpine Group’s steel  
facility in Linz, Austria, and a small furnace was 
turned off. Such a step had to be taken just once 
since the company went public in 1995, specifi-
cally, in 2009 owing to the global financial crisis 
that followed the collapse of Lehman Brothers, 
the U.S. investment bank. 
Developments at the direct reduction plant in 
Corpus Christi, Texas, USA, were highly uneven 
during the business year 2019/20. While produc-
tion remained stable throughout the business 

year, the deterioration in the market environment 
continued unabated. The market for hot briquet-
ted iron (HBI) came under a lot of pressure due 
especially to sharply rising iron ore prices that 
went hand in hand with falling steel prices in North 
America. 

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

Year over year, the Steel Division’s revenue fell by 
6.5%, from EUR 4,887.3 million in the business 
year 2018/19 to EUR 4,570.5 million in the busi-
ness year 2019/20. Delivery volumes were stable 
despite the economic downturn. Note that the 
corresponding figure for the previous year already 
was some 10% below that for the business year 
2017/18 owing to the overhaul of the division’s 
largest blast furnace. The decline in revenue thus 
stems from falling prices. While prices gradually 
lost ground throughout the business year ended, 
the cost of pre-materials—i.e., the price of the 
divi sion’s most important raw material, iron ore—
rose sharply from time to time. This means that 
the Steel Division was confronted with an ex-
tremely challenging environment in the reporting 
period. The declines in the individual earnings 
categories significantly exceeded those on the 
revenue side against this backdrop. EBITDA fell 
by 24.4%, from EUR 653.2 million (margin of 
13.4%) in the business year 2018/19 to EUR  
494.0 million (margin of 10.8%) in the business 
year 2019/20. Aside from the overhaul of the 
blast furnace, the previous year’s earnings were 
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also affected by provisions related to an investi-
gation by the German Federal Cartel Office 
(Bundeskartellamt) in the heavy plate product 
segment. 
At EUR –100.6 million, the Steel Division’s EBIT for 
the reporting period was negative, down from 
EBIT of EUR 319.0 million in the previous business 
year. Negative non-recurring effects of EUR 240 
million for the business year 2019/20 must also 
be taken into account in this connection; they 
comprise impairment losses at the direct reduc-
tion plant in Texas, USA, and at the Foundry Group. 
This caused the EBIT margin to decline from 6.5% 
in the previous year to –2.2% in the reporting  
period.
The quarter-on-quarter comparison (QoQ) be-
tween the business year’s third and fourth quar-
ters shows a considerable uptrend in the Steel 
Division’s performance despite the initial negative 
fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic. Following 
the value chain inventory reductions in the third 
business quarter, customers’ order call-ups im-
proved after the X-Mas break. Specifically, re venue 

rose by 4.9%, from EUR 1,098.0 million to EUR 
1,151.4 million, due to the increase in the QoQ 
sales volume. In earnings terms, lower raw mate-
rial costs offset falling product prices. EBITDA 
jumped by 41.7% in consequence, from EUR 96.6 
million (margin of 8.8%) in the third quarter of  
the business year 2019/20 to EUR 136.9 million 
(margin of 11.9%) in the fourth quarter. 
Impairment losses of EUR 200 million in the third 
quarter and of EUR 40 million in the fourth quar-
ter at the Texas plant as well as the Foundry Group 
impacted EBIT. It is against this backdrop that  
the division’s EBIT improved quarter on quarter 
from EUR –193.1 million (margin of –17.6%) to 
EUR 11.5 million (margin of 1.0%).

As of March 31, 2020, the Steel Division had 
10,419 employees (FTE), a decrease of 4.2% com-
pared with the figure (10,877 employees) as of 
the previous year’s reporting date. This reduction 
is due to the adjustments in personnel that were 
made on account of the difficult market environ-
ment. 
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CUSTOMERS OF THE STEEL DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20
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MARKETS OF THE STEEL DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20 The revenue figures for Great Britain for both the current 
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QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE STEEL DIVISION
In millions of euros BY

1st quarter 
2019/20

2nd quarter 
2019/20

3rd quarter 
2019/20

4th quarter 
2019/20

2019/20 2018/19 Change 
in %

Revenue 1,182.1 1,139.0 1,098.0 1,151.4 4,570.5 4,887.3 –6.5
EBITDA 150.6 109.9 96.6 136.9 494.0 653.2 –24.4
EBITDA margin 12.7% 9.6% 8.8% 11.9% 10.8% 13.4%
EBIT 60.8 20.2 –193.1 11.5 –100.6 319.0 –131.5
EBIT margin 5.1% 1.8% –17.6% 1.0% –2.2% 6.5%
Employees  
(full-time equivalent) 10,730 10,682 10,451 10,419 10,419 10,877 –4.2



C O N S O L I D A T E D  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

MARKET ENVIRONMENT  
AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The economic environment of the High Perfor-
mance Metals Division deteriorated substantial-
ly in the business year 2019/20. While it improved 
slightly at a low level early in calendar year 2020, 
demand fell yet again in the business year’s final 
weeks owing to the COVID-19 pandemic, becom-
ing very serious in certain sectors.
Demand for special materials used in the oil and 
natural gas industry or the aerospace industry 
was positive up to the business year’s third quar-
ter, but demand in the tool steel product segment 
was already falling at the start of the business 
year. This segment was hammered by a number 
of negative effects acting in concert with each 
other. The fact that the automotive industry has 
shifted the focus of its investments to alternative 
drive train designs led to a reduction in the num-
ber of new models and thus in demand for tool 
steel. Demand also suffered due to the weaken-
ing of the consumer goods industry during the 
reporting period. This gloomy scenario has now 
reached the premium product segment also, with 
the result that its sales have fallen year over year. 
Demand in the oil and natural gas industry was 
uneven. The High Performance Metals Division 
continued to generate growth in this area during 
the business year’s first three quarters despite the 
slowdown in exploration activities. In the fourth 
quarter, however, tanking oil prices caused the 
market to fall off the cliff. Anti-dumping activities 
in the United States are giving rise to further un-
certainty going into the current business year. 

Sales in the aerospace industry developed along 
a positive trajectory during the business year’s 
first three quarters, just like in the oil and natural 
gas sector. In the fourth quarter, however, com-
ponent part orders for the 737 MAX aircraft were 
the first to plunge. Order call-ups continued to 
decline toward the end of the reporting period 
owing to the global spread of COVID-19.

The business year 2019/20 also presented an un-
even picture in regional terms. In Europe, slowing 
demand for tool steel in the automotive sector, 
especially in Germany, gave rise to a challenging 
market environment. Sharply intensifying compe-
tition also led to strong price pressures. By con-
trast, orders from the European oil and natural 
gas industry were higher year over year, and the 
aerospace industry order book developed well 
also. But both sectors exhibited weakening trends 
toward the end of the reporting period in con-
nection with the COVID-19 pandemic. Negative 
effects attributable to the Brexit have been neg-
ligible so far.
In the United States, the High Performance  Metals 
Division was confronted with a number of unfa-
vorable parameters. Anti-dumping sanctions as 
well as the Section 232 protectionist tariffs have 
increasingly changed procurement in the U.S. 
market. By contrast to the general market trend, 
however, slightly positive developments in the 
market for oil and natural gas continued unabat-
ed until it was shattered in early March 2020 due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic and the plunge in oil 
prices.

HIGH PERFORMANCE  
METALS DIVISION
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The economic climate in Brazil, South America’s 
largest market, has improved. Moreover, the low 
exchange rate of the Brazilian real to the US  dollar 
has also strengthened the local exporting indus-
try, in turn benefiting the division’s Brazilian spe-
cial steel plant. Argentina’s difficulties continued 
unabated, however, even though the division 
posted growth there, too.
In China, the High Performance Metals Division 
had to contend with a more complex market en-
vironment during the business year ended. The 
business climate began to brighten a bit after the 
restraint of the first two quarters, but widespread 
production shutdowns in February 2020 related 
to the COVID-19 pandemic led to sharply declin-
ing demand. Nonetheless, demand levels returned 
to normal in March, just a month later. COVID-19 
affected numerous other Asian countries a bit 
later on. The momentum remained positive until 
February 2020, but orders collapsed in March. 

The business year 2019/20 brought  dramatically 
lower capacity utilization for the High Performance 
Metals Division. This development stems from low 
demand and the reduction in inventories within 
the value chain. Core facilities for premium prod-
ucts were also affected. While developments in 
both the aerospace industry and the oil and nat-
ural gas industry had a positive effect overall on 
the utilization of manufacturing capacity, they 
were unable to offset the decline in demand in 
both the tool and the high-speed steel segment. 
The effect on the company’s German subsidiary, 
Buderus, was particularly intense. Apart from the 
declining momentum in tool steel, this entity was 
also confronted with declining demand for spe-
cial forgings used in heavy haul commercial ve-
hicles. Large-scale restructuring measures were 
initiated at Buderus Edelstahl against this back-
drop. Add to that massive capacity adjustments 
that were undertaken from the middle of March 
2020 in connection with the COVID-19 crisis. In 
particular, this included short time work, reduc-
tions in overtime, reductions in leased personnel, 
and cuts in investments aimed at adjusting costs 
in light of the changed market environment.

The worldwide weakness of the automotive in-
dustry as well as protectionist tendencies on a 
global scale adversely affected the Value Added 
Services business segment in the business year 
2019/20. The strategy of differentiating an entity 
from its competitors both through a broad ser-
vices portfolio and by expanding the range of its 
services continued as planned in the reporting 
period. Crucial support in this respect came from 
actions serving to optimize procedures in the sales 
process and targeted digitalization measures. 
The drive in Europe, North America, and Asia to 
expand the use of 3D printing technology in ad-
ditive component production continued unabat-
ed. voestalpine thus is working to claim a leading 
market position in this cutting-edge technology 
also. Linking local additive manufacturing cen-
ters with the company’s own production of pow-
der at its plants in Kapfenberg, Austria, and  
Hagfors, Sweden, serves to secure its technology 
leadership across the entire process chain. Be-
sides its printing and development centers in  
Germany, Taiwan, Singapore, Canada, and the 
USA, voestalpine now also has two centers in  
China (specifically, in Dongguan and Shanghai). 
This segment, too, has seen massive cost-cutting  
measures and/or capacity cutbacks in all re gions 
since March 2020 against the backdrop of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. China was the only place 
where an improvement in the market environ-
ment in the direction of a return to normalcy  
started to gain traction toward the end of the 
business year 2019/20. 

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

The key performance indicators (KPIs) of the High 
Performance Metals Division deteriorated in the 
business year 2019/20 compared with the previ-
ous year as a result of the substantial dampening 
of the economic environment. Specifically, reve-
nue fell by 7.8%, from EUR 3,136.3 million in the 
previous year to EUR 2,891.0 million in the report-
ing period. This decline was relatively moderate 



C O N S O L I D A T E D  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

because rising alloy prices were passed on to the 
customer in the form of higher prices. Primarily 
the price of nickel, the division’s most important 
alloying element, shot up in the course of the busi-
ness year. Delivery volumes, by contrast, dropped 
substantially year over year. The High Performance 
Metals Division registered a significant weaken-
ing on the earnings side. The decrease in EBITDA 
from EUR 434.9 million (margin of 13.9%) in the 
previous year to EUR 276.0 million (margin of 
9.5%) in the business year ended signifies a de-
cline of 36.5%, due chiefly to limited capacity 
utilization at the production plants as well as de-
clining delivery volumes, especially in the tool steel 
product segment. In addition to the operating 
performance, restructuring expenses at Buderus 
Edelstahl in Wetzlar, Germany, as well as provi-
sions also impacted EBITDA for the business year 
2019/20 to the tune of EUR 54 million owing to 
the significant deterioration in the economic en-
vironment.
At –72.6%, EBIT dropped dramatically from the 
previous year’s value of EUR 280.0 million to EUR 
76.6 million in the reporting period. In addition 
to the dampened volume trends and the afore-
mentioned expenditures associated with the re-
structuring of Buderus Edelstahl, EUR 26 million 
in impairment losses at this German special steel 
plant had a negative impact on EBIT for the busi-
ness year ended. The EBIT margin fell according-
ly from 8.9% to 2.6%. 

The quarter-on-quarter (QoQ) comparison be-
tween the third and fourth quarters of 2019/20 
shows a slight uptick in the performance of the 

High Performance Metals Division. In revenue 
terms, the division posted growth of 5.8%, from 
EUR 675.5 million to EUR 714.6 million, as a result 
of growing delivery volumes. This development, 
however, stems only in part from a recovery of 
demand at the start of calendar year 2020; in-
stead, it is due largely to seasonal declines in  
the sales volume in the third quarter of the busi-
ness year 2019/20. In the fourth quarter, finally, 
the economic consequences of measures de-
signed to mitigate the COVID-19 pandemic put 
a damper on the division’s performance. The  
division’s EBITDA jumped quarter on quarter,  
from EUR 6.9 million (margin of 1.0%) to EUR 91.7 
million (margin of 12.8%). Note, however, that 
both the aforementioned restructuring expenses 
at the Buderus special steel plant and the pro-
visions affected primarily the third business quar-
ter. From the third to the fourth quarter, EBIT im-
proved substantially from EUR –48.0 million to 
EUR 32.2 million, pushing the EBIT margin from 
–7.1% to 4.5%. EBIT for the third and fourth  
quarter contains impairment losses of EUR 11 
million and EUR 15 million, respectively, both of 
which are attributable to Buderus Edelstahl.

As of March 31, 2020, the High Performance  
Metals Division had 13,404 employees (FTE). This 
corresponds to a decrease of 6.9% over the num-
ber (14,398) as of the previous year’s reporting 
date. The reduction stems both from the re-
structuring of the special steel plant in Wetzlar, 
Germany, and the adjustment of the labor force 
to the difficult market environment overall. 
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CUSTOMERS OF THE HIGH PERFORMANCE METALS DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20
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MARKETS OF THE HIGH PERFORMANCE METALS DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20 The revenue figures for Great Britain for both the current 

and the comparative period were reclassified 
from “European Union” to “Rest of world.”
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QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE HIGH PERFORMANCE METALS DIVISION
In millions of euros BY

1st quarter 
2019/20

2nd quarter 
2019/20

3rd quarter 
2019/20

4th quarter 
2019/20

2019/20 2018/19 Change 
in %

Revenue 777.6 723.3 675.5 714.6 2,891.0 3,136.3 –7.8
EBITDA 99.2 78.2 6.9 91.7 276.0 434.9 –36.5
EBITDA margin 12.8% 10.8% 1.0% 12.8% 9.5% 13.9%
EBIT 57.1 35.3 –48.0 32.2 76.6 280.0 –72.6
EBIT margin 7.3% 4.9% –7.1% 4.5% 2.6% 8.9%
Employees  
(full-time equivalent) 14,302 13,837 13,552 13,404 13,404 14,398 –6.9
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MARKET ENVIRONMENT  
AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The two business segments of the Metal Engineer-
ing Division—Railway Systems and Industrial Sys-
tems—faced very different market environments 
in the business year 2019/20. Order levels in Rail-
ways Systems, which has encompassed the divi-
sion’s rail, turnout, and signal technology prod-
ucts since the business year 2018/19, were good 
throughout. By contrast, there was a clear damp-
ening of conditions in the market environment of 
two of Industrial Systems’ three product segments—
mainly wire and seamless tube products. The weld-
ing consumables product segment (welding con-
sumables and welding equipment) for its part 
succeeded in developing along a relatively stable 
trajectory during the entire business year despite 
the weakening macroeconomic environment. 
Railway Systems and Industrial Systems—down-
stream processing segments both—lay claim to 
high product quality. The fact that they guaran-
tee it to their customers is closely bound up with 
their own steel production in Donawitz, Austria, 
using blast furnace technology. By contrast, their 
competitors in individual segments such as wire 
technology and tubulars (seamless tubes) rely on 
electric furnace technology for producing pre- 
materials. Given the significant increase in prices 
for iron ore used in blast furnace operations com-
pared with prices for scrap used in electric fur-
nace operations, these manufacturers were  
able to benefit from the significant advantages 
in raw material costs thus accruing to them from 
time to time. In part, voestalpine managed to off-

set this disadvantage by using a cost-optimized 
raw materials mix in pig iron production at its 
Donawitz steel plant.

Solid order levels in Europe had a positive effect 
on the Railway Systems business segment during 
the business year 2019/20. Investments in the 
European rail network create the most important 
market by far for the rails product segment that 
relies on Donawitz for production. Outside of  
Europe, the segment’s focus traditionally has been 
on heavy-haul transports in mining regions. The 
impetus coming from both Australia and Brazil in 
this connection was largely positive. Satisfactory 
demand overall ensured good capacity utiliza-
tion with respect to rail production in Donawitz. 
By contrast, the high cost of raw materials put a 
damper on earnings because the costs could only 
be passed on to customers after a certain time. 
With more than 40 production and distribution 
centers worldwide, the turnout systems product 
segment is shaped by its pronounced global ori-
entation. This global market leader develops and 
produces turnout systems based on customers’ 
specifications for heavy haul transportation as 
well as high speed and mass transit systems. In 
terms of demand, the turnout systems segment 
benefited during the business year 2019/20 from 
China’s comprehensive economic stimulus pro-
grams. While activities in Europe, Australia, and 
Brazil were satisfactory overall, there was little 
momentum in South Africa. The U.S. market,  
finally, was confronted with a downward trend 
throughout the business year ended. Because  
it is largely owned by private companies and is 

METAL ENGINEERING  
DIVISION
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focused mainly on the freight business, the rail-
way market in the United States is strongly de-
pendent on macroeconomic developments. The 
signaling technology product segment success-
fully expanded its operations yet again in the 
business year ended. Its main focus is on digi-
talized turnout diagnostic systems and rolling 
stock alarm systems that enable customers to 
avoid unnecessary preventive maintenance.
So far, the COVID-19 pandemic has had  relatively 
moderate negative effects on the Railway Sys-
tems business segment. Turnout systems produc-
tion in China was restricted for a few weeks, but 
orders on hand are high. Europe’s railway infra-
structure market remained robust as well. Given 
that railway systems in both the United States and 
Australia are deemed systemically relevant, pro-
duction continued in both countries albeit subject 
to strict security precautions.

The market environment of the Industrial Systems 
business segment continued to deteriorate 
throughout the business year 2019/20. As a part-
ner of the European automotive supplier industry, 
the wire technology product segment sells high 
quality wire products to its customers. Wire, a 
pre-material, is used among other things for en-
gine fasteners, ball bearings, and shock ab sorber 
springs. The challenging conditions that this  
segment faced in the reporting period resulted 
from a number of factors. The downturn in  Europe’s 
car production is causing markets to shrink at the 
same time as high raw material costs are putting 
increased pressure on the margins. Given declin-
ing capacity utilization, capacities at the wire 
production facility in Donawitz were cut from four 
shifts to three at the beginning of the business 
year 2019/20.
The economic environment of the tubulars prod-
uct segment for its part was adversely affected 
by both weakening market momentum and strong 
competitive pressures. Tubulars manufactures 
sour gas-resistant oil country tubular goods (OCTG) 
for the exploration and extraction of natural gas 
and crude oil as well as gastight threaded con-
nections. The business year ended saw a decline 
in demand for equipment required for extracting 
shale oil and natural gas in the United States. The 
imposition of Section 232 protectionist tariffs on 
steel imports had already diminished the attrac-
tiveness of the U.S. market for tubulars. The tubu-
lars segment reacted by taking the following tar-
geted measures: For one, its stated objective is 

to continue segmenting its sales regions and, for 
another, it will consistently push innovation to 
achieve further product differentiation. At the  
level of operations, manufacturing in Kindberg, 
Austria, was reduced from four-shift operations 
to three at the end of the summer 2019. Because 
oil prices tanked toward the end of the business 
year 2019/20 and current demand is low, the oil 
sector is not expected to recover until the start of 
the next business year.
The welding consumables product segment took 
comprehensive steps in previous years to lower 
costs and boost process efficiency. The acquisi-
tion of Selco, a North Italian welding machine 
manufacturer, in the fourth quarter of the busi-
ness year 2019/20 enabled the segment to de-
velop into a full-service provider in the welding 
technology market (see the chapter, Acquisitions). 
In addition to a comprehensive range of welding 
consumables tailored specifically to the energy 
and transportation sectors, the segment’s prod-
uct portfolio now also includes welding machin-
ery. A new plant was built in the United States to 
counteract the negative effects of the country’s 
protectionist policies. However, the U.S. market 
environment developed poorly due to the decline 
in the country’s industrial activities, whereas ac-
tivities in Europe were somewhat satisfactory  
despite the dampening of sentiment. The spread 
of the COVID-19 pandemic interrupted Asia’s  
relatively positive momentum during the first  
three quarters of the business year ended.
On the whole, the adverse effects of the crisis in 
the business year’s fourth quarter on the Indus-
trial Systems business segment were manageable. 
The management of the Metal Engineering Divi-
sion reacted to declining orders by launching fur-
ther initiatives aimed at lowering costs. For exam-
ple, employees at the division’s most important 
locations in Europe were registered for short time 
work so that it can adjust capacities as best as 
possible to the development of demand.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

In the business year 2019/20, the key performance 
indicators (KPIs) for the Metal Engineering Divi-
sion were weaker year over year due to the down-
trend in both the automotive and the energy in-
dustry as well as non-recurring effects. The division’s 
revenue fell by 6.5%, from EUR 3,147.1 million in 
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the previous year to EUR 2,941.7 million in the 
reporting period. The analysis by business seg-
ment presents a bifurcated picture: While Railway 
Systems even succeeded in boosting its revenue 
from foreign sales year over year, the scope of 
Industrial Systems’ deliveries and services declined. 
In the business year 2019/20, the wire techno logy 
and tubulars product segments delivered sub-
stantially lower quantities of wire and tubular 
goods, respectively. As a result, the operating 
performance of both wire technology and tubu-
lars contributed substantially to the year-over-
year drop in EBITDA by 18.4%, from EUR 369.0 
million (margin of 11.7%) in the previous year  
to EUR 301.1 million (margin of 10.2%) in the re-
porting period. Note, however, that the negative 
non-recurring effects which reduced EBITDA by 
EUR 5 million in the business year 2019/20 in play 
as well. In addition, the tubulars and welding  
consumables segments both recognized impair-
ment losses that addi tionally affected EBIT to the 
tune of EUR 83 million. By contrast, the negative 
effects from the steps taken in the reporting pe-
riod to mitigate the COVID-19 pandemic stayed 
within tight limits. On the whole, EBIT plunged by 
83.7%, from EUR 202.0 million in the business 
year 2018/19 to EUR 32.9 million in the business 
year 2019/20, causing the EBIT margin in turn to 
drop from 6.4% to 1.1%. 
However, the quarter-on-quarter comparison 
(QoQ) between the business year’s third and fourth 
quarters presents a differentiated picture. Reve-
nue decreased but moderately by 1.6%, from 
EUR 707.6 million to EUR 696.6 million. A slight 
decline in Railway Systems was contrasted by the 
stable performance of Industrial Systems. While 
the wire technology product segment managed 

to boost delivery volumes in the fourth quarter, 
sales prices in this segment were slightly lower. In 
the tubulars product segment, the extremely un-
favorable market conditions led to further declines 
in delivery volumes. By contrast, the welding con-
sumables product segment posted a slight in-
crease in revenue for the final quarter of the busi-
ness year 2019/20. 
At EUR 72.3 million, the Metal Engineering Divi-
sion’s EBITDA for the fourth quarter improved by 
28.0% compared to the immediately preceding 
quarter (EUR 56.5 million). Note, however, that 
EUR 5 million in negative non-recurring effects 
impacted the third quarter. The EBITDA margin 
rose QoQ from 8.0% to 10.4%. Starting from the 
low level in the third quarter, there was an uptrend 
in the performance of the Industrial Systems busi-
ness segment in the subsequent quarter. At EUR 
–40.0 million (margin of –5.7%), however, EBIT  
for the business year’s final quarter was substan-
tially negative compared to the slightly negative 
level of EUR –3.4 million (margin of –0.5%) in  
the preceding quarter. The collapse in EBIT was 
chiefly due to fourth-quarter impairment losses 
of EUR 63 million in the tubulars and welding con-
sumables product segments. The third-quarter 
impairment losses in the tubulars segment were 
EUR 20 million.

As of the end of the business year 2019/20, the 
number of employees (FTE) in the Metal Forming 
Division was 13,310, or 1.4% below the past year’s 
figure (13,501). This reduction in personnel reflects 
the division’s reaction to the considerable decline 
in demand in both the tubulars and the wire tech-
nology product segments. 
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CUSTOMERS OF THE METAL ENGINEERING DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20
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MARKETS OF THE METAL ENGINEERING DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20 The revenue figures for Great Britain for both the current 
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QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE METAL ENGINEERING DIVISION
In millions of euros BY

1st quarter 
2019/20

2nd quarter 
2019/20

3rd quarter 
2019/20

4th quarter 
2019/20

2019/20 2018/19 Change 
in %

Revenue 778.8 758.7 707.6 696.6 2,941.7 3,147.1 –6.5
EBITDA 90.0 82.3 56.5 72.3 301.1 369.0 –18.4
EBITDA margin 11.6% 10.8% 8.0% 10.4% 10.2% 11.7%
EBIT 44.9 31.4 –3.4 –40.0 32.9 202.0 –83.7
EBIT margin 5.8% 4.1% –0.5% –5.7% 1.1% 6.4%
Employees  
(full-time equivalent) 13,371 13,369 13,175 13,310 13,310 13,501 –1.4
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MARKET ENVIRONMENT  
AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Declining momentum in the market environment 
of the Metal Forming Division already began to 
make itself felt in the second half of the previous 
business year and continued in the first two quar-
ters of the business year 2019/20. Demand in the 
division’s two large business segments—Automo-
tive Components and Tubes & Sections—was 
greatly diminished particularly during the last two 
months of calendar year 2019. The sentiment did 
not improve until the business year’s fourth quar-
ter thanks to customers replenishing inventories. 
Toward the close of the business year ended, im-
portant customer segments saw curtailments on 
production, in some cases even complete albeit 
temporary shutdowns, to mitigate the spread of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. This led to a sudden 
interruption of the upward trend. In reaction to 
weak demand, many European companies reg-
istered their employees as being engaged in short 
time work and further intensified cost-cutting pro-
grams. But individual business segments did in 
fact display stark differences with respect to the 
reporting period’s volatile development.

The Automotive Components business segment 
was confronted with declining production output 
among its automotive customers in Europe. At 
about 15 million sold cars, the sales figures in  
the European Union for calendar year 2019 were 
stable at a good level. However, in recent years 
German automotive manufacturers have increas-
ingly moved production to countries outside of 

Europe. This shows that the business segment’s 
strategy of establishing production facilities  
in China, South Africa, the United States, and 
Mexico was purposeful in that it enabled the  
segment to supply customers locally with high- 
quality components (including components from 
voest alpine’s own facilities in Europe). One of  
these plants, however—specifically, the one in 
Cartersville, Georgia, USA—incurred sharply  
higher start-up costs with the associated adverse 
effects on earnings. Thanks to the measures  
taken, the company did succeed over the course 
of the reporting period to boost its efficiency.  
Toward the close of the business year 2019/20, 
automotive component production at the  
Cartersville plant was suspended for a few weeks 
because the original equipment manufacturers 
(OEMs) among its customers had shut down  
their plants owing to the COVID-19 pandemic. In 
Europe, too, manufacturers in the automotive  
industry shut down production at about the same 
time in the face of the pandemic, precisely at  
the time customers’ order call-ups had begun to 
recover after the X-Mas break. Automotive Com-
ponents reacted to the sharply lower utilization 
of capacity at its plants by adjusting capacities 
and registering employees for short time work. 
The first country to be affected by COVID-19 and 
thus also its local automotive industry was China. 
The country’s central government expanded plant 
closures, which traditionally start with the onset 
of Chinese New Year, to several weeks. Capacity 
at plants is being expanded incrementally as de-
mand for cars is recovering since the lockdown 
was lifted. 

METAL FORMING  
DIVISION
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The automotive industry is an important  customer 
segment of the Tubes & Sections business seg-
ment as well. Aside from sections for the commer-
cial vehicle industry, this segment also produces 
safety components for the global automotive 
supply industry. Orders from the commercial  
vehicle industry were weak throughout the busi-
ness year ended. Demand for safety components 
had already started to shrink back in the fall of 
2018 due to the significant decline in sales among 
volume manufacturers, especially of Chinese  
automotive brands, and remained at a low level 
throughout the business year 2019/20.
The late-cycle construction industry developed 
along a good trajectory in Europe, while orders 
from the construction machinery industry were 
already declining. In the United States, Tubes & 
Sections met with much better business sentiment 
thanks to highly satisfactory order levels from the 
storage technology, agricultural machinery, and 
aerospace industry. In Brazil, consistent market-
ing in an economically less than stable environ-
ment supported this business segment’s recovery 
in the business year ended. Similarly to Automo-
tive Components, the global spread of COVID-19 
interrupted this upward trend at the start of cal-
endar year 2020. So far, however, Tubes & Sec-
tions has not been affected as much as Automo-
tive Components by the meltdown in demand. 

Despite the decline in demand, the Precision Strip 
business segment developed along a largely sat-
isfactory trajectory in the business year 2019/20 
even though its margins and thus its profitability 
ended up being weaker than during the boom in 
recent years. Order levels in China leveled off at 
a slightly lower level during the business year end-
ed. In the U.S., the dampened business climate 
already affected the band saw steel segment. 
Compared with other regions, in Europe demand 
for strip steel products fell the most. Here, the 
segment’s products bimetallic strip, band saw 
steel, and razor blade steel were the ones that 
suffered the most.

Just as in previous years, in the business year end-
ed the Warehouse & Rack Solutions business seg-
ment benefited yet again from robust project  
activity that continues unabated with respect to 
high-bay warehouses and storage systems. The 
growing importance of e-commerce is driving  
the need for complex storage logistics. Hence  
this segment was able to implement numerous 

e-commerce projects in the business year 2019/20. 
Aside from the segment’s home markets in  Europe, 
North America also offers growing perspectives 
for automated storage technology. By contrast 
to the three other business segments of the  Metal 
Forming Division, Warehouse & Rack Solutions 
did not experience any reduction in capacity uti-
lization owing to COVID-19. On the contrary, the 
pandemic is expected to boost e-commerce—
and thus the need for efficient storage systems—
yet further. 

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

The revenue of the Metal Forming Division fell 
slightly by 3.4%, from EUR 2,937.4 million in the 
previous year to EUR 2,838.3 million in the busi-
ness year 2019/20. While the downward trend 
encompassed the division on the whole, a hetero-
geneous picture emerges when it is broken down 
by business segment: Warehouse & Rack Solutions 
saw an increase in revenue, the trend in Automo-
tive Components was stable, but Tubes & Sections 
and Precision Strip both posted declines. EBITDA 
fell year over year by 4.7%, from EUR 213.3 mil-
lion (margin of 7.3%) in the previous business  
year to EUR 203.3 million (margin of 7.2%) in the 
reporting period. With two exceptions, EBITDA at 
the level of the business segments was commen-
surate with revenue performance: Warehouse & 
Rack Solutions remained steady at the previous 
year’s level. The Automotive Components busi-
ness segment posted a slight increase in EBITDA 
over the previous year during which the site in 
Cartersville, Georgia, USA, incurred higher start-
up expenses as well as non-recurring effects from 
provisions set up on account of external shifts in 
order activity. The start-up costs were gradually 
lowered over the course of the business year end-
ed. Due to the distortions in the automotive sec-
tor and their impact on the supplier industry, how-
ever, a total of EUR 24 million in provisions as well 
as write-downs on inventories were recognized 
for the reporting period. Initial negative effects 
related to the COVID-19 pandemic were incurred 
in the fourth quarter of the business year 2019/20 
due to automakers’ temporary plant closures.
The Metal Forming Division was hit by impairment 
losses of EUR 52 million in the reporting period 
largely on account of Hot Forming including  
Cartersville (Automotive Components business 
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segment). Consequently, EBIT plunged by 90.6% 
year over year, from EUR 93.8 million (margin of 
3.2%) in the business year 2018/19 to EUR 8.8 
million (margin of 0.3%) in the business year 
2019/20.
The quarter-on-quarter comparison (QoQ) of  
the reporting period’s third and fourth quarters 
shows that the Metal Forming Division succeeded 
in boosting revenue by 7.7%, from EUR 666.7 
million to EUR 718.3 million. All business segments 
with the exception of Warehouse & Rack Solutions 
contributed to this increase. The recovery was 
particularly pronounced in both Automotive  
Components and Tubes & Sections due to the 
seasonally low level in the third quarter of the 
business year 2019/20. These two important busi-
ness segments largely created the conditions  
for the division’s success in more than doubling 
EBITDA, from EUR 31.8 million in the third quarter 
to EUR 64.4 million in the fourth, thus also raising 
the EBITDA margin from 4.8% to 9.0%. Note in 
this connection that the aforementioned non- 
recurring effects impacting EBITDA were largely 
incurred in the third business quarter. Only minor 
non-recurring effects based on EBITDA were in-
curred in the fourth quarter.

At EUR 14.6 million, the Metal Forming Division 
managed to bring EBIT back into positive terri-
tory in the fourth quarter of the business year 
2019/20, after posting EBIT of EUR –43.9 million 
in the preceding quarter. This significant increase 
is due only in part to an improvement at the op-
erating level. In a manner comparable to the 
non-recurring effects related to the development 
of EBITDA over the business year, the aforemen-
tioned year-over-year impairment losses at Hot 
Forming including Cartersville largely affect 
third-quarter EBIT. In the fourth quarter, impair-
ment losses were much lower. As a result, the  
EBIT margin rose QoQ from –6.6% to 2.0%.

At 11,633, the number of employees (FTE) in the 
Metal Forming Division as of March 31, 2020, was 
5.0% less than the previous year’s figure (12,240). 
This reduction in personnel is due primarily to low 
capacity utilization in the automotive industry’s 
component plants toward the close of the busi-
ness year 2019/20 because a growing number 
of original equipment manufacturers (OEMs)  
temporarily shut down their plants owing to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 
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CUSTOMERS OF THE METAL FORMING DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20

57%
Automotive

2%
Energy

8%
Mechanical engineering

4%
White goods/Consumer goods

23%
Building/Construction

6%
Other

MARKETS OF THE METAL FORMING DIVISION
As percentage of divisional revenue, business year 2019/20 The revenue figures for Great Britain for both the current 

and the comparative period were reclassified 
from “European Union” to “Rest of world.”

21%
USMCA

5%
Asia

3%
South America

8%
Rest of world

63%
European Union  

(of which Austria: 4%)

QUARTERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE METAL FORMING DIVISION
In millions of euros BY

1st quarter 
2019/20

2nd quarter 
2019/20

3rd quarter 
2019/20

4th quarter 
2019/20

2019/20 2018/19 Change 
in %

Revenue 737.6 715.7 666.7 718.3 2,838.3 2,937.4 –3.4
EBITDA 58.4 48.7 31.8 64.4 203.3 213.3 –4.7
EBITDA margin 7.9% 6.8% 4.8% 9.0% 7.2% 7.3%
EBIT 24.3 13.8 –43.9 14.6 8.8 93.8 –90.6
EBIT margin 3.3% 1.9% –6.6% 2.0% 0.3% 3.2%
Employees  
(full-time equivalent) 12,374 12,486 11,748 11,633 11,633 12,240 –5.0
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INVESTMENTS

At EUR 776.7 million, the voestalpine Group’s in-
vestment volume in the business year 2019/20 
was lower than in previous years. This was the first 
time since the business year 2011/12 that its in-
vestments were less than depreciation. Numerous 
cutting-edge projects were successfully imple-
mented in recent years. As the consolidation phase 
has already started, the task at hand now is to 
optimize these state-of-the-art facilities in daily 
operations, taking technical and economic per-
spectives into account. The Group’s investment 
activities will be scaled back yet further in the  
current business year 2020/21 against the back-
drop of the tight financial situation related to 
COVID-19. 

The decline in the Steel Division’s project activity 
is particularly pronounced. The comprehensive 
overhaul of Blast Furnace A at the division’s facil-
ities in Linz, Austria, over the summer of 2018 
marked the successful completion for the time 
being of its larger projects. As a result, the divi-
sion’s investment volume dropped by 53.0%,  
from EUR 322.7 million in the previous year to EUR 
151.6 million in the reporting period. November 
2019 saw the successful start-up of the Linz elec-
trolyzer plant, which serves to explore CO2-free 
production of hydrogen. This pilot plant, which 
was built with partners such as Verbund AG 
(Austria’s leading utility) and Siemens, conducts 
research on the production of “green” hydrogen, 
an input material expected to replace fossil fuels 
in steelmaking. In the business year 2019/20, the 
Steel Division invested in a new cold-rolled strip 
testing center among other things. Developments 
in innovative, ultra-high strength steel grades give 
rise to new requirements regarding analyses of 
mechanical product properties. The construction 
of a new straightening machine was the most im-
portant project in the division’s heavy plate prod-
uct segment. The new facility, which was brought 
online at the start of the business year 2020/21, 
will improve the product quality of clad plates for 
highest requirements.

At EUR 259.1 million, the investment volume of 
the High Performance Metals Division in the busi-
ness year 2019/20 was 7.4% higher than the vol-
ume (EUR 241.2 million) in the previous business 
year. Construction of the fully digitalized special 
steel plant, which has a capital spending budget 
of EUR 350 million, was launched at the start of 
the reporting period. Preparations at the con-
struction site, including the work on the infrastruc-
ture for subcontractors, had already taken place 
a year earlier. The foundations as well as the steel 
mill production floor were built in the business 
year ended, and specialized companies were 
busy installing the energy delivery system as well 
as the piping systems. While the construction con-
tinued in the fourth quarter of the business year 
2019/20 despite the spread of the COVID-19 
pandemic, albeit subject to restrictions, delivery 
bottlenecks delayed the progress of the work by 
a few weeks. Both the completion of the facility 
and the initial phase of the start-up are slated for 
the second half of calendar year 2021. Once the 
certification processes have been completed, the 
division will be able to supply high-performance 
steels to international customers in the aerospace 
and automotive industries as well as in the oil and 
natural gas sector. 
voestalpine BÖHLER Aerospace GmbH & Co KG 
invested in a state-of-the-art forging press for the 
production of structural aircraft components and 
launched the start-up activities for it at the close 
of the reporting period. A year earlier, the com-
pany had already invested in a high-tech fast 
forge press for highly stress resistant, rotating air-
craft turbine components. These trailblazing pro-
jects will enable BÖHLER Aerospace to continue 
satisfying the high quality standards of aerospace 
industry customers in the future, too.

At EUR 181.0 million, the investment expenditure 
of the Metal Engineering Division in the business 
year 2019/20 was 14.1% lower than the amount 
(EUR 210.8 million) invested in the previous year. 
The division inaugurated its Metallurgy Center 
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research facility in Donawitz, Austria, in mid-May 
2019. This center is a miniature version of a com-
plete steel plant that supports innovations in the 
field of high-performance steels. The division’s 
roughly EUR 100 million investment in a new con-
tinuous casting plant (“CC4”) that has an annual 
capacity of 950,000 t was largely completed in 
the business year ended. The highly digital facil-
ity will replace the CC2 unit, which has become 
obsolete. The work to assemble the plant had 
started at the beginning of the reporting period. 
Both the construction cranes and the infrastruc-
ture—mainly media and power supplies—were 
put in place at the same time. The launch of this 
highly automated plant will likely be kicked off in 
the first quarter of the business year 2020/21. 

At EUR 170.0 million, the investment volume of 
the Metal Forming Division in the business year 
2019/20 also was substantially lower than the 
amount (EUR 223.2 million) expended in the busi-
ness year 2018/19. Much was done in recent years 
to push the division’s internationalization in the 
Automotive Components business segment. Nu-
merous plants were built in the United States, 
Mexico, South Africa, and China among other 

places using innovative product and process 
technologies. While the division focused chiefly 
on optimizing its existing facilities in the reporting 
period, it also implemented a larger project in 
Shenyang, Northeast China. The new, third phs- 
ultraform® line was developed in China in its en-
tirety and implemented using national suppliers. 
The plant was started up in the fall of 2019. The 
site, which was inaugurated in 2015, has been 
producing security-related structural parts for  
international automotive manufacturers since 
then. 
New process technologies were the focal point of 
the investments of the Tubes & Sections business 
segment in the business year 2019/20. For ex-
ample, a high-performance processing center 
serving particularly the aerospace industry was 
inaugurated at the segment’s facility in Shelbyville, 
Kentucky, USA. Further underscoring the empha-
sis on production technology, a French entity, 
voestalpine Profilafroid, installed a customized 
sectioning line during the reporting period’s first 
half. voestalpine Rotec Coating SRL brought a 
new high-quality coating facility for safety belt 
tensioner parts online at the start of calendar year 
2020. 
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In the business year 2019/20, the Metal Engineer-
ing Division completed a strategically significant 
acquisition for its welding consumables product 
segment. Specifically, voestalpine Böhler Welding 
Group GmbH acquired Selco S.r.l., a welding ma-
chinery manufacturer in Italy. Selco, which was 
founded in 1979, possesses 40 years of know-how 
in the production of equipment and accessories 
for arc and plasma welding. The company has 
plants in Onara and Cittadella, both Italy. 

This acquisition represents the next step in the 
development of the Welding business segment 
into a full-service provider in the welding industry. 
The addition of welding machinery to the seg-
ment’s portfolio now enables voestalpine Böhler 
Welding to offer a fully coordinated combination 
of welding consumables and welding equipment.

ACQUISITIONS
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As of March 31, 2020 (the close of the business 
year 2019/20), the voestalpine Group had 47,668 
employees excluding apprentices and leased 
personnel, i.e., 1,124 fewer employees or 2.3% 
less than as of March 31, 2019. When 1,337 ap-
prentices and 2,679 leased employees are in-
cluded, the total rises to full-time equivalents  
(FTEs) of 49,682 person years, a year-over-year 
reduction by 4.3% (2,225 FTE). 
Compared with the previous business year, the 
number of leased personnel (2,679) represents a 
decrease of 18.8%.
A total of 55.2% of the employees (27,442 FTE) 
work at Group locations outside of Austria, and 
22,241 employees work in Austrian voestalpine 
companies.
Of the total of 1,337 apprentices, as of the  
March 31, 2020, reporting date, 62.8% were  
being trained in Austrian companies and 37.2% 
at the company’s locations abroad. On the whole, 
the number of apprentices rose year over year  
by 27 or 2.0%.

EMPLOYEE  
SHAREHOLDING SCHEME

voestalpine has had an employee shareholding 
scheme since 2001, which has been continually 
expanded since then. Besides all of the  company’s 
employees in Austria, its employees in Great  Britain, 
Germany, the Netherlands, Poland, Belgium, the 
Czech Republic, Italy, Switzerland, Romania, Spain, 
and Sweden also have a share in “their” com pany. 
The voestalpine Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privat-
stiftung (employee foundation for the Group’s 
employee shareholding scheme) is a stable, key 
shareholder of voestalpine AG. As of March 31, 
2020, a total of 25,300 employees have a stake 
in voestalpine AG through this foundation. They 
hold about 23.1 million shares which, due to the 
general bundling of voting rights, represent 12.9% 
of the company’s share capital (previous year: 
13.4%). In addition, former and active em ployees 
of voestalpine hold approx. 3.3 million “private 
shares” of voestalpine AG, which equates to 1.9% 

of the voting shares. The foundation exercises the 
voting rights of these shares, too, as long as the 
given employees do not exercise their right to dis-
pose of the shares. On the whole, therefore, as of 
March 31, 2020, the voting rights of 14.8% of the 
share capital of voestalpine AG are bundled in 
the foundation.

STAHLSTIFTUNG  
(STEEL FOUNDATION)

The Stahlstiftung (Steel Foundation) was founded 
in Linz, Austria, in 1987. Its aim was to provide 
employees of the VOEST-ALPINE Group (as it was 
called at the time), who had to leave the compa-
ny due to a crisis, as well as employees of com-
panies outside of the Group with opportunities 
for reorienting themselves professionally. Up to 
four years of training and continuing education 
were funded for this purpose. 
In the business year 2019/20, about 87% of the 
participants looking for work were able to devel-
op a new professional perspective with the help 
of the Stahlstiftung. As of the March 31, 2020, re-
porting date, a total of 334 individuals were re-
ceiving assistance from the Stahlstiftung, 69.2% 
of whom were former employees of the voest-
alpine Group. The total number of active Stahl-
stiftung participants in the business year 2019/20 
was 546, i.e., 2.5% less than in the previous year 
(560 individuals). In addition to the participants 
covered by the Stahlstiftung in its capacity as a 
classic employee fund, the activities of 62 indi-
viduals related to educational leave were also 
supported during the reporting period.

APPRENTICES AND  
YOUNG SKILLED WORKERS

The Seventh voestalpine Group Apprentice Day 
was held at the Linz headquarters of voestalpine 
AG in November 2019. About 350 apprentices 
from Austria, Germany, and Switzerland attended 
the event together with their trainers. The event 
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serves to introduce the Group’s apprentice em-
ployees to as many of their young colleagues from 
other Group sites as possible and, at the same 
time, to give them something of a first-hand over-
view of “their” Group. The Management Board 
picked the winners of the “Vehicle of the Future” 
apprentice competition. Two apprentices from 
the Group’s Mechatronics unit in Germany won 
first prize for their “Future Wheels.” Numerous  
apprentices had submitted their vision of the  
“vehicle of the future,” thus shining a light on the 
innovative potential of voestalpine’s next gener-
ation of skilled workers. 
Per apprentice, the company invests about EUR 
70,000 in the comprehensive three or four-year 
training program. In order to efficiently approach 
potential apprentices, in recent years the com-
pany has continually expanded its social media 
activities on Facebook, Instagram, and YouTube. 
The Group’s excellent numbers in terms of com-
pleted apprenticeships create a solid base of 
skilled workers for the future: 96.5% of the ap-
prentices in Austria, Germany, and Switzerland 
passed their final apprenticeship exam in the 
business year 2019/20; of the Austrian graduates, 
68.1% even did so with good or excellent grades. 
voestalpine’s skilled workers in training won nu-
merous medals yet again at professional cham-
pionships, most of which were international or 
drew international participants. This included  
the British industry award, “The Metals Industry 
Apprentice of the Year 2019”; and the Upper 
 Austrian Apprentice Award, “Best Apprentice,” 
which was conferred upon one apprentice from 
among a total of 777. 

As a company focused on innovation, it is of  
great importance to voestalpine to ensure that 
its apprentices learn about topics such as digita-
lization and Industry 4.0 from day one of their 
training. A variety of digitalization projects as well 
as a new electrical technology lab at the Group’s 
site in Kapfenberg, Austria, help to boost appren-
tices’ digital skills as part of their training and thus 
ensure the availability of skilled workers in the  
future. 

For the apprenticeship year that begins in the  
fall of 2020, voestalpine is offering about 450 
new apprenticeship slots at 42 companies in 
Austria and Germany alone. Trade shows or “open 
 houses,” where students and their parents can  
get information in person on the wide range of 
vocational training and education (VET) options, 
serve to introduce future apprentices to the field.

DEVELOPMENT OF EXECUTIVES

In the business year 2019/20, voestalpine con-
tinued to rely on a Group-wide executive devel-
opment program based on its tried and tested 
“value:program.” A total of 198 employees from 
26 countries participated in this multi-level lead-
ership curriculum. It provides training and ad-
vancement options tailored to target groups for 
all executive levels based on a combination of 
in-person and online courses, including external 
postgraduates and business school students. 
What makes this program so valuable aside from 
the comprehensive skills training imparted by  
international top experts is the intensive col-
laboration on the part of individual members of 
voest alpine’s leadership. They engage in their ca-
pacity as speakers, project managers, or even 
sparring partners, so to speak, in wide-ranging 
exchanges of ex perience. This mixture of external 
and internal know-how along with the Group’s 
commitment to ensuring that employees possess 
advanced qualifications make the voestalpine 
leadership program a central component of the 
Group’s claim to being “one step ahead.”

OTHER EMPLOYEE  
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

In order to foster and boost relevant employee 
capabilities and skills in a manner both func tional 
and regional, the voestalpine Group offers a num-
ber of additional programs such as the “Purchas-
ing Power Academy”; the “HR Academy”; the 
“Early Career Program” in North America; and the 
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“Young Professional Training Program” (YPTP) in 
China. The High Mobility Pool (HMP) executive 
development program was repeated in the busi-
ness year 2019/20 to foster international talent. 
This program is aimed at young, international 
college graduates with a few years of profession-
al experience, who carry out project work world-
wide at a high level within a predefined period.  
It gives young, talented individuals the opportu-
nity to rapidly absorb corporate practice and to 
promote international networks within the Group 
pursuant to their professional specialization.  
Following two years of successful international 
project activity, at the close of the business year 
ended participants of the HMP program were 
given the opportunity to continue developing 
their careers based on long-term employment 
with the company.
Numerous other customized programs and train-
ing options in individual divisions and business 
units complement and expand the Group-wide 
training and advancement portfolio available to 
voestalpine’s employees.

EMPLOYEE SURVEY

In the fall of 2019, the most recent global survey 
of voestalpine employees was carried out in 229 
companies in 50 countries. Of the total of just  
under 50,500 employees invited to participate, 
just under 47,000 agreed to do so (a response 
rate of 77%). The level of commitment as a cru-
cial key indicator rose from 53% in 2016 to 56% 
in 2019. It describes the emotional and intellec-
tual degree of loyalty to a group or organization 
and is compiled from several questions. There 
also were increases in the numbers related to the 
rate of agreement regarding the strategic fields 
of action, “Professional Development Options” 
and “Direct Executive,” which had been defined 
for the Group as part of the review, aggregation, 
and analysis of the 2016 survey. To collect addi-
tional information, Group companies will be able 
to conduct interim surveys between now and the 
next employee survey in 2021. Besides analyzing 

the results of the survey, the review and aggrega-
tion process also involves developing action steps 
based on the findings. Every company is expect-
ed to report its two most important action steps 
to the Group. The Management Board of voest-
alpine AG also resolved to institutionalize the pro-
cess of reporting survey findings and resulting 
actions to the participating companies’ supervi-
sory bodies. 

COOPERATION WITH  
EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS

Many voestalpine companies offer students the 
option of enrolling in internships. Among other 
things, this is focused on scientific work in coop-
eration with the companies. Currently, numerous 
diploma and masters theses as well as disserta-
tions are being written in cooperation with the 
Group.
voestalpine uses innovative formats tailored to 
different target groups to introduce itself to future 
employees. For example, a “sales challenge” was 
organized in Linz for future sales personnel from 
14 commercial academies; another example is 
the hackathon that was sponsored for young  
di gi talization experts in Vienna, Austria. At the  
“Freetopia” event organized as part of the  
“Children’s City” (Kinderstadt) project at the Group’s 
Kapfenberg site, children between the ages of  
6 and 12 were given the opportunity to try out 
different jobs through play. 
The University of Mining and Metallurgy in  Leoben, 
Austria, also participates in numerous collabora-
tive training programs. These range from spon-
soring commitments aimed at kindling young 
people’s interest in technical degrees, to the so-
called “voestalpine talks” (a collaborative event 
with all student representatives), all the way to 
support for the annual “teconomy” student trade 
show. 
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MEASURES RELATED  
TO THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The final weeks of the business year ended were 
dominated by the impact of the COVID-19 pan-
demic on the Group’s employees. Starting in  
China and then spreading globally in most of  
the Group’s companies, the pandemic evolved 
into one of the biggest economic challenges in 
recent decades. A Coronavirus Task Force that 
was es tablished at Group headquarters coordi-
nated all responses with the aim of not only pro-
tecting employees’ health but also reacting flex-
ibly to the fluctuations in companies’ capacities. 
In addition, the evolving measures taken by the 

governments of different countries had to be ad-
equately implemented. The Coronavirus Task Force 
prepared hand hygiene guidance and rules of 
conduct to be followed at the workplace. At the 
start of the crisis, Group-wide guidelines were is-
sued for handling business trips. Subsequently, 
teleworking recommendations were developed 
and short time work was coordinated in those 
countries where related state-sponsored meas-
ures were put in place. 
In all of this, a great deal of attention was paid to 
keeping voestalpine’s employees informed at all 
times and as best as possible about all actions 
being taken. 
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RAW MATERIALS

According to the official statistics of the World 
Steel Association, in calendar year 2019 a total 
of 1,848.5 million tons of steel were produced 
worldwide. Of this amount, only a small portion 
was generated by recycling steel scrap using elec-
tric arc furnaces. Most was manufactured based 
on furnace technology, which requires two key 
raw materials: iron ore and coke. These two com-
modities thus also are the key input materials for 
both the Steel Division and the Metal Engineering 
Division. 

IRON ORE

In 2019, iron ore prices were very volatile at a  
high level compared with the previous year. In 
2018, the spot market price (cost and freight  
(CFR)  China) had still largely fluctuated between 
USD 65 and USD 75 per ton. The sharp increase 
in prices at the start of 2019 to about USD 90 per 
ton resulted mainly from a dam break in an iron 
ore mine in the Brazilian state of Minas Gerais. 
For safety reasons, production in the company’s 
other mines had to be suspended until further 
notice as well. Highly inclement weather in Aus-
tralia further reduced global iron ore supplies.  
But the fact that iron ore prices continued to climb 
at the start of voestalpine’s business year 2019/20 
was also due to unexpectedly high demand from 
China. 
At the global level, by contrast, in 2019 steel pro-
ducers in many countries were confronted with 
declining demand due to growing protectionism. 
In China—the most important supplier by far,  
given the country’s market share of more than 
50%—steel producers benefited from the tail-
winds of the government’s economic stimulus 
programs. At about USD 120 per ton, the spot 
market price reached a level in July 2019 that 
had last been seen in 2014. In early August,  prices 
abruptly dropped back down to below USD 100 
thanks to mine capacity recoveries as well as the 
slight slowdown in expectations regarding future 
demand from China. Australia and Brazil supply 
most of the world’s iron ore. This means that two 

countries largely control the world’s second- largest 
commodity market after crude oil and the most 
important raw material for steelmaking. 
For the remainder of the business year 2019/20, 
iron ore prices were less volatile, roughly fluctu-
ating between USD 80 and USD 95 per ton. Even 
the spread of COVID-19 in China caused only a 
temporary drop in iron ore prices at the end of 
January 2020.
The surcharges that were slapped not only on fine 
ores (a base product), but also on higher-rated 
iron ore pellets rose dramatically in the wake of 
the Brazilian dam break at the start of 2019. As 
the business year 2019/20 wore on, however, the 
supply shortages slowly dissolved, in turn pushing 
down spot market prices. 

COKE

Coke, which is produced from metallurgical cok-
ing coal, serves as both a source of energy and 
a reducing agent by removing oxygen from the 
iron ore. At just over USD 200 per ton (free on 
board (FOB) Australia), the price for coking coal 
at the start of the business year 2019/20 corre-
sponded more or less to the average price in the 
previous business year. When the price of iron ore 
peaked in July 2019, the price of coking coal was 
already trending downward. It gradually declined 
to USD 135 toward the end of the calendar year. 
There are several reasons why the price trend for 
coking coal was in part opposed to that for iron 
ore. China’s position in the international coking 
coal markets is not as dominant as in the iron ore 
market. In addition, there were no weather- related 
losses on the supply side during the business year 
2019/20. And, finally, Chinese steel plants were 
supplied by rising Mongolian exports. It wasn’t 
until the fourth quarter of the business year 
2019/20 that the price of coking coal gradually 
recovered, closing at just over USD 160 per ton 
as of the end of March 2020.
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STEEL SCRAP

Both the Steel Division and the Metal Engineering 
Division use high-quality scrap in addition to pig 
iron. Steel scrap also is the main base material 
for the production of special steel using electric 
arc furnaces in the High Performance Metals Divi-
sion. Prices for steel scrap trended downward 
during the first half of the business year 2019/20 
as well, in part offering a contrast to those for iron 
ore. While high-quality scrap (type E3, Germany) 
still cost EUR 285 per ton at the start of the busi-
ness year, its price fell to less than EUR 210 in  
October 2019. This was followed by a gradual re-
covery. Toward the end of the business year,  
the price for high-value steel scrap was about 
EUR 235 per ton.

ALLOYS

Alloys are a key cost factor in the High Perfor-
mance Metals Division. Moreover, they are used 

in steel production alongside pig iron and scrap 
to manufacture highest-quality steel grades.  
The price of nickel, the most important alloy for 
the High Performance Metals Division in cost 
terms, was highly volatile throughout the business 
year 2019/20. At its start, nickel still cost about 
USD 13,000 per ton. The announcement by the 
government of Indonesia, the world’s largest  nickel 
producer, that it would impose an embargo on 
nickel exports come January 2020 drove the  
price to about USD 18,300 per ton in September 
2019. However, declining demand for stainless 
steel as well as the expectation that production 
rates in other countries would grow caused the 
nickel price to drop over time. At about USD 11,200 
per ton, the nickel price as of the end of March 
2020 had fallen substantially below its level at 
the start of the business year. 
Prices for zinc dropped by roughly 40% during 
the reporting period, from about USD 3,000 per 
ton to about USD 1,850. Prices for molybdenum, 
chromium, and vanadium also saw significant 
declines throughout the business year 2019/20. 
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RESEARCH 
AND DEVELOPMENT
Leadership in innovation, technology, and qual-
ity are core elements of any sustainable corpo-
rate strategy. This explains the importance given 
to research and development (R&D) as an inte-
gral part of voestalpine Group’s business model. 
The ongoing development of new products and 
production processes is vital for a technology- 
driven company such as voestalpine so that it 
can differentiate itself from the competition and 
continue to succeed in the market. Innovations 
thus are the key to the company’s viability in the 
future.

EXPENDITURES 

The voestalpine Group’s research expenditures 
have climbed continually in recent years. Both 
the actual expenses of EUR 174.4 million in the 
business year 2019/20 as well as the budget of 
EUR 186.9 million for the business year 2020/21 
reflect the importance of R&D within the Group. 

ORGANIZATION AND FOCUS

Research and development in the voestalpine 
Group are decentralized. This facilitates proxim-
ity to the respective production facilities and ex-
perts as well as to the respective customers and 
markets. Centralized management, in turn, serves 
to ensure the efficiency of this global network of 
more than 70 research and development sites.  
A variety of formats are used to exchange knowl-
edge and exploit synergistic potential. The Re-
search Committee is responsible for comparative 
work and for facilitating exchanges of informa-
tion among R&D managers. Group projects link 
existing expertise across all divisions. R&D expert 
clusters offer platforms for researchers to discuss 
particular topics. The “Synergy Platform” in its ca-
pacity as an intra-Group annual conference has 
proved its utility in this respect. It is attended by 
renowned international experts and offers op-
portunities for meeting in person and networking 
above and beyond the sharing of know-how.

The company’s R&D activities focus on mobility 
and energy—two technology-intensive sectors. 
These are not only voestalpine’s biggest earners, 
they also are the two areas most affected by the 
Group’s evolution toward resource-efficient, sus-
tainable approaches. 
It is precisely this change that was at the heart of 
this year’s voestalpine Synergy Platform. Presen-
tations by experts on climate change, sustain-
ability, the transformation of the energy system, 
and electric mobility offered divergent ideas,  
food for thought, and room for debate. The multi- 
faceted field of mobility, in particular—which  
ranges from automotive technology, to railways, 
all the way to aerospace—is shaping up to be a 
driver of innovation for the Group on the whole.

AUTOMOTIVE

High and highest tensile steels, press-hardened 
steel as well as ultra-high strength high-ductility 
steel: Developments such as these open up new 
dimensions for lightweight construction in both 
the automotive and the commercial vehicle in-
dustry. Perspectives and objectives alike are wide 
in scope: lower fuel consumption and thus a re-
duction in the emissions of vehicles powered by 
combustion engines, fewer trips by commercial 
vehicles thanks to potentially greater loads as 
well as the greater reach of vehicles powered by 
batteries. The development and market launch 
of innovative products has already made con-
siderable progress in this direction. For example, 
this includes the special CP1400HD steel for cold 
forming in automotive engineering that requires 
ultra-high strengths as well as alform1300x-treme® 
for the most demanding requirements in the con-
struction of mobile cranes.

RAILWAY SYSTEMS

In the Railway Systems segment, R&D focuses on 
the optimal availability of the track route, on in-
creasing security yet further, and on simultaneous 



C O N S O L I D A T E D  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

reductions in the resources and energy used. A 
core objective in this regard involves the ongoing 
development of materials used for tracks into 
steel grades resistant to wear and tear. The 340 
Dobain® HSH® track reduces deformation result-
ing from surface wear and tear to a minimum. This 
track grade is already being used to great suc-
cess in the Eurotunnel. 

Besides developing track grades, voestalpine’s 
work in railway technology also focuses on con-
tinually refining turnout systems, specifically,  
systems capable of monitoring and diagnosing 
rolling stock, fixed infrastructure assets, and en-
vironmental conditions. They make it possible to 
identify changed statuses early on and to boost 
both security and availability in rail transporta-

voestalpine AG
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Research Committee

High Performance Metals 
Division

Metal Engineering 
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Research BoardMetal Forming 
Division

Research Coordination

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE – RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

RESEARCH EXPENDITURE FOR THE voestalpine GROUP
In millions of euros, R&D gross expenditure (without R&D facility investments)

2013/14 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

128 132
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2018/19
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2019/20

174

2014/15
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tion by means of prospective maintenance. The 
increased use of digitalization is of great impor-
tance to the ongoing development of these sys-
tems. voestalpine’s participation in the “Virtual 
Vehicle” Competence Center is part and parcel 
of these approaches. Here, state-of-the-art mod-
eling and simulation methods are used to accel-
erate the time required for developing vehicles 
and to make the work even more economical. The 
aim is to technologically translate research  findings 
into marketable products rapidly and efficiently. 

INDUSTRIAL SYSTEMS

The Industrial Systems business segment also 
boasts successful new product launches, among 
them VAtitan-TC®, a threaded pipe connection 
for extremely high torque capabilities that is used 
in deflected shale gas drilling. A newly developed, 
cored wire electrode guarantees non-porous po-
sition weldability of nickel plate for use in liquid 
gas applications. Using the new research infra-
structure at the Group’s Donawitz facility in Austria 
made it possible to bring a new wire alloy for set 
nail applications to market very efficiently and in 
a way directly tailored to customer needs. 

SPECIAL MATERIALS AND  
TOOLMAKING

The special materials segment succeeded in de-
veloping a new steel alloy for the production of 
premium watches that are particularly skin friend-
ly and wear resistant. 
The still young field of metal additive manufac-
turing enables the production of tools that are 
sustainable in several respects. The construction 
process, which is optimally adapted to the res-
pective application, substantially increases the 
tools’ useful life and decreases the reject rate. 
voest alpine develops and carries out all process 
steps—from the production of the metal powder, 
to design and construction, all the way to actual 
additive manufacturing and finishing.

E-MOBILITY AND  
DECARBONIZATION 

As regards parts for electric vehicles (EVs), using 
a battery case cover the company succeeded in 
bringing a complex component to mass produc-
tion. This was preceded by a years-long develop-
ment alliance with the customer and the voest-
alpine Group’s ability to link existing materials  
and processing competence. 
voestalpine offers a solution for the so-called 
“second life” of vehicle accumulators, i.e., follow- 
on uses in energy storage farms, that takes the 
form of high-quality warehouse structures. They 
comprehensively fulfil stringent requirements as 
to connectivity, stable ambient temperature, and 
fire protection.
voestalpine leads the way in the incremental de-
carbonization of steel production. In the long 
term, hydrogen is to be used as a reducing agent 
using the direct reduction bridge technology 
based on natural gas. The hydrogen must be sus-
tainably generated, i.e., using water and renew-
able energies. A hydrogen electrolyzer facility was 
built and successfully started up at the Group’s 
Linz facility in Austria in order to conduct research 
on this technological potential in the steel indus-
try. The groundbreaking, so-called “SuSteel” pro-
ject in Donawitz serves to conduct research on 
alternative, direct steelmaking technology based 
on hydrogen plasma.
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ENVIRONMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL EXPENDITURES 

Following the completion in the business year 
2018/19 of two major projects in the Steel Divi-
sion and the High Performance Metals Division, 
environmental investments fell from EUR 66.2 mil-
lion back to EUR 35.0 million and thus to the  level 
in years past. By contrast, current environmental 
expenditures rose from EUR 299.1 million to EUR 
314.5 million. 

CO2 ALLOWANCES

This is chiefly due to the expense of EU emissions 
trading, which grew in the business year ended 
from EUR 69.1 million to EUR 90.0 million owing 
to the increase in allowance prices. The Steel Divi-
sion alone accounted for fully EUR 62.2 million 
(previous year: EUR 44.0 million) of this amount.
The shortfall (overall need for allowances less  
allocation of free allowances) in the business year 
ended was about one third of CO2 emissions, just 
as in previous years on average. It is expected 

from today’s vantage point that the need to pur-
chase additional allowances during the coming 
emissions trading period that runs from 2021 to 
2030 will reach a similar scale.
The market remained very volatile following the 
exorbitant price increases in the past two busi-
ness years. The general economic downturn—
which intensified toward the close of the business 
year 2019/20 due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the resulting, widespread production shut-
downs that led not just to a decline in industrial 
emissions but also to lower energy generation 
and consumption—was the main reason for the 
most recent temporary drop in prices. 

CORPORATE ENVIRONMENTAL 
FOCUS AND MEASURES

Despite shrinking investments in a difficult eco-
nomic environment overall, the voestalpine Group 
brought important environmental and climate 
protection projects to fruition at its sites around 
the world. 

ENVIRONMENTAL EXPENDITURES
In millions of euros   Environmental investments       Environmental operating expenses

* In the business year 2015/16, in addition to the emission-intensive Austrian Group sites,  
 a number of other, primarily international, production companies were included. 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16* 2016/17 2017/18

23

218

43

222

55 46 41

237 231
258

2019/20

35

315

2018/19

66

299
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The environmental program for the business year 
2019/20 at the companies of the Steel Division 
in Linz, Austria, which engage in the production 
and processing of steel, foregrounded measures 
aimed at further reducing the use of fossil fuels 
such as coke and natural gas, process energy 
such as blast furnace gas (BFG), electricity, and 
the use of water for cooling the facilities. Steps 
were also taken to lower dust accumulations.
The work being undertaken at Austria’s largest 
legacy pollution clean-up project on the areal of 
the former coking plant continued apace. Hot 
spots (i.e., highly contaminated soil) located in 
the area of the former tank warehouses were re-
moved. The funnel & gate system has made it 
possible for the past five years already to suc-
cessfully counteract any removal of pollutants via 
the groundwater.

As before, the investment activities of the High 
Performance Metals Division are focused primar-
ily on its new special steel plant in Kapfenberg, 
Austria. It is slated to start up in 2021 and will set 
highest ecological standards in terms of energy 
efficiency, heat recovery, and wastewater recy-
cling.
The “environmentally optimized pickling” project 
with a volume of about EUR 16 million was com-
pleted at the same site in the business year end-
ed. The newly built, fully automated salt bath and 
tunneled pickling system is equipped with a next- 
generation exhaust air and wastewater treatment 
unit for chemically treating wire rod and drawn 
special steel wire. This enables significant improve-
ments in air, wastewater, and waste emissions; in 
resource efficiency; and, finally, in further reduc-
tions of employees’ health risks. The pickling shop 
was redesigned as a tunneled facility. Acid vapor 
is treated via exhaust air scrubbers, and a regen-
eration unit lowers the consumption of acid. The 
cascading structure involving rinse water and acid 
regeneration reduces the amount of waste classi-
fied as hazardous that takes the form of slurry 
from the wastewater cleaning facility. The new 
wastewater treatment unit also significantly low-

ers emissions concentrations as well as the vol-
ume of wastewater. Finally and not least, the re-
designed facility will allow employees in the future 
to carry out their activities without having to be 
in the immediate vicinity of the acid baths. 

The Metal Engineering Division focused on  further 
improvements in resource efficiency and on sus-
tainably effective energy-related measures. 
At the Group’s largest site (Donawitz, Austria), a 
comprehensive program aimed at boosting effi-
ciency makes it possible to increase the efficien-
cy of the plant’s own generation of energy from 
by-product gases in the company’s own power 
plant by up to 20 GWh/year. In addition, techni-
cal measures help to reduce the amount of en-
ergy required to operate the power generation 
unit by some 6,000 MWh per year. A new waste 
gas blower at the sintering plant that also con-
sumes a lot less electricity thanks to its greater 
efficiency was started up in March 2020. More-
over, the division’s production companies made 
comprehensive investments in the optimization 
of cooling and wastewater systems and, in part, 
in the modernization of the buildings’ heating and 
cooling systems also.
When it comes to voestalpine’s high environmen-
tal standards, the company’s Zeltweg site in Austria, 
which is specialized in turnout technology, is a 
shining example: Its environmental footprint has 
been CO2-neutral for ten years already, thanks to 
extensive energy saving and efficiency measures, 
the use of district heating from biomass and waste 
heat as well as the facility’s own hydroelectric 
power plant. The Zeltweg factory is planning ad-
ditional projects focused primarily on lowering its 
consumption of energy. This includes the com-
plete conversion of the factory floor heating sys-
tems to CO2-neutral district heating and replac-
ing the fork-lifts that are operated using natural 
gas with electric vehicles. Some 40% of the still 
remaining direct CO2 emissions, which so far were 
more than offset by excess electricity from the 
facility’s own hydroelectric power plant, can be 
cut via this approach.
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The Metal Forming Division also took steps at a 
number of its sites in Austria and internationally 
aimed at boosting energy efficiency yet further 
and thus further lowering CO2 emissions. This in-
cludes the widespread conversion to LED in fac-
tory floor lighting, improvements in the heat re-
covery process, and reductions in the consumption 
of water.
An emblematic project aimed at generating re-
newable energy in house, which uses innovative 
voestalpine products for photovoltaics, was im-
plemented in the Netherlands, specifically, the 
company’s Bunschoten plant for automotive com-
ponents. There, 35,000 solar panels that cover 
an area of more than eight soccer fields will gen-
erate annual peak solar energy of about 10 mil-
lion kWh in the future. This covers one third of the 
facility’s own energy requirements, with the result 
that its CO2 emissions are reduced by close to 
6,000 tons a year. voestalpine’s special section 
systems from Belgium are being used to install 
the solar panels on the roof.
Annually, the division achieves savings of 600 MWh 
in its consumption of natural gas while, at the 
same time, raising its production volume at its 
precision section production plant in Lower Austria. 
The annealing furnace was converted to so-called 
recuperative burners for this purpose. The new 
system consumes less energy to heat fresh air by 
using partially preheated air from the furnace. 

ENVIRONMENTAL  
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

Worldwide, roughly 130 Group companies (in-
cluding all larger, environmentally-sensitive op-
erating sites) are part of voestalpine’s internal 
environmental data management system. Ap-
proximately two-thirds of these entities possess 
an environmental management system (EMS) 
pursuant to ISO 14001 or the Eco-Management 
and Audit Scheme (EMAS), and another 8% uti-
lize a certified energy management system pur-
suant to ISO 50001. 

PRODUCT SUSTAINABILITY

Comprehensive analyses of a product regarding 
its ecological, economic, and social impact over 
its entire useful life are becoming ever more im-
portant, not only from customers’ viewpoint.  Given 
the challenges of climate protection,  increasingly 
such analyses are also being required at the po-
litical and legislative level. This applies not least 
to the EU’s “Green Deal,” which also emphasizes 
this topic in its long-term industrial greening strat-
egy.
As regards environmental issues, therefore, voest-
alpine primarily foregrounds comprehensive  
customer-specific activities such as life cycle as-
sessments (LCAs) and sustainable analyses over 
the entire delivery and value chain. This includes 
a number of quantifiable, specific product decla-
rations such as environmental product declara-
tions (EPDs) as well as those pertaining to mate-
rial compliance and the circular economy.
The voestalpine Group engages in an intensive 
dialogue with its customers on issues of sustain-
ability, particularly with respect to decarboniza-
tion and product assessment. It participates in 
cross-sectoral initiatives such as “Responsible 
Steel” and publishes its performance via external 
assessments such as the Carbon Disclosure Pro-
ject (CDP) in ways that make it transparent to  
the public. In the CDP’s 2019 Climate Change as-
sessment, voestalpine’s standing improved from 
a “B” status to an “A” (leadership status) as well 
as from “B” in the organization’s supplier engage-
ment rating to “A” (global leaderboard), its  highest 
possible category.

ENERGY AND CLIMATE POLICY

At the level of the EU, work to flesh out the Green 
Deal initiated by the new EU Commission is front 
and center. As far as the steel industry is con-
cerned, in this connection specific steps to sup-
port its long-term decarbonization are particu-
larly relevant. Initial guideposts for this project—for 
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example, tightening the CO2 reduction targets  
for 2030; an EU-wide, binding climate act; and a 
Euro pean industrial strategy—are currently going 
through the political decision-making process. In 
Austria, for its part, the federal government that 
took office in January 2020 has presented a very 
ambitious climate protection program for the leg-
islative period that runs until 2024. Given its goal 
to achieve climate neutrality by 2040, this pro-
gram significantly surpasses the targets of the 
global climate accord and the European Union, 
which set 2050 as the target. Both at the level  
of the EU and nationally, voestalpine is in con-
stant talks, directly and via industry associations, 
with political decision makers, the science com-
munity, environmental organizations, and indus-
trial partners.

CLIMATE PROTECTION
voestalpine has committed to the 2015 Paris  
Climate Goals of a large community of states to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by more than 
80% by the middle of this century. To this end, the 
company is pursuing a consistent and long-term 
strategy to avoid direct CO2 emissions.

In the long term, the Group’s extensive research 
and development programs aim to convert the 
production of steel from the approach based on 
coal to one based on hydrogen. The H2FUTURE 
project, which was successfully started up in the 
business year ended and will run until 2021, is a 
flagship project of the European Union that serves 
to generate green hydrogen on an industrial scale. 
voestalpine has simultaneously been exploring 
concrete interim steps. For example, it is  currently 
examining financial and technical aspects of an 
incremental switch from the coal-based furnace 
approach to the green electricity-based electric 
steel approach as a hybrid concept. After 2030, 
this could lower the CO2 emissions of steel pro-
duction at the Group’s Austrian plants in Linz and 
Donawitz by about one third.
However, this transformation presupposes both 
the availability of renewable energy and its finan-
cial feasibility. In the final analysis, the broad-
based implementation of CO2-minimizing tech-
nologies will also depend on the degree to which 
they can be operated in globally competitive 
ways. 
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REPORT ON THE  
COMPANY’S RISK EXPOSURE
Proactive risk management, as continuously un-
derstood and practiced by the voestalpine Group, 
serves to ensure the existence of the Group as a 
going concern in the long term and to boost its 
value and thus is key to the success of the voest-
alpine Group on the whole.

The voestalpine Group has had a comprehensive 
risk management system since the business year 
2000/01, which is fleshed out in a general policy 
that applies throughout the Group and has been 
updated and refined repeatedly since then.

An Audit Committee has been in place at voest-
alpine AG since the coming into force of the  
Austrian Company Law Amendment Act of 2008 
(UnternehmensrechtsÄnderungsgesetz) and the 
resulting increase in the importance of both the 
internal control system (ICS) and the risk manage-
ment system. Among other things, the Audit Com-
mittee is tasked with continually addressing ques-
tions related to risk management and the ICS as 
well as the monitoring thereof (see also the “Audit 
Committee” chapter of this Annual Report). Both 
the risk management and the internal control sys-
tems are integral components of existing man-
agement systems within the voestalpine Group. 
Internal Audit monitors all operational and busi-
ness processes and the risks associated with them 
as well as the ICS. As regards both the reporting 
on and the appraisal of the audit results, it acts 
as an independent in-house department not 
bound by instructions.

This systematic risk management process assists 
management in identifying risks early on and ini-
tiating appropriate precautionary measures to 
avert or prevent dangers. In the sense of respon-
sible corporate management that is oriented  
toward both sustainability and shareholder  
value, risk management is an integral part of  
the decision-making and business processes  
of all of the company’s divisions and hierarchy  
levels. Risk management covers the strategic  
and opera tional levels and thus is a major ele-
ment in the Group’s sustainable success.

Strategic risk management serves to evaluate 
and safeguard the strategic planning for the  
future. The strategy is reviewed as to its confor-
mity with the Group’s system of objectives in order 
to ensure value-added growth by way of the best 
possible allocation of resources.
Operational risk management is based on a re-
volving procedure (“identify, analyze, assess, man-
age, document, and monitor”) that is run uniform-
ly across the entire Group several times a year. 
Operational risk management also includes en-
suring conformity with the given strategy.
Identified risks are appraised using a nine-field 
assessment matrix that evaluates possible losses 
and the probability of their occurring. In the main, 
operational, environmental, market, procurement, 
technological, financial, Compliance, and IT risks 
are documented at both the strategic and the 
operational level. The risk management process 
is supported by a special web-based IT system.

DESCRIPTION  
OF MATERIAL FIELDS OF RISK

The global COVID-19 crisis and the resulting state 
of emergency dominated the last few weeks of 
the business year 2019/20.

PANDEMIC, COVID-19 CRISIS
In the business year just ended, the novel corona-
virus and its direct effects forced the voestalpine 
Group—as well as many other companies—into 
crisis mode within a very short time. This worldwide 
pandemic, as the World Health Organization 
(WHO) has classified it, has led to an unprece-
dented (in modern times) medical, economic, and 
social state of emergency that continues unabat-
ed. In order to mitigate the spread of the disease 
as quickly as possible, many countries have put 
rigorous measures into place based on national 
pandemic plans and laws. voestalpine immedi-
ately implemented statutory and governmental 
requirements with the Group’s full support. Above 
and beyond mandatory requirements, numerous 
measures were put in place as required and/or 
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feasible, given local needs and capabilities, to 
protect employees and their families and support 
them as best as possible. These steps include sup-
plementary safety measures regarding people’s 
health and hygiene in different production areas, 
working from home (teleworking) to the extent 
possible, and allowing leaves of absence for care-
giving duties.
As part of Group-wide crisis management, crisis 
teams were established at three decision-making 
levels (Group, divisions, companies) that are tasked 
with ensuring rapid and coordinated  approaches 
at all of the Group’s sites. This includes implement-
ing emergency and crisis plans, subject to appli-
cable local conditions, that help to protect em-
ployees and—where necessary and possible—to 
maintain operations as best as possible and en-
sure the organization’s stability. For example, the 
steps taken to manage the crisis encompass mea-
sures to secure liquidity; short time work; reduc-
tion of time credits; early annual plant/office clos-
ings; adjustment and limitation of production 
activities in keeping with the given supply chains; 
and/or temporary production shutdowns. This is 
complemented by the regular sharing of infor-
mation with our key clients and suppliers. Emer-
gency and crisis plans that have been put into 
practice as well as other implemented measures 
are evaluated at regular intervals during the cri-
sis and are adjusted as necessary in the light of 
new information.

Furthermore, the material fields of risk and asso-
ciated preventive measures presented in last year’s 
Annual Report are still valid.

» AVAILABILITY OF RAW MATERIALS  
 AND ENERGY SUPPLIES
 In order to ensure the supply of raw materials 

and energy in the required quantities and qual-
ity in the long term, the voestalpine Group has 
for some years already pursued a diversified 
procurement strategy that is appropriate to the 
heightened political and economic risks of this 
globalized market. Long-term supply relation-
ships, expansion of the supplier portfolio as well 

as development of the Group’s self-sufficiency 
are the core elements of this strategy, which re-
main as important as before given the volatility 
of the raw materials markets (for details, see the 
“Raw Materials” chapter of this Annual Report). 
As far as energy supplies are concerned, the 
Group is continually on the look-out for alterna-
tive energy resources.

 On the whole, the pandemic is disrupting glob-
al supply chains. This may trigger limitations that 
are imposed by suppliers and/or customers or 
arise from disruptions in transportation routes.

» GUIDELINE FOR HEDGING  
 RAW MATERIALS PRICE RISK
 An internal guideline defines objectives, prin-

ciples, and responsibilities as well as method-
ologies, procedures, and decision-making pro-
cesses in connection with the handling of raw 
materials risks. Based thereon and taking into 
account individual specificities of the respective 
Group company’s business model, prices are 
hedged by means of delivery contracts contain-
ing fixed price agreements or by means of  
derivative financial instruments. Financial de-
rivatives are deployed to hedge raw materials 
procurement contracts.

» CO2 ISSUE
 Risks associated with CO2 are covered sepa-

rately in the “Environment” chapter of this  
Annual Report.

» FAILURE OF PRODUCTION FACILITIES
 In order to minimize the risk of critical facilities 

breaking down, ongoing targeted and com-
prehensive investments are made to optimize  
sensitive units technologically. Supplementary 
measures encompass consistent preventive 
maintenance, risk-oriented storage of spare 
parts as well as appropriate employee training.

» FAILURE OF IT SYSTEMS
 At the majority of the Group’s sites, business and 

production processes, which are largely based 
on complex information technology (IT) systems, 
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are serviced by voestalpine group-IT GmbH, a 
company that specializes in IT and is wholly 
owned by the Group holding company, voest-
alpine AG. Given the importance of IT security 
and in order to continue minimizing possible IT 
breakdown and security risks, minimum IT secu-
rity standards that also encompass guidance 
on business continuity management were de-
veloped in the past. These minimum standards 
are regularly revised and adapted to new cir-
cumstances; compliance with these new stan-
dards is reviewed annually by way of an audit. 
Additional periodic penetration tests are carried 
out to further reduce the risk of unauthorized 
access to IT systems and applications. Broad 
online campaigns aimed at further sensitizing 
our employees to security issues were carried 
out yet again in the business year just ended. 
Increasingly, attention is being paid also to the 
topic of cyber security as part of these online 
campaigns. A working group collects evidence 
of potential cyber fraud attacks (such as social 
engineering, CEO fraud, man-in-the-middle  
attacks related to payments and deliveries), de-
velops preventive measures, and reviews and 
adjusts existent measures as necessary. In ad-
dition, extensive online campaigns are carried 
out and initiatives launched with respect to spe-
cial e-learning programs to both prevent po-
tential cyber fraud attacks and further sensitize 
our employees to these risks.

» KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT /  
 PROJECT MANAGEMENT
 In order to sustainably safeguard the Group’s 

knowledge—in particular, to prevent the loss  
of its know-how—complex projects initiated in 
the past are consistently and continually refined. 
Besides permanently documenting all available 
knowledge, new findings from key projects as 
well as lessons learned as the result of unplanned 
events are implemented as appropriate. De-
tailed process documentation, especially in 
IT-supported areas, also contributes to securing 
the available knowledge. 

 A diverse range of project management tools 
and suitable project monitoring are used to 
counteract any project risks (e.g., investments, 
the project business). Insights gained from  
earlier activities are also collected in the sense 
of lessons learned and form the basis of the  
ongoing enhancement of already available 
tools to ensure that they are consistently applied 
in connection with future projects.

» COMPLIANCE RISKS
 Compliance violations (e.g., antitrust and cor-

ruption violations) represent a significant risk 
and may have adverse effects in that they may 
trigger both financial losses and damage to the 
Group’s reputation. A Group-wide Compliance 
management system is designed particularly to 
counteract antitrust and corruption violations. 
Regarding antitrust proceedings and allega-
tions, see item 19 in the Notes.

» RISKS OF NONCOMPLIANCE WITH  
 DATA PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS
 Violations of requirements under data protec-

tion laws may have adverse financial effects 
and lead to reputational damage. A data protec-
tion unit was established on the basis of the data 
protection requirements that apply throughout 
the Group. It serves to help the management of 
Group companies carry out their responsibilities 
regarding compliance with statutory and intra- 
Group data protection requirements.

» RISKS FROM THE FINANCIAL SECTOR
 Financial risk management is organized cen-

trally with respect to policy-making power, strat-
egy determination, and target definition. The 
existing policies include targets, principles, du-
ties, and responsibilities for both Group Treasury 
and the financial departments of the individual 
Group companies. Financial risks are monitored 
continuously and hedged where feasible. In par-
ticular, this strategy is aimed at natural hedges 
and at reducing the fluctuations in both cash 
flow and income. Market risks are largely hedged 
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through derivative financial instruments that 
are used exclusively in connection with an un-
derlying transaction.

Specifically, financing risks are hedged using the 
following measures:

» Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risks generally consist of a company 

being potentially unable to raise the funds nec-
essary to meet its financial obligations. Existing 
liquidity reserves enable the company to meet 
its obligations even in times of crisis. Further-
more, a precise financial plan that is prepared 
on a revolving, quarterly basis is the primary  
instrument for controlling liquidity risk. Group  
Treasury centrally determines the need for finan-
cing and bank credit lines based on the consoli-
dated operating results.

 Group Treasury conducted additional reviews 
in order to take current conditions resulting from 
the COVID-19 crisis into account. The planned 
liquidity needs for the next 12 months are to be 
covered by a liquidity reserve. 

» Credit risk
 Credit risk refers to financial losses that may 

 occur due to non-fulfillment of contractual ob-
ligations by individual business partners. The 
credit risk of the underlying transactions is mini-
mized to a large degree through a large  number 
of credit insurance policies and bankable secu-
rities (guarantees, letters of credit). The default 
risk related to the Group’s remaining own risk is 
managed by way of defined credit assessment, 
risk evaluation, risk classification, and credit 
monitoring processes. As of March 31, 2020, 
81% of the company’s trade receivables were 
covered by credit insurance. The  pandemic may 
trigger both a tightening of credit limits on the 
part of loan insurers and greater charge-offs of 
receivables. Counterparty credit risk in financial 
contracts is managed by way of daily monitor-
ing of the ratings and any changes in the coun-
terparties’ credit default swap (CDS) levels.

» Foreign currency risk
 The primary objective of foreign currency risk 

management is to create a natural hedge 
(cross-currency netting) within the Group by bun-
dling the cash flows. In this connection, hedges 
are implemented centrally by Group Treasury 
based on derivative hedging instruments. voest-
alpine AG hedges the budgeted foreign curren-
cy payments (net) for the next 12 months. Longer- 
term hedging is carried out only in connection 
with contracted project business. The hedging 
ratio is between 25% and 100% of the budget-
ed cash flows within the next 12 months.

» Interest rate risk
 voestalpine AG conducts the interest rate risk 

assessment centrally for the entire Group. In 
particular, this entails managing cash flow risks 
(i.e., the risk that interest expense or interest in-
come may undergo an adverse change). As of 
the March 31, 2020, reporting date, any increase 
in the interest rate by one percentage point 
would result in an increase of the net interest 
expense by EUR 10.9 million in the next business 
year. However, this is a reporting date assess-
ment that may be subject to fluctuations over 
time.

» Price risk
 voestalpine AG also assesses price risk, primar-

ily using scenario analyses for the purpose of 
quantifying interest and currency risks.

UNCERTAINTIES STEMMING 
FROM LEGISLATION

ENERGY TAX REBATE IN AUSTRIA
It must be noted with respect to the Austrian en-
ergy tax rebate that the Austrian Federal Finance 
Court (Bundesfinanzgericht) directed a request 
for a preliminary ruling to the European Court of 
Justice (ECJ) (BFG 10/31/2014, RE/5100001/2014). 
The amendment of the Austrian Energy Tax Re-
bate Act (Energieabgabenvergütungsgesetz)  
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by means of the 2011 Austrian Budget Accom-
panying Act (Budgetbegleitgesetz – BBG 2011), 
which applies to periods after December 31, 2010, 
limited the energy tax rebate to manufacturing 
companies. Subsequently, the question of  whether 
this restriction, which may be deemed state aid, 
violated EU law was submitted to the ECJ for a 
preliminary ruling; the Court responded in the  
affirmative (ECJ 7/21/2016, docket no. C-493/14, 
Dilly’s Wellnesshotel GmbH). As a result, the re-
strictions pursued by the BBG 2011 did not enter 
into force with legal effect and service providers, 
in particular, thus can retroactively claim the en-
ergy tax rebate for periods after February 1, 2011. 
In its subsequent ruling, the Austrian Federal Fi-
nance Court held that the restriction to manufac-
turing companies did not take effect. The Appeals 
Division of the Tax Office appealed this decision 
to the Higher Administrative Court, which in Sep-
tember 2017 (decision dated 9/14/2017, EU 
2017/0005 and 0006-1) again sought recourse 
with the ECJ. The decision of the ECJ dated  
November 14, 2019 (ECJ 11/14/2019, docket 
no. C-585/17, Dilly’s Wellnesshotel II) thus affirms 
that the limitation to manufacturing companies 
imposed by the BBG 2011 was put in place in 
ways consonant with European Union law. It re-
mains to be seen how the Higher Administrative 
Court (docket no. Ro 2016/15/0041 dated 
9/14/2017) will rule in its final decision. No ad-
verse impact is anticipated for the voestalpine 
Group.
The pandemic may cause individual jurisdictions 
to take a variety of statutory steps that will affect 
production parameters and the respective Group 
companies’ ability to act in economic terms.

ECONOMIC RISKS

Based on the insights gained as a result of past 
economic and financial crises and their effects 
on the voestalpine Group, additional measures—
primarily of a corporate nature—were taken in 
recent years to minimize the Group’s risk exposure; 
just as in the business year ended, the coming 

years will see consistent implementation and en-
hancement of these measures. In particular, these 
measures are targeted at 

 » Minimizing the negative effects that even a 
recessionary economic trend would have on  
the company by means of relevant planning 
precautions; 
 » Maintaining high product quality along with 
concurrent continual efficiency gains and on-
going cost optimization;
 » Having sufficient financial liquidity available 
even in the event of constricted financial markets; 
and
 » Securing in-house expertise even more efficiently 
than before with a view to continuing the long-
term expansion of the Group’s quality and tech-
nology leadership.

Given the ongoing difficulties in the economic 
environment, a working group is tasked as before 
with continually monitoring any fallout from the 
Brexit. Consequences arising from (punitive)  
tariffs and/or global trade wars are subject to 
continuous monitoring as well. Further develop-
ments in the pandemic and the measures that 
individual countries put in place to fight the dis-
ease and stimulate their economy will have a 
massive impact on economic developments in 
the world’s different regions.  

Specific measures to hedge the risks previously 
identified within the voestalpine Group have been 
developed and implemented. These steps are 
aimed at reducing potential losses and/or mini-
mizing the likelihood of losses occurring. It must 
be stated that, from today’s perspective, the risks 
facing the voestalpine Group above and beyond 
global crises and their ramifications are limited 
and manageable. As regards the COVID-19 crisis 
and its associated global ramifications, which 
cannot be predicted from today’s vantage point, 
going forward the voestalpine Group will contin-
ue to do everything in its power to overcome this 
situation, which is very difficult for each and every 
individual and the company on the whole.
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REPORT ON THE KEY FEATURES 
OF THE GROUP’S INTERNAL  
CONTROL AND RISK MANAGE-
MENT SYSTEM WITH REGARD  
TO ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES 

Pursuant to Section 243a (2) Austrian Com mercial 
Code (Unternehmensgesetzbuch – UGB),  Aus trian 
companies whose shares are traded on a regu-
lated market must describe the key features of 
their internal control and risk management sys-
tem with regard to accounting procedures in their 
management reports.

Section 82 Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktien
gesetz – AktG) requires the Management Board 
to establish a suitable internal control and risk 
management system for accounting procedures. 
The Management Board of voestalpine AG has 
adopted relevant guidelines that are binding on 
the entire Group. In line with the voestalpine Group’s 
decentralized structure, the local management 
of each Group company is obliged to establish 
and shape an internal control and risk manage-
ment system for accounting procedures that meets 
the requirements of that individual company and 
ensures compliance with the relevant, existing 
Group-wide guidelines and regulations.

The entire process, from procurement to payment, 
is subject to strict and unified Group-wide guide-
lines that are designed to reduce the risks asso-
ciated with the business processes to a minimum. 
These Group guidelines set forth measures and 
rules for avoiding risk, such as the strict separa-
tion of functions, signature authority rules and, 
particularly, signing powers for authorizing pay-
ments that apply only collectively and are limited 
to only a few persons (four-eyes principle).

In this context, control measures related to IT se-
curity are a cornerstone of the internal control 
system (ICS). Issuing IT authorizations restrictively 
supports the separation and/or segmentation  
of sensitive activities. The accounting in the in-

dividual Group companies is largely carried out  
using SAP software. The reliability of these SAP 
systems is guaranteed by automated business 
process controls that are built directly into the 
system as well as by other methods. Reports on 
critical authorizations and authorization conflicts 
are generated in an automated process.

To prepare the consolidated financial statements, 
the data pertaining to fully consolidated entities 
is transferred to the unified Group consolidation 
and reporting system. Group-wide accounting 
and valuation policies applicable to the record-
ing, posting, and recognition of business trans-
actions are governed by the voestalpine Con-
solidated Financial Statements Manual and are 
binding on all Group companies.
Automatic controls that are built into the con-
solidation and reporting system, for one, and nu-
merous manual reviews, for another, have been 
put in place to avoid material misstatements to 
the greatest extent possible. These controls range 
from management reviews and discussions of  
income and expenses for each period to the spe-
cific reconciliation of accounts. voestalpine AG’s 
Controlling Manual contains a summarizing pre-
sentation of how the accounting system is orga-
nized.

The accounting and controlling departments of 
the individual Group companies submit monthly 
reports containing key performance indicators 
(KPIs) to their own managing directors and to the 
management boards of the respective divisions 
and, after approval, to the holding company’s 
Corporate Accounting & Reporting department 
to be aggregated, consolidated, and reported 
to the Group Management Board. Additional in-
formation, such as detailed target/performance 
comparisons, is prepared in a similar process as 
part of quarterly reporting. Quarterly reports are 
submitted to the supervisory board, board, or  
advisory board of the given Group company, and 
a consolidated report is submitted to the Super-
visory Board of voestalpine AG.
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Besides operational risks, the accounting system 
is also subject to Group risk management. In this 
context, possible accounting risks are analyzed 
on a regular basis, and measures to avoid them 
are taken. The focus is on those risks that are re-
garded as fundamental to the given company’s 
activities. Compliance with the ICS, including the 
required quality standards, is monitored on an 

ongoing basis through internal audits at the Group 
company level. Internal Audit works closely with 
the appropriate Management Board members 
and managing directors. It reports directly to the 
Chairman of the Management Board and sub-
mits reports periodically to the Management 
Board and, subsequently, to the Audit Committee 
of the Supervisory Board of voestalpine AG. 
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NUMBER OF  
TREASURY SHARES 

Holdings of treasury shares for the purpose of is-
suing shares to employees and executives of the 
company and of affiliated companies under the 

existent employee shareholding scheme as of 
March 31, 2020, are as follows:

Treasury 
shares  

in thousands 
of shares

Percentage of 
share capital 

in %

Percentage of 
share capital  
in thousands  

of euros

As of 03/31/2019 28.6 0.0 52.0
Additions in 2019/20 0.0 0.0 0.0
Disposals in 2019/20 0.0 0.0 0.0
As of 03/31/2020 28.6 0.0 52.0

The company has held its treasury shares for years. 
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DISCLOSURES ON  
CAPITAL, SHARE, VOTING, AND  
CONTROL RIGHTS AS WELL AS  
ASSOCIATED OBLIGATIONS 

As of March 31, 2020, the share capital of voest-
alpine AG is EUR 324,391,840.99 (March 31, 2019: 
EUR 324,391,840.99) and is divided into 
178,549,163 (March 31, 2019: 178,549,163) or-
dinary no-par value shares. There are no restric-
tions on voting rights (1 share = 1 vote). voest-
alpine AG is unaware of any agreements among 
or between its shareholders and third parties that 
restrict voting rights or the transfer of shares. 

Raiffeisenlandesbank Oberösterreich Invest GmbH 
& Co OG, Linz, Austria, and voestalpine Mitarbeiter-
beteiligung Privatstiftung (a private foundation 
for the company’s employee shareholding scheme), 
Linz, each hold more than 10% (and less than 
15%) of the company’s share capital. Oberbank 
AG, Linz, holds more than 5% (and less than 10%). 

The Management Board of voestalpine Mitarbeiter-
beteiligung Privatstiftung exercises the voting 
rights of shares held in trust by voestalpine Mit-
arbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung for the employ-
ees of voestalpine AG’s Group companies who 
participate in the employee shareholding scheme. 
However, the way the voting rights are exercised 
requires the approval of the Advisory Board of 
voestalpine Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung. 
The Advisory Board resolves such approval with 
a simple majority. It is constituted on the basis of 
parity, with six members each representing the 
employees and the employer. The chairperson of 
the Advisory Board, who must be appointed by 
the employee representatives, casts the deciding 
vote in the event of a tie. 

As regards those of the Management Board’s 
powers that do not follow directly from the law, 
such as buybacks of the company’s treasury shares 
and/or authorized or contingent capital, refer-
ence is made to item 17 (Equity) of the Notes to 
the consolidated financial statements 2019/20.

The EUR 400 million fixed-interest bond 2014–
2021; the EUR 500 million fixed-interest bond 
2017–2024; the EUR 500 million fixed-interest 
bond 2019-2026; the EUR 50 million privately 
placed, fixed-interest bond 2019–2031; a total 
of EUR 401 million and USD 320 million, respec-
tively, in promissory note loans; the EUR 1,000 
million syndicated loan obtained in 2019 (revolv-
ing credit facility, of which EUR 300 million have 
been drawn); and bilateral loans for a total of  
EUR 477.8 million and USD 477.1 million, respec-
tively, contain change-of-control clauses. Under 
the terms of these financing agreements, the 
bondholders or lenders have the right, respec-
tively, to demand redemption of their bonds or 
repayment of their loans if control of the com pany 
changes hands. The terms of the aforementioned 
financing agreements specify that a change of 
control at voestalpine AG is triggered when a  party 
acquires a controlling interest in the company as 
defined in the Austrian Takeover Act (Übernahme
gesetz). 
There are no indemnity agreements between the 
company and the members of its Management 
Board, the members of its Supervisory Board, or 
its employees in the event of a public takeover 
bid. 
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OUTLOOK

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic did not 
affect the voestalpine Group’s operating result 
until the final quarter of the business year 2019/20 
and only to a relatively modest degree at that.
The steps taken to mitigate the pandemic that 
are generally known as a “lockdown” are still in 
force in parts of Europe as well as in North and 
South America, and even in parts of Asia. While 
the resulting economic consequences cannot  
be definitively assessed at this time, it is already 
becoming apparent that a dramatic economic 
downturn across the board will define the first 
quarter of the business year 2020/21.
Absent any knowledge as to the full extent of the 
economic meltdown, we can only provide very 
rough estimates of the current business year’s 
subsequent trajectory. From today’s vantage point, 
a scenario that posits an improvement in the 
economy on the whole after the summer of 2020 
is likely. However, this assessment is made in an 
extremely volatile economic environment and 
thus is fraught with considerable uncertainty.
Hence voestalpine’s focus in the business year 
2020/21 will be on measures aimed at stabilizing 
earnings, such as consistent cost and working 
capital management as well as cash flow gener-
ation. Accordingly, the plans for investments in 
the current business year call for an expenditure 
of about EUR 600 million, which is substantially 

less than the investment volume in recent years 
and falls short of depreciation.
The diversification of the voestalpine Group at 
the level of both product and market is a stabi-
lizing element that displays its effectiveness  
even in an economic state of emergency such as 
this one. voestalpine’s facilities in China now are 
almost back to producing at the capacity pre-
vailing prior to the outbreak of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Demand in the railway infrastructure 
sector, which in many regions is deemed system-
ically relevant, is good in most of the world.  Driven 
as it is by online commerce, the high-bay ware-
house system segment got an additional boost 
from the lockdown, and current segment order 
levels are very good. 

Nonetheless, the uncertainties confronting the 
entire voestalpine Group in the next few months 
are very high, which is why an assessment of  
future earnings can only be a rough estimate. 
Given the continued volatility of the economic 
environment, we expect the voestalpine Group 
to generate EBITDA of between EUR 600 million 
and EUR one billion in the business year 2020/21.

Linz, May 26, 2020

The Management Board 

This report is a translation of the original German-language report, which is solely valid.

Herbert Eibensteiner Franz Kainersdorfer

Franz Rotter Peter Schwab Hubert Zajicek

Robert Ottel



REPORT OF THE SUPER
VISORY BOARD ON THE 
BUSINESS YEAR 2019/20

During the business year 2019/20, the Super-
visory Board fulfilled its responsibilities under 
the law and the Articles of Incorporation, holding 
six plenary sessions, three meetings of the Audit 
Committee, and five meetings of the General 
Committee. In both the General Committee and 
the Audit Committee meetings, the Manage-
ment Board provided comprehensive oral and 
written  information regarding the develop- 
ment of the company’s business as well as its  
financial  management and position. At its final 
meeting for the reporting period on March 19, 
2020, the Supervisory Board dealt intensively  
with the  economic distortions arising from the  

COVID-19 pandemic, its potential ramifications 
for voestalpine, and the measures the Manage-
ment Board has planned. 
In addition to discussions of regular reports on 
the Group’s current business and financial  
position, at its meetings the Supervisory Board 
dealt particularly with scenarios regarding  
CO2-reduced steelmaking, voestalpine’s digitali-
zation strategy, issues related to innovation and 
information technology as well as the revision  
of the rules of procedure for the Management 
Board. Both the General Committee and the 
 Supervisory Board discussed the proposal 
 regarding the candidates for the elections to 
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The Supervisory Board’s shareholder representatives were newly elected at the Annual General 
 Meeting of voestalpine AG on July 3, 2019, and the Supervisory Board thus was established anew.

Supervisory Board until 07/03/2019 Supervisory Board since 07/03/2019

Shareholder Representatives 
» Dr. Joachim Lemppenau (Chairman) » Dr. Joachim Lemppenau (Chairman)
» Dr. Heinrich Schaller (Deputy Chairman) » Dr. Heinrich Schaller (Deputy Chairman)
» KR Dr. Franz Gasselsberger, MBA » KR Dr. Franz Gasselsberger, MBA

 (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
» Dr. Hans-Peter Hagen » Dr. Wolfgang Eder
» Dr. Michael Kutschera, MCJ (NYU) » Mag. Ingrid Jörg
» Prof. (emer) Dr. Helga Nowotny, Ph.D. » Dr. Florian Khol
» Mag. Dr. Josef Peischer » Mag. Maria Kubitschek
 » Prof. Elisabeth Stadler

Employee Representatives 
» Josef Gritz » Josef Gritz
» Friedrich Hofstätter (until 06/15/2019) » Sandra Fritz (from 06/15/2019)
» Hans-Karl Schaller » Hans-Karl Schaller
» Gerhard Scheidreiter » Gerhard Scheidreiter 



the Supervisory Board at the Annual General 
Meeting on July 3, 2019, as well as the 2019 
 Austrian Corporate Law Amending Act (Aktien
rechtsÄnderungsgesetz), especially the new 
rules  and regulations thereunder regarding  
both the compensation policy and the Com-
pensation Report (“say on pay”). Moreover, the 
General Committee dealt with the revision of  
the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board 
and the lawsuit that a shareholder filed against 
the election of Dr. Wolfgang Eder to the Super-
visory Board of voestalpine AG after the Annual  
General Meeting 2019. This court case was  
suspended in perpetuity in the first quarter of  
calendar year 2020 and thus has ended. 
The Audit Committee dealt, in particular, with  
the implementation of a procedure for selecting 
a new auditor at the Annual General Meeting 
2019; the preparation and audit of the com-
pany’s Consolidated Financial Statements and 
Annual Financial Statements 2019/20; the audi-
tor’s independence; as well as issues related to 
the internal control system (ICS), the risk manage-
ment system, and Internal Audit. 
For details regarding the composition and pro-
cedures of the Supervisory Board and its com-
mittees, see the Consolidated Corporate Gover-
nance Report 2019/20.
Both the Annual Financial Statements and the 
Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 
2020, were audited by the auditor elected at  
the Annual General Meeting on July 3, 2019,  
specifically, Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs- 
GmbH, Vienna, Austria. The auditor attended  
two meetings of the Audit Committee that were 
held after the election on July 3, 2019, and was 
available for questions and discussions. 
The audit did not give rise to any objections, and 
it showed that the Annual Financial Statements 
as well as the Consolidated Financial State- 
ments, which were prepared in accordance with 
the  International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as mandated by Section 245a Austrian 
Commercial Code (Unternehmensgesetzbuch – 
UGB), conform to statutory requirements. The  
auditor issued an unqualified audit opinion  
both for the Annual Financial Statements and  
the Consolidated Financial Statements; they  
confirmed as well that the Management Report 
is consistent with the Annual Financial State-
ments and that the Consolidated Management 
Report is consistent with the Consolidated  
Financial Statements.

Following the Audit Committee’s prior review of 
the financials, on June 2, 2020, the Supervisory 
Board reviewed and approved the Annual Finan-
cial Statements as of March 31, 2020. The  Annual 
Financial Statements are herewith deemed ad-
opted pursuant to Section 96 (4) Austrian Stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG). Further-
more, following the Audit Committee’s prior 
 review,  the Supervisory Board reviewed and 
 approved the Management Report as well as  
the Consolidated Financial Statements includ-
ing the Consolidated Management Report and 
the Consolidated Corporate Governance Report 
for the business year 2019/20. At its meeting  
on September 25, 2019, the Supervisory Board 
reviewed and approved the consolidated non- 
financial report—i.e., the Corporate Responsibil-
ity Report—for the business year 2018/19.
The Consolidated Corporate Governance Report 
was audited by Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprü-
fungs-GmbH as part of the annual external  
review of voestalpine AG’s compliance with the 
 Corporate Governance Code; it was determined 
that the Report is consistent with the facts on the 
ground and that the rules are being complied 
with. Compliance with the C rules of the Code 
 pertaining to the auditor (Rules 77 to 83) was 
 reviewed by the law firm, WOLF THEISS Rechts-
anwälte GmbH & Co KG, Vienna. This review, too, 
confirmed compliance with the rules. The Corpo-
rate Responsibility Report 2018/19 was audited 
by Grant Thornton Unitreu GmbH Wirtschafts-
prüfungs und Steuerberatungsgesell schaft,  
Vienna. The audit procedures did not bring to 
light any facts and circumstances that would 
cause us to assume that this Report of voest-
alpine AG does not comply with material aspects 
of the legal  requirements and the Global Report-
ing  Initiative (GRI) standards. 
It is established hereby that the company closed 
the business year 2019/20 with a net profit of 
EUR 100.00 million. We propose paying a divi-
dend of EUR 0.20 per share entitled to a divi-
dend to the shareholders and to carry forward 
the  remaining amount.

The Super visory Board

Dr. Joachim Lemppenau
(Chairman)

Linz, June 2, 2020

C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0



C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

ASSETS

Notes 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

A. Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 9 6,580.2 6,558.8
 Goodwill 10 1,548.3 1,494.9
 Other intangible assets 10 395.1 338.6
 Investments in entities consolidated  
 according to the equity method 12 124.3 127.6
 Other financial assets and  
 other equity investments 12 50.6 65.9
 Deferred tax assets 13 197.3 283.9

8,895.8 8,869.7

B. Current assets
 Inventories 14 4,053.0 3,598.2
 Trade and other receivables 15 2,021.3 1,650.1
 Other financial assets 23 182.3 55.4
 Cash and cash equivalents 16 485.9 794.7
 Assets – held for sale 9 13.3 0.0

6,755.8 6,098.4

Total assets 15,651.6 14,968.1

In millions of euros

voestalpine AG

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
 OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2020
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

A. Equity
  Share capital 324.3 324.3
  Capital reserves 667.0 660.3
  Hybrid capital 497.9 0.0
  Treasury shares –1.5 –1.5
  Other reserves –69.1 –165.8
  Retained earnings 5,125.4 4,660.9
 Equity attributable to equity  
 holders of the parent 6,544.0 5,478.2
 Non-controlling interests 165.8 136.7
 17 6,709.8 5,614.9

B. Non-current liabilities
 Pensions and other employee obligations 18 1,276.9 1,277.9
 Provisions 19 167.3 92.4
 Deferred tax liabilities 13 110.5 92.5
 Financial liabilities 20 2,661.8 3,889.7

4,216.5 5,352.5

C. Current liabilities
 Provisions 19 642.9 646.9
 Tax liabilities 101.6 38.8
 Financial liabilities 20 1,142.3 754.1
 Trade and other payables 21 2,838.5 2,560.9

4,725.3 4,000.7

Total equity and liabilities 15,651.6 14,968.1

In millions of euros
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voestalpine AG

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
 OF CASH FLOWS 2019/20

Notes 2018/19 2019/20

Operating activities
 Profit after tax 458.6 –216.5
 Non-cash expenses and income 24 845.1 1,086.6
  Change in inventories –124.1 408.6
  Change in receivables and liabilities 44.4 80.1
  Change in provisions –57.4 –54.8
 Changes in working capital –137.1 433.9
Cash flows from operating activities 1,166.6 1,304.0

Investing activities
 Additions to other intangible assets, property,  
 plant and equipment –1,045.7 –747.9
 Income from disposals of assets 21.1 43.7
 Cash flows from the acquisition of control of subsidiaries 24 4.5 –11.2
 Cash flows from the loss of control of subsidiaries 24 0.0 –0.2
 Additions to/divestments of other financial assets 210.1 108.8
Cash flows from investing activities –810.0 –606.8

Financing activities
Dividends paid –276.8 –222.0
Dividends paid, non-controlling interests 24 –18.1 –21.0
Acquisition of non-controlling interests –2.4 –4.8
Capital increase 64.3 0.0
Repayment hybrid capital 0.0 –500.0
Increase in non-current financial liabilities 789.2 1,157.8
Repayment of non-current financial liabilities –1,170.6 –786.4
Repayment of lease liabilities –7.5 –53.5
Change in current financial liabilities and  
other financial liabilities 42.6 55.6

Cash flows from financing activities –579.3 –374.3

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents –222.7 322.9
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 705.8 485.9
Net exchange differences 2.8 –14.1

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 16 485.9 794.7

In millions of euros
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voestalpine AG

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
 OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2019/20

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Notes 2018/19 2019/20

Revenue 1, 2 13,560.7 12,717.2

Cost of sales –10,777.6 –10,559.2

Gross profit 2,783.1 2,158.0

Other operating income 3 399.4 443.4

Distribution costs –1,211.3 –1,174.5

Administrative expenses –695.5 –674.0

Other operating expenses 4 –510.2 –852.8

Share of profit of entities consolidated according to the equity method 5 13.9 10.9

EBIT 779.4 –89.0

Finance income 6 36.3 36.8

Finance costs 7 –170.0 –178.1

Profit before tax 645.7 –230.3

Tax expense 8 –187.1 13.8

Profit after tax 458.6 –216.5

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the parent 408.5 –222.0

 Non-controlling interests 20.1 –7.7

 Share (planned) for hybrid capital owners 30.0 13.2

Diluted and basic earnings per share (euros) 30 2.31 –1.24

CONSOLIDATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2018/19 2019/20

Profit after tax 458.6 –216.5

Items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss

 Cash flow hedges –3.1 –37.8

 Currency translation 25.4 –61.3

 Share of result of entities consolidated according to the equity method 1.1 –1.1

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss 23.4 –100.2

Items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss

 Actuarial gains/losses –78.5 –22.0

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss –78.5 –22.0

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax –55.1 –122.2

Total comprehensive income for the period 403.5 –338.7

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the parent 353.5 –341.1

 Non-controlling interests 20.0 –10.8

 Share (planned) for hybrid capital owners 30.0 13.2

Total comprehensive income for the period 403.5 –338.7

 
 In millions of euros
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voestalpine AG

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
 OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 2019/20

Other reserves

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Hybrid 
capital

Treasury 
share 

reserve

Translation reserve Cash flow  
hedge reserve

Retained earnings Total attributable  
to equity holders  

of the parent 

Non-controlling  
interests

Total equity

Balance as of April 1, 2018 320.3 609.6 497.9 –1.5  –100.6 8.7 5,043.9 6,378.3 168.6 6,546.9

Profit after tax – – – –  – – 438.5 438.5 20.1 458.6

Items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss –

Cash flow hedges – – – – – –3.1 – –3.1 – –3.1

Currency translation – – – – 24.8 – – 24.8 0.6 25.4

Share of result of entities consolidated according to the equity method – – – – 1.1 – – 1.1 – 1.1

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – 25.9 –3.1 – 22.8 0.6 23.4

Items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial gains/losses – – – – – – –77.8 –77.8 –0.7 –78.5

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – – – –77.8 –77.8 –0.7 –78.5

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax – – – – 25.9 –3.1 –77.8 –55.0 –0.1 –55.1

Total comprehensive income for the period – – – – 25.9 –3.1 360.7 383.5 20.0 403.5

Dividends – – – – – – –246.8 –246.8 –23.9 –270.7

Dividends to hybrid capital owners – – – – – – –30.0 –30.0 – –30.0

Capital increase 4.0 60.3 – – – – – 64.3 – 64.3

Share-based payment – –2.9 – – – – – –2.9 – –2.9

Acquisition of control of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 1.3 1.3

Other changes – – – – – – –2.4 –2.4 –0.2 –2.6

4.0 57.4 – – – – –279.2 –217.8 –22.8 –240.6

Balance as of March 31, 2019 = Balance as of April 1, 2019 324.3 667.0 497.9 –1.5 –74.7 5.6 5,125.4 6,544.0 165.8 6,709.8

Profit after tax – – – – – – –208.8 –208.8 –7.7 –216.5

Items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Cash flow hedges – – – – – –37.8 – –37.8 – –37.8

Currency translation – – – – –57.8 – – –57.8 –3.5 –61.3

Share of result of entities consolidated according to the equity method – – – – –1.1 – – –1.1 – –1.1

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – –58.9 –37.8 – –96.7 –3.5 –100.2

Items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial gains/losses – – – – – – –22.4 –22.4 0.4 –22.0

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – – – –22.4 –22.4 0.4 –22.0

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax – – – – –58.9 –37.8 –22.4 –119.1 –3.1 –122.2

Total comprehensive income for the period – – – – –58.9 –37.8 –231.2 –327.9 –10.8 –338.7

Dividends – – – – – – –196.4 –196.4 –20.3 –216.7

Repayment hybrid capital – – –500.0 – – – – –500.0 – –500.0

Dividends to hybrid capital owners – – – – – – –25.6 –25.6 – –25.6

Share-based payment – –1.1 – – – – – –1.1 – –1.1

Other changes – –5.6 2.1 – – –0.0 –11.3 –14.8 2.0 –12.8

– –6.7 –497.9 – – –0.0 –233.3 –737.9 –18.3 –756.2

Balance as of March 31, 2020 324.3 660.3 0.0 –1.5 –133.6 –32.2 4,660.9 5,478.2 136.7 5,614.9

In millions of euros
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Other reserves

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Hybrid 
capital

Treasury 
share 

reserve

Translation reserve Cash flow  
hedge reserve

Retained earnings Total attributable  
to equity holders  

of the parent 

Non-controlling  
interests

Total equity

Balance as of April 1, 2018 320.3 609.6 497.9 –1.5  –100.6 8.7 5,043.9 6,378.3 168.6 6,546.9

Profit after tax – – – –  – – 438.5 438.5 20.1 458.6

Items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss –

Cash flow hedges – – – – – –3.1 – –3.1 – –3.1

Currency translation – – – – 24.8 – – 24.8 0.6 25.4

Share of result of entities consolidated according to the equity method – – – – 1.1 – – 1.1 – 1.1

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – 25.9 –3.1 – 22.8 0.6 23.4

Items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial gains/losses – – – – – – –77.8 –77.8 –0.7 –78.5

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – – – –77.8 –77.8 –0.7 –78.5

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax – – – – 25.9 –3.1 –77.8 –55.0 –0.1 –55.1

Total comprehensive income for the period – – – – 25.9 –3.1 360.7 383.5 20.0 403.5

Dividends – – – – – – –246.8 –246.8 –23.9 –270.7

Dividends to hybrid capital owners – – – – – – –30.0 –30.0 – –30.0

Capital increase 4.0 60.3 – – – – – 64.3 – 64.3

Share-based payment – –2.9 – – – – – –2.9 – –2.9

Acquisition of control of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 1.3 1.3

Other changes – – – – – – –2.4 –2.4 –0.2 –2.6

4.0 57.4 – – – – –279.2 –217.8 –22.8 –240.6

Balance as of March 31, 2019 = Balance as of April 1, 2019 324.3 667.0 497.9 –1.5 –74.7 5.6 5,125.4 6,544.0 165.8 6,709.8

Profit after tax – – – – – – –208.8 –208.8 –7.7 –216.5

Items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Cash flow hedges – – – – – –37.8 – –37.8 – –37.8

Currency translation – – – – –57.8 – – –57.8 –3.5 –61.3

Share of result of entities consolidated according to the equity method – – – – –1.1 – – –1.1 – –1.1

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – –58.9 –37.8 – –96.7 –3.5 –100.2

Items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial gains/losses – – – – – – –22.4 –22.4 0.4 –22.0

Subtotal of items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss – – – – – – –22.4 –22.4 0.4 –22.0

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax – – – – –58.9 –37.8 –22.4 –119.1 –3.1 –122.2

Total comprehensive income for the period – – – – –58.9 –37.8 –231.2 –327.9 –10.8 –338.7

Dividends – – – – – – –196.4 –196.4 –20.3 –216.7

Repayment hybrid capital – – –500.0 – – – – –500.0 – –500.0

Dividends to hybrid capital owners – – – – – – –25.6 –25.6 – –25.6

Share-based payment – –1.1 – – – – – –1.1 – –1.1

Other changes – –5.6 2.1 – – –0.0 –11.3 –14.8 2.0 –12.8

– –6.7 –497.9 – – –0.0 –233.3 –737.9 –18.3 –756.2

Balance as of March 31, 2020 324.3 660.3 0.0 –1.5 –133.6 –32.2 4,660.9 5,478.2 136.7 5,614.9

In millions of euros
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voestalpine AG

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019/20

A. GENERAL INFORMATION AND CORPORATE PURPOSE

The voestalpine Group is a global steel-based technology and capital goods Group. With its top- 
quality products, the Group is one of the leading partners to the automotive and consumer goods 
industries in Europe and to the oil and gas industry worldwide.

voestalpine AG is the Group’s ultimate parent company and prepares the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. It is registered in the Commercial Register of Linz and has its registered office in  
voest alpine-Strasse 1, 4020 Linz, Austria. The shares of voestalpine AG are listed on the Vienna stock 
 exchange.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020 (including comparative 
figures for the year ended March 31, 2019) have been prepared pursuant to Section 245a (1)  
of the Austrian Commercial Code (Unternehmensgesetzbuch – UGB) in accordance with the  
Inter national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as published by the International Accounting  
Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in millions of euros (= functional currency of 
the parent company).

The consolidated income statement has been prepared using the cost-of-sales method.

The use of automated calculation systems may result in rounding differences that affect amounts 
and percentages.

On May 26, 2020, the Management Board of voestalpine AG approved the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and authorized the submission thereof to the Supervisory Board.
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B. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

EFFECTS OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS
The accounting policies applied to the Consolidated Financial Statements are consistent with those 
of the previous year with the exceptions listed below.

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations were adopted for the first time in the 
business year 2019/20:

Standard Content Effective date1

IFRS 16 Leases January 1, 2019

IFRS 9, amendments Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation January 1, 2019

IAS 28, amendments Long-Term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures January 1, 2019

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments January 1, 2019

IAS 19, amendments Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement January 1, 2019

1 In accordance with EU endorsements, these Standards are applicable to reporting periods beginning on or after the effective date.

The effects of the initial application of the new Standard, IFRS 16 Leases, are explained below. The 
 application of the other aforementioned revisions did not have any material effects on the Conso-
lidated Financial Statements.

IFRS 16 Leases has been applied in the voestalpine Group since April 1, 2019, using the modified 
 retrospective method of initial application. Hence there was no need to adjust the previous year’s 
 figures. The new Standard combines the guidance on lease accounting and replaces IAS 17 as well 
as the associated Interpretations.

The new rules eliminate the prior distinction on the part of the lessee between finance and operating 
leases. Previous operating leases thus must be treated similarly to previous finance leases. 

The application of IFRS 16 thus had an impact on the net assets, financial position, and results of 
 operations of those voestalpine Group companies that were considered lessees under operating   
leases as of the first-time adoption date.

The voestalpine Group identified the capitalization of right-of-use assets and the corresponding  
lease liabilities as the most significant effect. As a result, instead of recognizing lease expenses on  
a straight-line basis as in the past, depreciation expenses for right-of-use assets and interest on  
lease liabilities are recognized. This leads to an improvement in EBITDA and EBIT as well as to a shift  
between cash flows from operating activities and financing activities.
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The voestalpine Group applies the following measurement choices and exemptions in connection with 
the initial application:

» The option to waive a reassessment of whether or not a contract is a lease as defined in IFRS 16 was 
exercised, provided the lease existed as of the initial application date; as a result, the definition of 
a lease pursuant to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 continues to apply to leases that existed prior to April 1, 2019.

» Upon first-time adoption, given lease liabilities were recognized at the present value of the remain-
ing lease payments, discounted using the respective incremental borrowing rate at the time of initial 
application; right-of-use assets were recognized in the same amount.

» A discount rate was applied to each lease portfolio.

» Upon first-time adoption, the measurement of provisions for onerous contracts was applied in lieu 
of a separate impairment test pursuant to IAS 36.

» At the transition date, leases with a residual term of up to 12 months were classified as short-term 
leases. 

The changes did not have significant effects on existent finance leases.
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The table below presents the effects of the initial application of IFRS 16 Leases on the opening state-
ment of financial position as of April 1, 2019:

CHANGE IN CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

03/31/2019 Continuation 
of existing  

finance lease

Adjustments
according to

IFRS 16

04/01/2019

Assets
Land, land rights and buildings 1,809.5 2,181.5

Thereof right-of-use assets 0.0 21.9 372.0 393.9

Plant and equipment 3,891.9 3,910.2

Thereof right-of-use assets 0.0 1.3 18.3 19.6

Fixtures and fittings 361.6 407.7

Thereof right-of-use assets 0.0 1.6 46.1 47.7

Total property, plant and equipment 6,580.2 24.8 436.4 7,016.6

Total assets 15,651.6 16,088.0

Equity and liabilities
Financial liabilities – non-current 2,661.8 3,054.8

Thereof non-current lease liabilities 7.4 393.0 400.4

Financial liabilities – current 1,142.3 1,185.7

Thereof current lease liabilities 7.9 43.4 51.3

Total equity and liabilities 15,651.6 436.4 16,088.0

In millions of euros
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The table below presents the reconciliation of the non-cancelable obligations under operating leases 
as of March 31, 2019, with the lease liabilities recognized in the opening statement of financial  position 
as of April 1, 2019:

As of March 31, 2019, obligations from non-cancelable operating leases 207.0
Less short-term leases –12.3

Less small-ticket leases –7.7

Plus adjustments due to extension, purchase, and termination options, and Other 362.2

Gross lease liabilities before discounting 549.1
Discounting using the incremental borrowing rate –112.8

Net lease liabilities as of April 1, 2019 436.4
Liabilities from finance leases as of March 31, 2019 15.3

Lease liabilities as of April 1, 2019 451.7

In millions of euros

Lease payments of EUR 549.1 million on leases previously classified as operating leases were 
 discounted using the incremental borrowing rate and recognized as lease liabilities at the result-
ing current value as of April 1, 2019. The average incremental borrowing rate used to this end as 
of the initial application date was 2.16%.

Many leases involving the voestalpine Group contain renewal and termination options, especially 
property leases. Accounting for these leases requires making material assessments as to the term of 
a given lease, because IFRS 16 also requires considering certain options during the lease term where 
it may be assumed with a reasonable degree of certainty that a renewal option will be exercised or 
that the termination option will not be exercised. In turn, this makes it necessary to weigh all circum-
stances arising from the potential lease term as they affect voestalpine, such as, in particular, finan-
cial incentives for entering into a longer lease term due to assets or large investments associated with 
the given lease, the operational significance of the leased property, or the cost of any alternatives.
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The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations had already been published as of the 
reporting date, but their application was not yet mandatory for the business year 2019/20 or they 
have not yet been adopted by the European Union:

Standard Content Effective date
according to IASB1

Framework,
amendments

Amendments to References to the  
Conceptual Framework

January 1, 2020

IFRS 3, amendments Definition of a Business January 1, 20202

IAS 1 and IAS 8,
amendments

Definition of Material January 1, 2020

IAS 1, amendments Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current January 1, 20202

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and 
IFRS 7, amendments

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform January 1, 2020

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 20212

IFRS 10 and IAS 28,
amendments

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor  
and its Associate or Joint Venture

Postponed by  
the IASB

1 These Standards are applicable to reporting periods beginning on or after the effective date.
2 Has not yet been endorsed by the EU.

These Standards—to the extent they have been adopted by the European Union—will not be  
adopted early by the Group. From today’s perspective, the new and revised Standards and Inter-
pretations are not expected to have any material effects on the voestalpine Group’s net assets,   
financial  position, and results of operations.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The annual financial statements of all fully consolidated entities are prepared based on uniform 
 accounting policies. For entities included using the equity method (associates and joint ventures),  local 
accounting policies and different reporting dates (see “Investments” appendix to the Notes) were 
maintained for time reasons and cost/benefit considerations if the relevant amounts were immaterial.

Upon initial consolidation, assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value 
as of the acquisition date. Any excess of the cost over the net of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed is recognized as goodwill. If the net of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds 
the cost, the difference is recognized in profit or loss in the acquisition period. The hidden reserves 
and/or hidden losses attributed to the non-controlling interests are also accounted for.

All intra-Group profits, receivables, and payables as well as income and expenses are eliminated.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Pursuant to IAS 21, annual financial statements prepared in foreign currencies that are included in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements are translated into euros using the functional currency  method. 
The relevant national currency is the functional currency in all cases because—in financial, economic, 
and organizational terms—these entities all run their businesses independently. Assets and liabilities 
are translated using the exchange rate on the reporting date. Income and expenses are translated 
using the average exchange rate for the business year.

Equity is translated using the historical exchange rate. Currency translation differences are recognized 
directly in equity in the currency translation reserve.

In the individual financial statements of consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions are trans-
lated into the functional currency of the given entity using the exchange rate on the transaction date. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from translation as of the transaction date and reporting 
date are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Currency exchange rates (ECB fixing) of key currencies have changed as follows:

USD GBP BRL SEK PLN 

Closing exchange rate
03/31/2019 1.1235 0.8583 4.3865 10.3980 4.3006

03/31/2020 1.0956 0.8864 5.7001 11.0613 4.5506

Average annual rate
2018/19 1.1579 0.8820 4.3799 10.3688 4.2917
2019/20 1.1113 0.8752 4.5727 10.6510 4.3033

UNCERTAINTIES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS requires manage-
ment to make accounting estimates and assumptions that may significantly affect the recognition 
and measurement of assets and liabilities, the recognition of other obligations as of the reporting 
date, and the recognition of income and expenses during the business year.

The global COVID-19 crisis and the resulting state of emergency dominated the last few weeks of the 
business year 2019/20.

In the business year just ended, the novel coronavirus and its direct effects forced the voestalpine 
Group into crisis mode within a very short time. This worldwide pandemic, as the World Health 
 Organization (WHO) has classified it, has led to a social, medical, and economic state of emergency 
that is without precedent in modern times and continues unabated. 
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In terms of both accounting and assessment, COVID-19 may impact many areas of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of voestalpine AG and/or increase uncertainties in accounting estimates and 
make assumptions more difficult.

» For example, the current economic situation might trigger reviews of the need to recognize impair-
ment losses and conduct impairment tests, especially in connection with units to which goodwill is 
allocated, cash-generating units to which no goodwill is allocated, and assets. See also Note 11. 
Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses.

» The COVID-19 crisis may trigger greater bad debt losses. As of March 31, 2020, however, no  material 
risks were identified in this connection. In this respect, see also chapter 23. Financial instruments.

» COVID-19 may affect revenue recognition. However, no facts have been identified for the business 
year just ended that could lead to adjustments in revenue recognition or to writedowns of existing 
contract assets. No financial difficulties were reported for the aerospace segment as of March 31, 
2020, despite the challenging situation, nor any order cancellations on the part of aircraft manu-
facturers.

» No idle capacity costs resulting from shortfalls in capacity utilization, production shutdowns, and 
supply chain interruptions will be recognized in connection with the measurement of inventories.  
See also Note B. Summary of Accounting Policies, section entitled “Inventories.”

» IFRS 16: voestalpine has reviewed whether the COVID-19 pandemic will affect the assessment of 
leases’ terms. As of March 31, 2020, this did not result in any major changes.

» As regards the setting-up of provisions, no material obligations or facts requiring the recognition of 
provisions have been identified on account of COVID-19.

» Given the current situation, a more detailed review of the capitalization of deferred tax assets from 
temporary differences or loss carryforwards was conducted as to the probability of income to be 
taxed in the future.

The following assumptions entail significant risks of triggering material adjustments of assets and 
 liabilities in future periods:

» Recoverability of assets
 The assessment of the recoverability of intangible assets, goodwill as well as property, plant and 

equipment is based on assumptions concerning the future. The determination of the recoverable 
amount in the course of an impairment test is based on several assumptions such as future net cash 
flows and discount rates. The net cash flows correspond to the figures in the most current business 
plan at the time the Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared. See B. Summary of Account-
ing Policies (the section entitled “Impairment testing of goodwill, other intangible assets, and   
property, plant and equipment”); as well as Note 9. Property, plant and equipment; Note 10. Good-
will and other intangible assets; and Note 11. Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses.
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» Recoverability of financial instruments
 Alternative actuarial models are used to measure the recoverability of financial instruments for  

which there is no active market. The parameters used to determine the fair values are based par-
tially on assumptions concerning the future. See B. Summary of Accounting Policies (the section  
entitled  “Financial instruments”) as well as Note 23. Financial instruments. 

» Determining lease terms and discount rates
 An assessment of the term of each and every lease and the discount rate to be applied is made to 

determine lease liabilities. The estimated term of a lease is based on the lease’s non-cancelable 
term. Lease periods comprising options to terminate or renew are included in the assessment if 
the non-exercise of termination options or the exercise of renewal options is deemed to be reason-
ably certain. This requires management to make a judgment. All facts and circumstances that 
 represent an economic incentive to exercise or not to exercise a given option must be considered. 
Following initial recognition, the lease term shall be reassessed if there is a significant event or a 
 significant change in circumstances that the company can control and that has an effect on its 
 decision whether to exercise or not to exercise the given option.

 The incremental borrowing rate in its capacity as a maturity-dependent, risk-free interest rate is  
used as the discount rate for measuring the lease liabilities, taking into account the respective  
currency and the company’s credit rating. This requires making an assessment when no observable 
interest rates are available (e.g., subsidiaries that do not engage in financial transactions) or  
when the  interest rates must be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the given lease  
(e.g., consideration of the repayment structure).

» Pensions and other employee obligations
The measurement of existent severance payment and pension obligations is based on assumptions 
regarding interest rates, the retirement age, life expectancy, and future salary/wage increases. See 
B. Summary of Accounting Policies (section entitled “Pensions and other employee obligations”)  
as well as Note 18. Pensions and other employee obligations.

» Assets and liabilities associated with acquisitions
 Acquisitions require making estimates in connection with the determination of the fair value of  

identified assets, liabilities, and contingent consideration. All available information on the circum-
stances as of the acquisition date is applied. The fair values of buildings and land are typically  
determined by external experts or intra-Group experts. Intangible assets are measured using  
appropriate valuation methods depending on the type of asset and the availability of information. 
These measurements are closely connected to assumptions about the future development of the 
estimated cash flows as well as the applied discount rates.

 Information on acquisitions made during the reporting period is reported under D. Acquisitions and 
other additions to the scope of consolidation.
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» Other provisions
 Other provisions for present obligations arising from past events, which lead to an outflow of  

resources embodying economic benefits, are stated at the amount that reflects the most prob-
able value based on reliable estimates. Provisions are discounted if the effect is material. Details 
concerning provisions follow from B. Summary of Accounting Policies (section entitled “Other 
 provisions”) as well as Note 19. Provisions.

» Income taxes
 Income tax expense represents the total of current tax expenses and deferred taxes. The current  

tax expense is determined based on the taxable income using the currently applicable tax rates. 
The deferred taxes are determined based on the respective local income tax rates. Future fixed  
tax rates are also considered in the deferral. The recognition and measurement of actual and 
deferred taxes is subject to numerous uncertainties.

 Given its international activities, the voestalpine Group is subject to different tax regulations in the 
respective tax jurisdictions. The tax items presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements are 
determined based on the relevant tax regulations and, because of their complexity, may be  
subject to different interpretations by taxpayers, for one, and local finance authorities, for another. 
Because varying interpretations of tax laws may lead to additional tax payments for past years  
as a result of comprehensive tax audits, they are included in the analysis based on manage-
ment’s assessment.

 Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be 
 available against which deductible differences and/or tax losses carried forward but not yet   
applied may be utilized. This assessment requires making assumptions regarding future taxable 
 income and thus is subject to uncertainties. It is made on the basis of the planning for a five-year 
period. Changes in future taxable income may result in lower or higher deferred tax assets.

 Further information follows from B. Summary of Accounting Policies (section entitled “Income taxes”) 
as well as Note 8. Income taxes and Note 13. Deferred taxes.

» Legal risks
 As an internationally active company, the voestalpine Group is exposed to legal risks. The outcome 

of present or future legal disputes is generally not predictable and may have a material effect on  
the Group’s net assets, financial position, and results of operations. In order to reliably assess poten-
tial obligations, management continually reviews the underlying information and assumptions;  
both internal and external legal counsel is used for further evaluation. Provisions are recognized  
to cover probable present obligations, including a reliable estimate of legal costs. The option to 
 record a contingent liability is considered if the future outflow of resources is not probable or if the 
company has no control over the confirmation of actual events.

 Both the estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The actual 
figures may differ from these assumptions and estimates if the stated parameters differ from report-
ing date expectations. Revisions are recognized through profit or loss in the period in which the 
 estimates are revised, and the assumptions are adjusted accordingly.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION
In the voestalpine Group, revenue is realized when a customer obtains control over goods or services. 
See the disclosures in Note 2. Operating Segments regarding the type of goods and services offered 
by the individual business segments. 

As a rule, revenue is recognized at the time the goods or services are delivered, taking into account 
the stipulated terms and conditions. This is generally the time at which risks and opportunities are 
transferred in accordance with the stipulated Incoterms. The payment terms typically are between 
30 and 90 days.

The transaction price corresponds to the contractually stipulated consideration, taking into account 
any variable components. Variable consideration is recognized only if it is highly probable that there 
will be no material revenue reversals in the future. 

Revenue from series products that satisfy the revenue recognition criteria of IFRS 15.35 (c) is recog-
nized over time. This mainly concerns products of the automotive and aerospace segments for  
which there are no alternative uses, because they are developed and produced specifically for a 
 customer based on the latter’s specific requirements and thus may generally not be used for any   
other purpose or where any alternative use would result in significant losses. Furthermore, a legally or 
contractually enforceable claim to payment of consideration, including a reasonable margin, applies 
to any components under construction as well as to finished goods, provided the company is not 
 responsible for any termination of the contract.

Where revenue is recognized over time, such recognition must be pro rated based on the ratio of the 
costs incurred to the estimated total costs. This method is the most reliable way to reflect progress in 
performance. Expected losses under a contract are recognized immediately. The cash flows are 
 obtained in accordance with the contractual arrangements. The payment terms typically are between 
30 and 90 days.

The claims of the voestalpine Group to consideration for completed performance not yet billed as of 
the reporting date are recognized as contract assets in trade and other receivables. The contract 
 liabilities presented in trade and other payables concern primarily consideration received from   
customers in advance for performance not yet delivered.

Investment grants are treated as deferred items and recognized as income over the useful life of the 
asset. Cost subsidies are recognized on an accrual basis, in keeping with the associated expenses. 
Government grants of EUR 27.3 million (2018/19: EUR 28.6 million) for capital expenditures, research 
and development, and promotion of job opportunities were recognized as income in the reporting 
period.
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RECOGNITION OF EXPENSES 
Operating expenses are recognized when goods or services are used or when the expense is incurred. 
In the business year 2019/20, expenses for research and development were EUR 174.4 million 
(2018/19: EUR 170.5 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impair-
ment losses.

The cost of self-constructed property, plant and equipment includes direct costs and appropriate 
portions of materials and indirect labor costs required for production as well as borrowing costs in 
case of qualifying assets. The capitalization date is the date from which expenditures for the asset 
and borrowing costs are incurred and activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or 
sale are undertaken.

Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life. Land is not subject 
to depreciation. Depreciation is based on the following rates for each asset category:

Buildings 2.0 – 20.0%
Plant and equipment 3.3 – 25.0%
Fixtures and fittings 5.0 – 20.0%

LEASES
The Group determines at lease inception whether a given lease satisfies the definition of a lease as 
per IFRS 16. This definition is applied to leases that are entered into on or after April 1, 2019.

As of the commencement date, the Group recognizes an asset for the right of use granted as well as 
a lease liability. The right of use is depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis. However, 
the right of use is depreciated over the asset’s economic life if a transfer of title is stipulated or if it is 
reasonably certain that a purchase option will be exercised. The right of use must also be tested for 
impairment.

For the most part, the following depreciation/amortization periods are applied to right-of-use assets:

Right-of-use assets related to land, land rights, and buildings 13 – 600 months
Right-of-use assets related to plant and equipment 13 – 72 months
Right-of-use assets related to fixtures and fittings 13 – 96 months

The lease liability is measured using the incremental borrowing rate, provided the interest rate under-
lying the lease cannot be readily determined. 
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In subsequent measurements, the lease liability is measured using the effective interest method and 
adjusted. The lease liability is remeasured if, for example, future lease payments will change due to 
changes in an index or interest rate, or if there is a change in the assessment regarding the exercise of 
a purchase, renewal, or termination option. The carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is  generally 
adjusted directly in equity subsequent to such remeasurement.

In the statement of financial position, the Group recognizes right-of-use assets, which do not satisfy 
the definition of investment property, in property, plant and equipment, and lease liabilities in finan-
cial liabilities.

The Group has elected the option not to determine a right-of-use asset or lease liability for leases with 
terms up to 12 months (short-term leases) and for leases where the underlying asset is of low value.  
In the voestalpine Group, leased assets whose cost does not exceed EUR 5,000 are considered low- 
value assets.

No separation is made with respect to contracts containing both lease and non-lease components; 
this does not apply to land and buildings, however.

IFRS 16 is not applied to intangible asset leases.

The Group does not act as a lessor.

LEASES – APPROACH PRIOR TO APRIL 1, 2019
Leased assets are treated as finance leases when they are considered asset purchases subject to  
long-term financing in economic terms. All other leased assets are classified as operating leases. Lease 
payments under operating leases are shown as expenses in the consolidated income statement.

Finance leases are initially recognized as Group assets at fair value or the lower present value of  
the minimum lease payments upon inception of the lease. The corresponding liabilities to the lessors 
are recognized in financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Assets from finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful life on the same basis as own 
assets or over the term of the relevant lease, whichever is shorter. The Group does not act as a lessor.

GOODWILL
All acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method. Goodwill arises from the acquisition of 
subsidiaries and equity investments in associates and joint ventures.
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Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (CGUs) or groups of cash generating units and,  
pursuant to IFRS 3, is not amortized, but tested for impairment at least annually as well as addition-
ally if circumstances indicate possible impairment. The carrying amount of investments in associates 
and joint ventures also includes the carrying amount of goodwill.

Negative goodwill arising from an acquisition is immediately recognized as income.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the goodwill associated with the subsidiary is included in the determina-
tion of the profit or loss on disposal based on the relative value pursuant to IAS 36.86.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Expenses for research activities that are undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or 
technical insights are immediately recognized as an expense. Pursuant to IAS 38.57, development 
expenditure is capitalized from the date on which the relevant criteria are satisfied. This means that 
the expenses incurred are not capitalized subsequently if all of the above conditions are met only at 
a later date. Expenditures for internally generated goodwill and brands are immediately recognized 
as an expense.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. In 
the case of a business combination, the fair value as of the acquisition date is the acquisition cost. 
Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. The 
 maximum useful life based on previous transactions is as follows:

Backlog of orders 1 year
Customer relations 15 years
Technology 10 years
Software 10 years

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF CASH GENERATING UNITS WITH AND  
WITHOUT GOODWILL AND OF OTHER ASSETS
CGUs or groups of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated and other intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually as well as additionally if circum-
stances indicate possible impairment. All other assets and CGUs are tested for impairment if there  
are any indications of impairment. Impairment testing is generally based on the value in use approach.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels at which cash flows  
are independently generated (CGUs). Goodwill is allocated to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are 
expected to benefit from synergies of the related acquisition, and this must be on the lowest level  
at which the goodwill in question is monitored for internal management purposes.
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An impairment loss is recognized at the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset or cash 
generating unit (CGU) exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 
fair value less cost to sell and the value in use. Impairment losses recognized for CGUs or groups of 
CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are applied first against the carrying amount of  
the goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss reduces the carrying amounts of the assets of the  
CGU or groups of CGUs on a pro rata basis. If the goodwill impairment test is carried out for a group 
of CGUs and if this results in an impairment, the individual CGUs included in this group are also  
tested for impairment and any resulting impairment of assets is recognized at this level first. Sub-
sequently, this is  followed by another impairment test for the CGUs at the Group level. 

If there is any indication that an impairment loss recognized for an asset, a CGU, or a group of CGUs 
(excluding goodwill) in earlier periods no longer exists or may have declined, the recoverable amount 
must be estimated and then recognized (reversal of impairment). In this respect, see Note 11. Impair-
ment losses and reversal of impairment losses.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IFRS 9 contains three measurement categories which—with the exception of a few measurement  
choices—must always be considered mandatory: 
 
» Measured at amortized cost (Amortized Cost, AC);

» Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  
(Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income, FVOCI); and 

» Measured at fair value through profit or loss (Fair Value through Profit or Loss, FVTPL). 

At this time, measurement at FVOCI is not applied in the voestalpine Group.
 
Other financial assets
The other financial assets include non-current receivables and loans that are measured at amortized 
cost. Equity instruments held (especially equity investments) are measured at FVTPL, because the   
option to elect measurement at FVOCI was not utilized.

All other current and non-current financial assets (particularly securities) must be measured at FVTPL,  
because they are either allocated to a business model oriented toward active purchases and sales  
or do not satisfy the cash flow requirement (cash flows at specified dates comprising solely pay-
ments of interest and principal).

Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are always recognized at amortized cost. Identifiable risks are mainly 
covered by buying credit insurance. Interest-free or low-interest receivables with a remaining term of 
more than one year are recognized at their discounted present value. Sold receivables are de-
recognized in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 (see Note 28. Disclosures of transactions not 
recognized in the statement of financial position).
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Trade receivables held for sale under an existent factoring agreement are measured at FVTPL,  
because they are allocated to the “sale” business model.

Accruals and deferrals, respectively, are reported under other receivables and other liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at banks, and checks and are carried at  
amortized cost.

Loss allowance 
The voestalpine Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets  
measured at amortized cost and on contract assets (portfolio loss allowance, stage 1 and stage 2). 
The Group applies the simplified approach to trade receivables and contract assets, pursuant to 
which any impairment determined with respect to such financial assets must, under certain condi-
tions, equal the lifetime expected credit losses. 

Historical data derived from actual historical credit losses in the past five years are used as the basis 
for the estimated expected credit losses. Differences between the economic conditions at the time 
the historical data were collected, the current conditions, and the Group’s view of the economic  
conditions over the expected maturities of the receivables must be considered. There is no significant 
concentration of default risks, given the existent credit insurances and a diversified customer port-
folio that is dominated by very good to good credit ratings. Loss allowances on an individual basis 
are recognized for receivables with impaired credit ratings (stage 3). Note 23. Financial instruments 
contains additional information on impairment.

Derivative financial instruments 
The voestalpine Group uses derivative financial instruments exclusively for the purpose of hedging 
the  interest rate, foreign currency, and raw materials price risks. Derivative financial instruments are  
carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Hedge accounting as defined in IFRS 9 is used for  
some of the Group’s derivative financial instruments. Consequently, gains or losses resulting from 
changes in the value of derivative financial instruments are recognized either in profit or loss or in 
 other comprehensive income (for the effective portion of a cash flow hedge). Positive fair values  
from derivative financial instruments are shown in trade and other receivables. Negative fair values 
from derivative financial instruments are shown in trade and other payables.
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The derivative transactions are marked to market daily by determining the value that would be 
 realized if the hedging position were closed out (liquidation method). Observable currency exchange 
rates and raw materials prices as well as interest rates are the inputs for determining the fair values. 
The fair values are calculated based on the inputs using generally accepted actuarial formulas.

Unrealized profits or losses from hedged transactions are treated as follows:

» If the hedged asset or liability has already been recognized in the statement of financial position or 
if an obligation not recognized in the statement of financial position is hedged, the unrealized 
 profits and losses from the hedged transaction are recognized through profit or loss. At the same 
time, the hedged item is also measured at fair value, regardless of the initial valuation method  
used. Any resulting unrealized profits and losses are offset against the unrealized results of the 
hedged transaction in the income statement so that, in sum, only the ineffective portion of the 
hedged transaction is recognized in profit or loss for the period (fair value hedges).

» If a future transaction is hedged, the effective portion of the unrealized profits and losses accumu-
lated up to the reporting date is recognized in other comprehensive income. Ineffective portions are 
recognized through profit or loss. If the transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset 
or a liability in the statement of financial position, the amount recognized in other comprehensive 
income is considered in the determination of the carrying amount of this item. Otherwise, the amount 
reported in other comprehensive income is recognized through profit or loss in keeping with the 
 effectiveness of the future transaction or existent obligation (cash flow hedges). 

Liabilities 
Liabilities (except liabilities from derivative financial instruments) are recognized at amortized cost.

OTHER EQUITY INVESTMENTS
Subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates that are not included in these Consolidated Financial 
 Statements by way of full consolidation or the equity method are recognized in other financial assets 
and other equity investments. These other assets are measured at amortized cost.

INCOME TAXES
Income tax expense represents the total of current tax expenses and deferred taxes. The current tax 
expense is determined based on the taxable income using the currently applicable tax rates.

Pursuant to IAS 12, all temporary differences between the income tax base and the Consolidated 
 Financial Statements are included in deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets on unused tax loss carry-
forwards are recognized to the extent that sufficient taxable (deferred) temporary differences  
between carrying amounts are available or to the extent that on the basis of the planning sufficient 
taxable profit will be available against which the tax loss carryforwards can be offset.
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In accordance with IAS 12.39 and IAS 12.44, deferred taxes arising on differences resulting from 
 investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures are generally not recognized. Deferred tax 
liabilities are recognized for planned dividend payments subject to withholding tax.

Deferred taxes are determined based on the respective local income tax rates. Future fixed tax rates 
are also considered in the deferral. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when  
they relate to the same tax authority and when there is a claim to offsetting.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and the net realizable value. The net realizable value is 
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and sale. In exceptional cases, the  
replacement cost of raw materials and supplies may serve as the basis of measurement in accordance 
with IAS 2.32.

The cost of inventories of the same type is determined using the weighted average price method or a 
similar method. The cost includes directly attributable costs and all pro-rated material and production 
overheads based on normal capacity utilization. Borrowing costs, general administrative expenses, 
and distribution costs are not capitalized.

EMISSION CERTIFICATES
Free certificates are measured at zero cost over the entire holding period, as the rights have been  
allocated free of charge. Purchased emission certificates are recognized in current assets at their  
actual cost and measured at fair value as of the reporting date (limited by the actual cost). 

In case of any under-allocation, amounts for CO2 emission certificates are included in other provisions. 
The measurement is based on the rate prevailing on the reporting date (or the carrying amount) of 
the relevant certificates.
 
PENSIONS AND OTHER EMPLOYEE OBLIGATIONS
Pensions and other employee obligations include provisions for severance payments, pensions, and 
long-service bonuses and are recognized in accordance with IAS 19 using the projected unit credit 
method.

Actuarial gains and losses from severance and pension provisions are recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income in the year in which they are incurred. Actuarial gains and losses from provi-
sions for long-service bonuses are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Severance obligations
Employees of Austrian entities whose employment started before January 1, 2003, are entitled to  
severance payment if their employment contract is terminated by the employer or if they retire. The 
amount to be paid depends on the number of years of service and the employee’s salary or wage at 
the time employment ends. A contribution-based system is provided for employees whose employ-
ment started after December 31, 2002. The contributions to external employee pension funds are 
recognized as expenses.

Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans do not entail further obligations on the company’s part once the  premiums 
have been paid to the managing pension fund or insurance company.

Defined benefit plans
Under defined benefit plans, the company promises a given employee that they will be paid a   
pension in a specified amount. The pension payments begin upon retirement (or disability or death) 
and end upon the death of the former employee (or that of their survivors). Widow’s and widower’s 
pensions (equivalent to between 50% and 75% of the old age pension) are paid to the surviving 
spouse until their death or remarriage. Orphan’s pensions (equivalent to between 10% and 20% of 
the old age pension) are paid to dependent children until the completion of their education, but at 
most up to the age of 27.

Longevity thus is the central risk to the Group under the defined benefit pension plans. All measure-
ments are based on the most recent mortality tables. Given a relative decrease or increase of 10% in 
mortality, the defined benefit obligation (DBO) of pensions changes by +4.0% or –3.6% as of the 
 reporting date. Other risks such as the risk of rising medical costs do not materially affect the scope 
of the obligation.

Almost all of the Group’s pension obligations concern claims that have already vested.

Austria
The amount of the pension is based either on a certain percentage of the final salary depending on 
the years of service or on a fixed, valorized amount per year of service. The majority of the obligations 
under defined benefit plans is transferred to a pension fund, but the liability for any shortfalls rests 
with the company.
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Germany
There are different pension schemes in Germany, whose benefit rules may be described as follows:

» A certain percentage of the final salary depending on the years of service;
» A rising percentage of a fixed target pension depending on the years of service;
» A stipulated, fixed pension amount;
» A fixed, valorized amount per year of service that is linked to the average salary in the company;
» A fixed, valorized amount per year of service.

A small part of the pensions are financed by insurance companies, but liability for the obligations 
themselves rests with the given companies.

In all countries with significant defined benefit plan obligations, the employee benefits are determined 
based on the following parameters:

2018/19 2019/20

Interest rate (%) 1.50 1.50
Salary/wage increases (%)1 3.00 3.00
Pension benefit increases (%)1 2.25 2.25

Retirement age men/women
Austria max. 62 years max. 62 years
Germany 63 – 67 years 63 – 67 years

Mortality tables
Austria AVÖ 2018-P AVÖ 2018-P
Germany Heubeck- 

Richttafeln 2018 G
Heubeck- 

Richttafeln 2018 G

1 Only salary-dependent and/or value-guaranteed commitments are recognized.

Net interest expenses resulting from employee benefits are included under finance costs in the 
 consolidated income statement.
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Long-service bonus obligations
In most of the Group’s Austrian companies, employees are entitled to payment of a long-service  
 bonus, which is based either on a collective agreement or a provision in a works agreement. This is a 
 one-time payment that is made when the respective service anniversary has been reached;  
depending on the length of service, the bonus generally equates to between one and three monthly 
salaries.

OTHER PROVISIONS
Other provisions related to present obligations arising from past events, which lead to an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits, are stated at the amount that reflects the most probable 
value based on a reliable estimate. Provisions are discounted where the effect is material.

The assumptions underlying the provisions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The actual figures may 
deviate from the assumptions if the underlying parameters as of the reporting date have not devel-
oped as expected. As soon as better information is available, changes are recognized through  
profit or loss and the assumptions are adjusted accordingly.

Note that we are invoking the safeguard clause under IAS 37.92, pursuant to which information on 
provisions is not disclosed if doing so could seriously and adversely impact the company’s interests.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contingent liabilities are present obligations arising from past events (where it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation) or possible obligations arising from past 
events (whose existence or non-existence depends on less certain future events that the company 
cannot control in full). A contingent liability must also be recognized if in extremely rare cases, an  
existent liability cannot be recognized in the statement of financial position as a provision because 
the liability cannot be reliably estimated.

As regards possible obligations, note that pursuant to IAS 37.92 information on contingent  liabilities 
is not disclosed if doing so could seriously and adversely impact the company’s interests.
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EMPLOYEE SHAREHOLDING SCHEME
The employee shareholding scheme of the Group’s Austrian companies is based on the appropriation 
of a portion of employees’ salary and wage increases under collective bargaining agreements over 
several business years. The business year 2000/01 was the first time employees were granted  
voestalpine AG shares in return for a reduction by 1% of their salary or wage increase.

In each of the business years 2002/03, 2003/04, 2005/06, 2007/08, 2008/09, 2014/15, and 2018/19, 
between 0.3 percentage points and 0.5 percentage points of the increases under collective agree-
ments were used to provide voestalpine AG shares to employees. The actual amount follows from  
the monthly contributions as of November 1 in each of 2002, 2003, 2005, 2007, 2008, 2014, and 
2018, applying an annual increase of 3.5%. In the business years 2012/13, 2013/14, 2016/17,  
and 2017/18, additional contributions of between 0.27 percentage points and 0.43 percentage  
points of the pay increases for 2012, 2013, 2016, and 2017, respectively, under collective agree-
ments were used for the shareholding scheme for those Austrian Group companies that did not  
participate in the employee shareholding scheme until a later date.

The Works Council and each company enter into an agreement to implement the Austrian employee 
shareholding scheme. Shares are acquired by voestalpine Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung  
(a private foundation that manages the company’s employee shareholding scheme), which trans-
fers the shares to employees according to the wages and salaries they have waived. The value of  
the consideration provided is independent of share price fluctuations. Therefore, IFRS 2 does not 
 apply to the allocation of shares based on collective bargaining agreements that stipulate lower   
salary or wage increases.

An international participation model that was developed for Group companies outside Austria was  
initially implemented in the business year 2009/10 in several companies in Great Britain and  
Germany. Due to the highly positive experience gained in these pilot projects, the model was  
expanded in these two countries and introduced step by step in the Netherlands, in Poland, in  
Belgium, in the Czech Republic, in Italy, in Switzerland, in Romania, in Sweden, and in Spain in the  
subsequent business years. In the business year 2019/20, a total of 97 companies in these 11 coun-
tries participated in the international employee shareholding scheme.

As of March 31, 2020, the voestalpine Mitarbeiterbeteiligung Privatstiftung held approximately  
12.9% (March 31, 2019: 13.4%) of voestalpine AG’s shares for employees. In addition, active and  
former employees of voestalpine hold approximately 1.9% (March 31, 2019: 1.4%) of the shares of  
voestalpine AG, the voting rights of which are exercised by the foundation. On the whole, therefore,  
as of March 31, 2020, the voting rights of 14.8% (March 31, 2019: 14.8%) of the share capital of  
voestalpine AG are bundled in the foundation.
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C. SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 

The consolidated Group (see the “Investments” appendix to the Notes) is defined in accordance with 
IFRS requirements. In addition to the annual financial statements of voestalpine AG, the Consolidated 
Financial Statements also include the financial statements of entities controlled by voestalpine AG 
(and its subsidiaries). Entities controlled by voestalpine AG that are not included in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of voestalpine AG are negligible, both individually and collectively. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the voestalpine Group has power 
over the investee, is exposed to fluctuating returns on its investment, and has the ability to use its 
 power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor`s returns. The annual financial statements 
of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of the point in time at which 
the Group acquires control over the subsidiary up to the point in time at which the Group ceases to 
exercise control over the subsidiary. 

Associates are entities over which the voestalpine Group has significant influence, because it partici-
pates in the entities’ financial and operating policy decisions, but the decision-making processes  
are not controlled nor jointly managed. Joint ventures are joint arrangements in which partner 
 companies (the voestalpine Group and one or more partners) exercise joint control over the arrange-
ment and possess rights to the entity’s net assets. The annual financial statements of associates and 
joint ventures are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements using the equity method  
from the acquisition date until the disposal date. The Group’s associates and joint ventures are listed 
in the “Investments” appendix to the Notes.

CHANGES IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 
The scope of consolidation changed as follows during the past business year:

Full consolidation Equity method

As of April 1, 2019 281 9
Additions from acquisitions 2 1
Change in the consolidation method  
and incorporation
 Additions 2
 Disposals
Reorganizations –4
Divestments or disposals –2
As of March 31, 2020 279 10
 Of which foreign companies 225 4
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The following entities were deconsolidated during the business year 2019/20:

Name of entity Date of
deconsolidation 

Full consolidation in the business year 2018/19
Compania de Industria y Comercio, S.A. de C.V. February 12, 2020
V54 Fonds March 31, 2020

 Reorganizations
 IS Intersteel Stahlhandel GmbH April 1, 2019
 voestalpine ME Beteiligung GmbH April 1, 2019
 voestalpine Metal Engineering Verwaltung GmbH April 1, 2019
 voestalpine Wire Technology GmbH April 1, 2019

All shares were sold and deconsolidated as of the close of the past business year in connection  
with the dissolution of the securities fund of funds, V54. Its effects on the Consolidated Financial  
Statements are deemed immaterial.

The sale of the Mexican subsidiary of voestalpine Precision Strip, Compania de Industria y Comercio, 
S.A. de C.V., was completed on February 12, 2020. Sales of special steel for special applications in  
the Mexican market are the company’s core business. The sale is rooted in the voestalpine Group’s 
consistent pursuit of its strategic orientation on processed products. The aforementioned Mexican 
company generated revenue of around EUR 3.6 million in the business year 2018/19 and has  
19 employees.

The disposal had the following effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements:

Recognized values

Non-current assets 0.0
Current assets 1.7
Non-current liabilities 0.0
Current liabilities –0.8
Net assets 0.9
Result from the loss of control –0.4
Consideration received 0.5
Portion of selling price not yet paid –0.5
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of –0.1
Net cash outflow –0.1

 
In millions of euros
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D. ACQUISITIONS AND OTHER ADDITIONS  
TO THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION  

The following entities were included in the Consolidated Financial Statements for the first time in the 
business year 2019/20:

Name of entity Interest in % Date of initial 
consolidation

Full consolidation
Bohlasia Steels Sdn. Bhd. 80.000% April 01, 2019
voestalpine Böhler Welding Selco Invest S.R.L. 90.000% June 18, 2019
voestalpine Railway Systems France SAS 100.000% December 18, 2019
voestalpine Böhler Welding Selco S.r.l. 100.000% February 28, 2020

At-equity consolidation
SBI GmbH 24.900% August 24, 2019

The additions of fully consolidated entities to the scope of consolidation include two acquisitions,  
one newly established entity, and the consolidation of one entity not previously included in the 
 Consolidated Financial Statements.

In accordance with IFRS 3, acquired companies are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
at the fair value carried forward of the acquired assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities determined 
as of the acquisition date, taking into account depreciation, amortization, and impairment as 
 appropriate. The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests is determined based on the fair 
 values carried forward for the assets and liabilities acquired. As regards the first-time full consolida-
tions pursuant to IFRS 3, note that due to time constraints and/or the fact that not all valuations have 
been completed, the following items shall be considered provisional: property, plant and equipment; 
intangible assets as well as inventories and provisions—and consequently goodwill as well.

The increase in majority interests is treated as a transaction between owners. The difference between 
the acquisition costs of additional shares and the pro-rated carrying amount of the non-controlling 
interests is recognized directly in equity. In the reporting period, EUR 4.8 million (2018/19: EUR 2.4 mil-
lion) was paid for the acquisition of non-controlling interests or provisions were formed for the pay-
ment thereof. Non-controlling interests in the amount of EUR 1.1 million (2018/19: EUR 2.4 million) 
were derecognized and the remaining amount of EUR 5.9 million (2018/19: EUR 0.0 million) was  
recognized directly in equity.

Put options granted to non-controlling shareholders in exchange for their shares in Group companies 
are recognized in the statement of financial position as liabilities stated at fair value. If, in individual 
cases, the risks and rewards associated with ownership of a non-controlling interest had already been 
transferred at the time the majority interest was acquired, the assumption is that 100% of the entity 
was acquired. If, however, the risks and rewards are not transferred, the non-controlling interests  
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continue to be shown in equity. The liability is covered by a direct transfer from retained earnings  
with no effect on profit or loss (double credit approach). The subsequent fair value measurement is  
recognized through profit or loss. 

The liabilities for outstanding put options as of March 31, 2020, are EUR 9.5 million (March 31, 2019: 
EUR 6.4 million). The discounted cash flow method is applied for valuation purposes, taking the  
contractual maximum limits into account. The medium-term business plan and the discount rate, in 
particular, are some of the input factors in the discounted cash flow method.

On December 18, 2019, voestalpine Railway Systems GmbH acquired 100% of the shares of Société 
d’Equipement Industriel.Lietaert, SASU, from a French company, La Ferroviaire de la Brie SAS, 
 Rozay-en-Brie, France. The acquisition serves to enable voestalpine to penetrate the railway market 
in the Paris metropolitan area, where its footprint so far has been limited to minor and niche activities. 
From now on, the acquired company will be known as voestalpine Railway Systems France SAS.

On February 28, 2020, voestalpine Böhler Welding Group GmbH acquired 88.9% of the shares of 
 Selco S.r.l., an Italian company, and the remaining 11.1% by way of a firmly agreed put option. This 
expansion of voestalpine Böhler Welding’s portfolio by welding machinery will enable the company to 
offer not only comprehensive solutions in the welding industry, but also a perfectly coordinated 
 combination of welding consumables and welding equipment. From now on, the acquired company 
will be known as voestalpine Böhler Welding Selco S.r.l.

These acquisitions have the following impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements:

Recognized values

Non-current assets 8.7
Current assets 11.2
Non-current liabilities –7.0
Current liabilities –6.7
Net assets 6.2
Goodwill and negative goodwill 2.3
Acquisition costs 8.5
Cash and cash equivalents acquired –1.5
Put option –0.9
Loan acquired 4.5
Net cash outflow 10.6

 
In millions of euros

The above table contains negative goodwill of EUR 0.3 million from the acquisition of voestalpine 
Böhler Welding Selco S.r.l., which was recognized in total in other operating income. The acquisition 
of voestalpine Railway Systems France SAS gives rise to goodwill of EUR 2.6 million resulting from the 
company’s earnings potential (which, according to IFRS rules, may not be allocated to items that can 
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be capitalized individually), in particular, improved access for the Group to the railway market in France 
and Francophone territories (especially in North Africa). This goodwill is allocated to the goodwill- 
carrying Railway Systems business unit. It is not expected that portions of the recognized goodwill are 
deductible for corporate tax purposes.

Since their initial consolidation, the acquisitions have contributed revenue of EUR 1.1 million to con-
solidated revenue. Their share in the Group’s profit after tax for the same period was EUR –0.3 million. 
The reported consolidated revenue would have been EUR 13.2 million higher and the reported Group’s 
profit after tax would have been EUR –0.1 million higher if the acquisitions had been consolidated as 
of April 1, 2019.

As part of the first-time full consolidation of voestalpine Böhler Welding Selco S.r.l. and voestalpine 
Railway Systems France SAS, fair values for trade receivables of EUR 3.2 million (gross carrying amount: 
EUR 3.2 million), tax assets of EUR 0.1 million, and for other receivables of EUR 0.5 million (gross 
 carrying amount: EUR 0.5 million) were taken over. Receivables that are probably uncollectible are 
considered immaterial.

In the current reporting period, EUR 1.4 million were paid for earlier acquisitions made in accordance 
with IFRS 3.
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E. SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Name of the subsidiary Domicile 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

voestalpine Tubulars  
GmbH & Co KG Kindberg, Austria

Proportion of equity interests 49.8875% 49.8875%
Proportion of equity interests held by 
non-controlling interests 50.1125% 50.1125%

CNTT Chinese New Turnout  
Technologies Co., Ltd. Qinhuangdao, China

Proportion of equity interests 50.0000% 50.0000%
Proportion of equity interests held by 
non-controlling interests 50.0000% 50.0000%

In the reporting period, the total of all non-controlling interests is EUR 136.7 million (March 31, 2019: 
EUR 165.8 million), of which EUR 63.6 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 87.7 million) is attributable to 
 voestalpine Tubulars GmbH & Co KG and EUR 29.9 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 32.5 million) is 
 attributable to CNTT Chinese New Turnout Technologies Co., Ltd. The remaining non-controlling   
interests, considered individually, may be considered immaterial to the Group.

Summarized financial information for each subsidiary with non-controlling interests that are material 
to the Group is shown below. The figures correspond to the amounts prior to the elimination of 
 intra-Group transactions.

SUMMARIZED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

voestalpine Tubulars  
GmbH & Co KG

CNTT Chinese New Turnout 
Technologies Co., Ltd. 

03/31/2019 03/31/2020 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Non-current assets 122.9 120.2 13.1 14.8
Current assets 173.0 134.1 102.3 97.6
Non-current liabilities 32.6 29.7 3.0 1.9
Current liabilities 134.8 116.4 47.8 50.7
Net assets (100%) 128.5 108.2 64.6 59.8

 
In millions of euros
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SUMMARIZED INCOME STATEMENT

voestalpine Tubulars  
GmbH & Co KG

CNTT Chinese New Turnout 
Technologies Co., Ltd. 

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Revenue 534.3 380.5 71.7 53.2
EBIT 13.6 –15.9 25.6 17.4
Profit after tax 10.8 –17.9 21.0 15.2

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 5.4 –8.9 10.5 7.6
Non-controlling interests 5.4 –9.0 10.5 7.6

Dividends paid to  
non-controlling interests 0.0 1.7 14.2 9.0

 
In millions of euros

SUMMARIZED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

voestalpine Tubulars  
GmbH & Co KG

CNTT Chinese New Turnout 
Technologies Co., Ltd. 

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Cash flows from operating activities 21.9 9.6 23.8 21.5
Cash flows from investing activities –16.5 –12.6 –1.9 –2.4

Thereof additions to/divestments  
of other financial assets 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Cash flows from financing activities –5.4 2.8 –17.2 –19.4
Net decrease/increase in cash and  
cash equivalents 0.0 –0.1 4.7 –0.3

 
In millions of euros
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F. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

SHARES IN IMMATERIAL JOINT VENTURES
Profits from the joint ventures, which are individually immaterial to voestalpine’s Consolidated  Financial 
Statements, are included using the equity method. Interests held are presented in the “Investments” 
appendix to the Notes. In each case, this information relates to the interests of the voestalpine Group 
in immaterial joint ventures and is broken down as follows:

2018/19 2019/20

Group share of
Profit after tax 0.7 0.8
Other comprehensive income 0.1 –0.1
Comprehensive income 0.8 0.7

Carrying amount immaterial joint ventures 4.5 4.5

In millions of euros

voestalpine Giesserei Linz GmbH holds an interest of 51.0% in Jiaxing NYC Industrial Co., Ltd. The  
entity’s Articles of Incorporation require at least one vote from the other partner for all material  
decisions (budget, investments). It is assumed, therefore, that control is not exercised over the entity 
despite the 51.0% interest.
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SHARES IN IMMATERIAL ASSOCIATES
Profits from associates that are individually immaterial to the voestalpine Consolidated Financial 
Statements are included using the equity method. This information relates to the interests of the  
voestalpine Group in associates and is broken down as follows:

2018/19 2019/20

Group share of
Profit after tax 13.2 10.1
Other comprehensive income 1.0 –1.0
Comprehensive income 14.2 9.1

Carrying amount immaterial associates 119.8 123.1

In millions of euros

Associates and the interests in them are presented in the “Investments” appendix to the Notes.
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G. EXPLANATIONS AND OTHER DISCLOSURES

1. REVENUE
The revenue stems solely from contracts with customers as defined in IFRS 15 (Revenue from  Contracts 
with Customers) and includes all revenue generated through the voestalpine Group’s ordinary 
 business. 

In keeping with IFRS 15.121, no disclosures are made with respect to the remaining performance 
obligations as of March 31, 2020, because all performance obligations have an expected initial 
term of one year or less. 
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The table below contains information on the breakdown of the external revenue of the voestalpine  
Group by region and industry for the business years 2019/20 and 2018/19:

REVENUE BY REGION

Steel  
Division

High Performance  
Metals Division

Metal Engineering 
Division

Metal Forming 
Division Other Total Group

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

European Union (without Austria)1 2,866.6 2,755.6 1,409.4 1,213.5 1,454.9 1,372.1 1,806.8 1,658.3 7.6 2.6 7,545.2 7,002.1

Austria 495.1 464.6 136.4 110.2 208.1 201.0 120.8 104.2 3.6 3.6 964.0 883.7

USMCA 518.2 484.3 472.6 449.9 642.8 494.3 548.5 593.9 0.2 0.1 2,182.3 2,022.5

Asia 146.2 118.7 546.2 517.6 345.0 329.3 79.5 126.7 0.1 0.6 1,117.0 1,092.9

South America 91.9 28.6 200.9 230.1 64.6 56.7 76.7 75.4 0.1 0.0 434.2 390.7

Rest of world1 346.8 294.2 317.2 334.8 389.3 450.3 264.7 246.1 0.0 0.0 1,318.0 1,325.4

Total revenue by region 4,464.8 4,146.0 3,082.7 2,856.0 3,104.6 2,903.8 2,897.0 2,804.6 11.6 6.8 13,560.7 12,717.2

1 The revenue figures for Great Britain for both the current period and the comparative period were reclassified  
 from “European Union (without Austria)” to “Rest of world”. In millions of euros

REVENUE BY INDUSTRY

Steel  
Division

High Performance  
Metals Division

Metal Engineering 
Division

Metal Forming 
Division Other Total Group

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Automotive 1,645.1 1,548.7 879.8 705.6 487.5 392.9 1,575.1 1,587.2 0.0 0.0 4,587.5 4,234.4

Energy 843.9 602.3 394.8 479.5 707.6 593.7 40.4 46.5 0.0 0.0 1,986.7 1,722.0

Railway systems 9.0 9.3 9.8 14.0 1,415.9 1,458.3 3.9 1.9 0.0 0.0 1,438.6 1,483.5

Building/Construction 385.1 390.5 111.4 93.0 92.1 77.6 639.7 634.2 0.0 0.0 1,228.3 1,195.4

Mechanical engineering 235.5 226.5 599.1 593.2 143.4 143.0 255.2 220.9 0.0 0.0 1,233.2 1,183.6

White goods/Consumer goods 144.0 129.0 372.8 322.1 41.9 30.1 115.2 110.7 0.0 0.0 673.9 591.9

Aerospace 0.0 0.0 368.1 391.5 0.0 0.0 20.7 25.2 0.0 0.0 388.8 416.7

Other 1,202.2 1,239.7 346.9 257.0 216.2 208.3 246.8 177.9 11.6 6.8 2,023.7 1,889.7

Total revenue by industry 4,464.8 4,146.0 3,082.7 2,856.0 3,104.6 2,903.8 2,897.0 2,804.6 11.6 6.8 13,560.7 12,717.2

In millions of euros
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The table below contains information on the breakdown of the external revenue of the voestalpine  
Group by region and industry for the business years 2019/20 and 2018/19:

REVENUE BY REGION

Steel  
Division

High Performance  
Metals Division

Metal Engineering 
Division

Metal Forming 
Division Other Total Group

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

European Union (without Austria)1 2,866.6 2,755.6 1,409.4 1,213.5 1,454.9 1,372.1 1,806.8 1,658.3 7.6 2.6 7,545.2 7,002.1

Austria 495.1 464.6 136.4 110.2 208.1 201.0 120.8 104.2 3.6 3.6 964.0 883.7

USMCA 518.2 484.3 472.6 449.9 642.8 494.3 548.5 593.9 0.2 0.1 2,182.3 2,022.5

Asia 146.2 118.7 546.2 517.6 345.0 329.3 79.5 126.7 0.1 0.6 1,117.0 1,092.9

South America 91.9 28.6 200.9 230.1 64.6 56.7 76.7 75.4 0.1 0.0 434.2 390.7

Rest of world1 346.8 294.2 317.2 334.8 389.3 450.3 264.7 246.1 0.0 0.0 1,318.0 1,325.4

Total revenue by region 4,464.8 4,146.0 3,082.7 2,856.0 3,104.6 2,903.8 2,897.0 2,804.6 11.6 6.8 13,560.7 12,717.2

1 The revenue figures for Great Britain for both the current period and the comparative period were reclassified  
 from “European Union (without Austria)” to “Rest of world”. In millions of euros

REVENUE BY INDUSTRY

Steel  
Division

High Performance  
Metals Division

Metal Engineering 
Division

Metal Forming 
Division Other Total Group

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Automotive 1,645.1 1,548.7 879.8 705.6 487.5 392.9 1,575.1 1,587.2 0.0 0.0 4,587.5 4,234.4

Energy 843.9 602.3 394.8 479.5 707.6 593.7 40.4 46.5 0.0 0.0 1,986.7 1,722.0

Railway systems 9.0 9.3 9.8 14.0 1,415.9 1,458.3 3.9 1.9 0.0 0.0 1,438.6 1,483.5

Building/Construction 385.1 390.5 111.4 93.0 92.1 77.6 639.7 634.2 0.0 0.0 1,228.3 1,195.4

Mechanical engineering 235.5 226.5 599.1 593.2 143.4 143.0 255.2 220.9 0.0 0.0 1,233.2 1,183.6

White goods/Consumer goods 144.0 129.0 372.8 322.1 41.9 30.1 115.2 110.7 0.0 0.0 673.9 591.9

Aerospace 0.0 0.0 368.1 391.5 0.0 0.0 20.7 25.2 0.0 0.0 388.8 416.7

Other 1,202.2 1,239.7 346.9 257.0 216.2 208.3 246.8 177.9 11.6 6.8 2,023.7 1,889.7

Total revenue by industry 4,464.8 4,146.0 3,082.7 2,856.0 3,104.6 2,903.8 2,897.0 2,804.6 11.6 6.8 13,560.7 12,717.2

In millions of euros
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2. OPERATING SEGMENTS
The voestalpine Group has five reportable segments: Steel Division, High Performance Metals  Division, 
Metal Engineering Division, Metal Forming Division, and Other. The reporting system, which is based 
primarily on the nature of the products provided, reflects the internal financial reporting system, the 
management structure, and the company’s main sources of risks and rewards.

As a global manufacturer of high-quality steel products, the Steel Division of the voestalpine Group 
plays a key role in shaping a clean future worth living. In its steelmaking operations, the Steel Division 
sets benchmarks for the current production route and, at the same time, works on future options  
based on hydrogen that are aimed at bringing about the low-carbon production of steel. Its activities 
include the production of sophisticated hot and cold-rolled strip steel as well as electrogalvanized, 
hot-dip galvanized, and organically coated strip steel. This is augmented by electrical steel strip, heavy 
plate, and foundry activities as well as the downstream Steel & Service Center and Logistics Services. 
The division operates the world’s most modern direct reduction plant in Corpus Christi, Texas, USA, 
which manufactures highest quality pre-materials (HBI) for both own and third-party steel production. 
It is the first point of contact for renowned automotive manufacturers and suppliers with respect to 
strategic product development and supports its customers globally. Moreover, it also is a key partner 
of the European white goods and mechanical engineering industries. The Steel Division produces 
heavy plate for applications in the energy sector under the most difficult conditions. Besides serving 
the traditional oil and natural gas segment, it also provides customized solutions to renewable energy 
operations.

The High Performance Metals Division is the global market leader in tool steel and high-speed steel. 
The division holds a leading position in the global market in special alloys for the oil and natural gas 
industry, the aerospace industry, and the energy engineering industry. It operates a global network of 
service centers with a focus on tool manufacturing, offering heat treatment and coating services  
besides warehousing and preprocessing of special steels. In Houston, Texas, USA, Singapore, and  
Birmingham, Great Britain, the division offers a broad range of services including logistics, distribu-
tion, and processing especially for the oil and natural gas industry, thus underscoring its position as 
a technology leader in this field by virtue of the one-stop-shop solutions it offers to its customers. With 
facilities in Düsseldorf, Germany, Toronto, Canada, Houston, Texas, USA, Singapore, and Taiwan,  
additive manufacturing, a segment that will be hugely important in the future, is being established 
along the entire value chain—from powders to the finished “printed” part. 

The Group’s expertise as the world market leader in turnout technology and as the leading provider 
of high-quality rails and digital monitoring systems as well as services related to rail infrastructure  
are brought together in the Metal Engineering Division. In addition, this division offers a broad range 
of high-quality wire rod and drawn wire, premium seamless tubes for special applications as well as 
high-quality welding consumables and welding machinery. The Metal Engineering Division also 
 possesses its own expertise in steel, which ensures ultra high-quality supplies of pre-materials through-
out the division.
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The Metal Forming Division is voestalpine’s expertise center for highly developed special sections, tube 
and precision strip steel products as well as pre-finished system components made from pressed, 
punched, and roll-profiled parts. This combination of expertise in materials and processing, which is 
unique in the industry, and the division’s global presence make it the first choice for customers who 
value innovation and quality. These customers include nearly all leading manufacturers in the auto-
motive production and supply industries, with a significant focus on the premium segment, as well  
as numerous companies in the commercial vehicle, construction, storage, energy, and (agricultural) 
machinery industries.

The holding company, several financing and raw materials purchasing companies as well as two 
 personal services companies and the group-IT companies are included in the “Other” business  
segment. These companies were combined, because their focus is on providing coordination services 
and support to the subsidiaries.

Segment revenue, segment expenses, and segment results include transfers between the operating 
segments. Such transfers are accounted for at transfer prices that correspond to competitive market 
prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar products. These transactions are eliminated in  
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The voestalpine Group uses earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) as the key figure to measure  
the performance of the segments. This figure is a widely accepted indicator for measuring profitabi-
lity in the Group. 
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The figures for the Group’s operating segments are as follows:

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Steel  
Division

High Performance  
Metals Division

Metal Engineering 
Division

Metal Forming 
Division Other Reconciliation Total Group

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Segment revenue 4,887.3 4,570.5 3,136.3 2,891.0 3,147.1 2,941.7 2,937.4 2,838.3 1,603.4 1,640.4 –2,150.8 –2,164.7 13,560.7 12,717.2

Of which revenue with third parties 4,464.8 4,146.0 3,082.7 2,856.0 3,104.6 2,903.8 2,897.0 2,804.6 11.6 6.8 0.0 –0.0 13,560.7 12,717.2

Of which revenue with other segments 422.5 424.5 53.6 35.0 42.5 37.9 40.4 33.7 1,591.8 1,633.6 –2,150.8 –2,164.7 0.0 0.0

EBITDA 653.2 494.0 434.9 276.0 369.0 301.1 213.3 203.3 –99.9 –87.0 –5.9 –5.9 1,564.6 1,181.5
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant  
and equipment and intangible assets 334.2 594.6 154.9 199.5 167.0 268.2 119.5 194.5 9.6 13.7 0.0 0.0 785.2 1,270.5

Of which impairment 0.0 –239.8 0.0 –27.2 0.0 –82.9 0.0 –51.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –401.7
Reversal of impairment of property, plant  
and equipment and intangible assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.9 0.0
Share of profit of entities consolidated  
according to the equity method 8.8 9.4 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.9 1.4 13.9 10.9

EBIT 319.0 –100.6 280.0 76.6 202.0 32.9 93.8 8.8 –109.5 –100.8 –5.9 –5.9 779.4 –89.0

EBIT margin 6.5% –2.2% 8.9% 2.6% 6.4% 1.1% 3.2% 0.3% 5.7% –0.7%

Interest and similar income 2.0 1.4 13.1 17.2 3.4 3.5 3.4 2.7 179.4 198.3 –177.6 –197.7 23.7 25.4

Interest and similar expenses 67.5 70.1 67.9 63.0 37.6 38.5 36.3 37.2 140.7 161.7 –183.3 –204.3 166.7 166.2

Income tax expense –76.1 24.7 –74.6 –38.2 –35.2 –14.1 –11.5 29.2 10.1 12.0 0.2 0.2 –187.1 13.8

Profit after tax 180.0 –139.0 151.0 –8.1 133.0 –16.4 52.2 3.6 368.0 –429.9 –425.6 373.3 458.6 –216.5

Segment assets 5,373.5 4,777.2 4,326.6 4,244.7 3,485.3 3,428.2 2,686.2 2,557.3 11,517.2 10,698.3 –11,737.2 –10,737.6 15,651.6 14,968.1
Of which investments in entities consolidated 
according to the equity method 98.8 101.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 5.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 20.5 21.4 124.3 127.6

Net financial debt 1,810.2 1,941.1 1,308.6 1,472.2 1,028.7 1,182.6 1,027.4 1,042.0 –2,057.7 –1,861.8 8.2 –1.1 3,125.4 3,775.0
Investments in property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets 322.5 151.6 241.2 258.9 210.7 180.1 223.2 170.0 13.8 15.1 0.0 0.0 1,011.4 775.7

Employees (full-time equivalent) 10,877 10,419 14,398 13,404 13,501 13,310 12,240 11,633 891 916 0 0 51,907 49,682

In millions of euros
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The figures for the Group’s operating segments are as follows:

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Steel  
Division

High Performance  
Metals Division

Metal Engineering 
Division

Metal Forming 
Division Other Reconciliation Total Group

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Segment revenue 4,887.3 4,570.5 3,136.3 2,891.0 3,147.1 2,941.7 2,937.4 2,838.3 1,603.4 1,640.4 –2,150.8 –2,164.7 13,560.7 12,717.2

Of which revenue with third parties 4,464.8 4,146.0 3,082.7 2,856.0 3,104.6 2,903.8 2,897.0 2,804.6 11.6 6.8 0.0 –0.0 13,560.7 12,717.2

Of which revenue with other segments 422.5 424.5 53.6 35.0 42.5 37.9 40.4 33.7 1,591.8 1,633.6 –2,150.8 –2,164.7 0.0 0.0

EBITDA 653.2 494.0 434.9 276.0 369.0 301.1 213.3 203.3 –99.9 –87.0 –5.9 –5.9 1,564.6 1,181.5
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant  
and equipment and intangible assets 334.2 594.6 154.9 199.5 167.0 268.2 119.5 194.5 9.6 13.7 0.0 0.0 785.2 1,270.5

Of which impairment 0.0 –239.8 0.0 –27.2 0.0 –82.9 0.0 –51.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –401.7
Reversal of impairment of property, plant  
and equipment and intangible assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.9 0.0
Share of profit of entities consolidated  
according to the equity method 8.8 9.4 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.9 1.4 13.9 10.9

EBIT 319.0 –100.6 280.0 76.6 202.0 32.9 93.8 8.8 –109.5 –100.8 –5.9 –5.9 779.4 –89.0

EBIT margin 6.5% –2.2% 8.9% 2.6% 6.4% 1.1% 3.2% 0.3% 5.7% –0.7%

Interest and similar income 2.0 1.4 13.1 17.2 3.4 3.5 3.4 2.7 179.4 198.3 –177.6 –197.7 23.7 25.4

Interest and similar expenses 67.5 70.1 67.9 63.0 37.6 38.5 36.3 37.2 140.7 161.7 –183.3 –204.3 166.7 166.2

Income tax expense –76.1 24.7 –74.6 –38.2 –35.2 –14.1 –11.5 29.2 10.1 12.0 0.2 0.2 –187.1 13.8

Profit after tax 180.0 –139.0 151.0 –8.1 133.0 –16.4 52.2 3.6 368.0 –429.9 –425.6 373.3 458.6 –216.5

Segment assets 5,373.5 4,777.2 4,326.6 4,244.7 3,485.3 3,428.2 2,686.2 2,557.3 11,517.2 10,698.3 –11,737.2 –10,737.6 15,651.6 14,968.1
Of which investments in entities consolidated 
according to the equity method 98.8 101.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 5.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 20.5 21.4 124.3 127.6

Net financial debt 1,810.2 1,941.1 1,308.6 1,472.2 1,028.7 1,182.6 1,027.4 1,042.0 –2,057.7 –1,861.8 8.2 –1.1 3,125.4 3,775.0
Investments in property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets 322.5 151.6 241.2 258.9 210.7 180.1 223.2 170.0 13.8 15.1 0.0 0.0 1,011.4 775.7

Employees (full-time equivalent) 10,877 10,419 14,398 13,404 13,501 13,310 12,240 11,633 891 916 0 0 51,907 49,682

In millions of euros
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The reconciliation of the key performance indicators, EBITDA and EBIT, is shown in the following tables:

EBITDA

2018/19 2019/20

Net exchange differences and result from valuation of derivatives –7.4 –7.4
Consolidation 1.5 1.5
EBITDA – Total reconciliation –5.9 –5.9

In millions of euros

EBIT

2018/19 2019/20

Net exchange differences and result from valuation of derivatives –7.4 –7.4
Consolidation 1.5 1.5
EBIT – Total reconciliation –5.9 –5.9

In millions of euros

All other key performance indicators contain solely the effects of consolidation.

Geographical information
The following table provides select financial information summarized according to the major geo-
graphical areas. External segment revenue is broken down by the customers’ geographical location. 

Non-current assets and investments are reported based on the entities’ geographical location.

Austria European Union1 Other Countries1
2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

External revenue 964.0 883.7 7,545.2 7,002.1 5,051.5 4,831.4
Non-current assets 5,314.0 5,376.1 1,599.1 1,622.7 1,734.6 1,520.9
Investments in property, 
plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 613.0 486.4 209.9 166.5 188.5 122.8

1 Values concerning Great Britain have been reclassified from “European Union” to “Other Countries”  
 for the current and the comparative period. In millions of euros

The voestalpine Group does not record revenue from transactions with a single external customer  
that accounts for 10% or more of the entity’s revenue.
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3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2018/19 2019/20

Gains on disposal and revaluation of intangible assets,  
property, plant and equipment 15.6 19.2
Income from the reversal of provisions 32.4 54.9
Currency gains 124.1 82.0
Income from the valuation of derivatives 17.4 49.7
Gains from deconsolidation 0.6 0.0
Other operating income 209.3 237.6

399.4 443.4

In millions of euros

In the business year 2019/20, operating income of EUR 98.6 million (2018/19: EUR 88.3 million) from 
the sale of products not generated in the course of the Group’s ordinary activities (by-products) is 
 included in other operating income.

4. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2018/19 2019/20

Taxes other than income taxes 16.3 15.8
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4.0 3.1
Currency losses 146.2 136.3
Expenses from the valuation of derivatives 7.8 6.2
Losses from deconsolidation 0.1 0.5
Other operating expenses 335.8 690.9

510.2 852.8

In millions of euros

Other operating expenses for the business year 2019/20 contain EUR 401.7 million (2018/19:  
EUR 0.0 million) in impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets, and 
goodwill. They also contain EUR 121.1 million (2018/19: EUR 121.2 million) in expenses attributable 
to the other functional area. In the main, these concern expenses related to the by-products speci-
fied in other operating income. Furthermore, provisions for legal disputes are included in the other 
 operating expenses.
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5. INCOME FROM ENTITIES CONSOLIDATED ACCORDING TO THE EQUITY METHOD

2018/19 2019/20

Income from associates 13.2 10.2
Expenses from associates 0.0 –0.1
Income from joint ventures 0.7 0.8

13.9 10.9

In millions of euros

Income from associates is primarily attributable to METALSERVICE S.P.A., APK-Pensionskasse Aktien-
gesellschaft, Industrie-Logistik-Linz GmbH, and Kocel Steel Foundry Co., Ltd. All income from entities 
consolidated according to the equity method concerns the pro-rated annual profit.

6. FINANCE INCOME

2018/19 2019/20

Income from equity investments 3.5 5.1
Income from other securities and loans 4.0 1.2
Other interest and similar income 19.7 24.2
Income from the disposal and revaluation of  
financial assets and securities classified as current assets 9.1 6.3

36.3 36.8

In millions of euros
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7. FINANCE COSTS

2018/19 2019/20

Expenses from the disposal and valuation of securities 3.3 10.5
Other expenses 0.0 1.4
Other interest and similar expenses 166.7 166.2

170.0 178.1

In millions of euros

8. INCOME TAXES
Income taxes include income taxes paid and owed as well as deferred taxes (+ income tax expense / 
– income tax benefit).

2018/19 2019/20

Current tax expense 153.8 74.2
Effective tax expense 168.6 82.0
Adjustments of taxes from previous periods –14.1 –6.3
Recognition of tax losses from previous periods –0.7 –1.5

 
Deferred tax expense 33.3 –88.0

Origination/reversal of temporary differences 29.9 –92.1
Adjustments of taxes from previous periods 8.6 4.4
Impact of changes in tax rates 2.2 1.9
Recognition of tax losses from previous periods –7.4 –2.2

 
187.1 –13.8

In millions of euros

The effects of the changes in tax rates in the amount of EUR 1.9 million (2018/19: EUR 2.2 million) 
concern solely foreign taxes. The actual tax expense was reduced by the income tax effect of  
EUR –6.4 million from hybrid capital payments (2018/19: EUR –7.5 million). 
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The following reconciliation shows the difference between the Austrian corporate tax rate of 25%  
and the effective Group tax rate:

2018/19 2019/20

Profit before tax 645.7 –230.3
Income tax expense (+)/benefit (–) using the 
Austrian corporate tax rate 25.0% 161.4 25.0% –57.6

Difference to foreign tax rates –0.5% –3.6 –2.6% 6.1

Non-taxable income –3.8% –24.5 13.1% –30.3

Non-taxable income from equity investments –0.7% –4.4 1.6% –3.7

Effects of depreciation of equity investments  
and utilization of previously unincluded loss 
carryforwards and non-recognition of  
loss carryforwards 1.5% 9.6 –11.7% 26.9

Taxes from previous periods –0.9% –5.5 0.8% –1.9

Hybrid capital –1.2% –7.5 2.8% –6.4

Non-tax-effective impairment on goodwill 0.0% 0.0 –7.3% 16.9

Non-deductible expenses and other differences 9.6% 61.6 –15.7% 36.2

Effective Group tax rate (%)/ 
income tax expense (+)/income tax benefit (–) 29.0% 187.1 6.0% –13.8

In millions of euros
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land, land
rights, and

buildings
Plant and 

equipment
Fixtures and 

fittings

Advance 
payments and 

plant under 
construction Total

Gross carrying amount 3,385.8 11,650.4 1,224.9 591.5 16,852.6

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment –1,645.2 –8,022.5 –901.3 –1.5 –10,570.5

Carrying amount  
as of April 1, 2018 1,740.6 3,627.9 323.6 590.0 6,282.1

Gross carrying amount 3,531.9 12,396.8 1,310.8 519.7 17,759.2

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment –1,722.4 –8,504.9 –949.2 –2.5 –11,179.0

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2019 1,809.5 3,891.9 361.6 517.2 6,580.2

Gross carrying amount 3,995.9 12,692.9 1,416.4 609.9 18,715.1

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment –1,918.0 –9,223.6 –1,012.1 –2.6 –12,156.3

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2020 2,077.9 3,469.3 404.3 607.3 6,558.8

In millions of euros

The year-over-year increase in costs as well as in depreciation, amortization, or impairment losses  
on property, plant and equipment largely arises from the initial application of IFRS 16 using the  
modified retrospective method as of April 1, 2019.
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The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the property, plant and equipment for the periods  
presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 2020, is as follows:

Land, land 
rights, and 

buildings
Plant and 

equipment
Fixtures and 

fittings

Advance 
payments and 

plant under 
construction Total

Carrying amount  
as of April 1, 2018 1,740.6 3,627.9 323.6 590.0 6,282.1

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Additions 67.0 447.1 92.4 373.1 979.6

Transfers 82.7 326.3 31.3 –446.5 –6.2

Disposals –14.4 –4.5 –2.1 –7.1 –28.1

Depreciation –84.8 –568.1 –84.2 –0.9 –738.0

Net exchange differences 18.4 63.1 0.6 8.6 90.7

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2019 1,809.5 3,891.9 361.6 517.2 6,580.2

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2019 1,809.5 3,891.9 361.6 517.2 6,580.2
Adjustments IFRS 16 372.0 18.3 46.1 0.0 436.4

Carrying amount  
as of April 1, 2019 2,181.5 3,910.2 407.7 517.2 7,016.6

Changes in the scope of consolidation 6.0 0.5 0.3 0.9 7.7

Additions 83.4 204.3 84.4 369.5 741.6

Transfers 28.3 208.6 30.8 –272.5 –4.8

Disposals –14.8 –7.1 –5.3 –1.7 –28.9

Depreciation –120.4 –590.1 –103.6 0.0 –814.1

Impairment losses –72.8 –238.7 –5.2 –0.2 –316.9

Net exchange differences –13.3 –18.4 –4.8 –5.9 –42.4

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2020 2,077.9 3,469.3 404.3 607.3 6,558.8

In millions of euros

As of March 31, 2020, restrictions on the disposal of property, plant and equipment were EUR 0.6 mil-
lion (March 31, 2019: EUR 0.6 million). Furthermore, as of March 31, 2020, commitments for the pur-
chase of property, plant and equipment were EUR 389.4 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 439.3 million).

Borrowing costs related to qualifying assets in the amount of EUR 3.5 million (2018/19: EUR 3.8 million) 
were capitalized in the reporting period. The calculation was based on an average borrowing rate of 
1.8% (2018/19: 2.0%).
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In the business year 2018/19, the Management Board resolved and the Supervisory Board approved 
the sale of undeveloped properties in Meerbusch, Germany, with a carrying amount of EUR 13.3 mil-
lion, not required for operating purposes. This led to negotiations with several interested parties.  
The sale is in line with the strategy of selling assets not required for operating purposes. These  
properties were sold in the past financial year with sales proceeds of EUR 25.8 million. The properties 
were allocable to the High Performance Metals Division and were shown separately in the state-
ment of  financial position.

Right-of-use assets as per IFRS 16
The Group leases mainly land, buildings, and manufacturing facilities as well as vehicle fleets including 
locomotives. Most of the leases contain renewal options and rights to terminate, some of which are 
also stipulated in conjunction with non-cancelable lease terms.

In some cases, the Group has the option to purchase the assets at the end of the contractually agreed 
period.

The lease payments typically are either fixed or based on market interest rates or indices (e.g., the con-
sumer price index (CPI)). A few leases provide for variable lease payments (e.g., usage-based leases).

The carrying amount of each class of right-of-use assets pursuant to IFRS 16, which are shown in 
 property, plant and equipment, is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment Total

Land, land 
rights, and 

buildings

Plant and 
equipment

Fixtures and 
fittings

Carrying amount  
as of April 1, 2019 393.9 19.6 47.6 461.1

Changes in the scope of  
consolidation 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2

Additions 24.2 3.5 5.1 32.8

Transfers –16.3 –1.6 1.3 –16.6

Disposals –13.5 0.0 –1.5 –15.0

Depreciation –33.3 –4.7 –11.1 –49.1

Impairment –0.3 0.0 0.0 –0.3

Reversal of impairment losses 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net exchange differences –2.6 –0.1 –0.1 –2.8

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2020 352.2 16.7 41.4 410.3

In millions of euros
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Lease expenses in the consolidated income statement

2019/20

Interest expenses for lease liabilities 9.5
Expenses for short-term leases 14.7
Expenses for small-ticket leases 5.2
Expenses for variable lease payments 0.9

 
In millions of euros

The total cash outflows for leases are EUR 74.2 million. This includes cash outflows related to short-
term leases, low-value asset leases, and variable lease payments.

The Group expects variable lease payments to remain largely unchanged in the coming years.

As of March 31, 2020, there were no material leases that had not yet been made available and thus 
had not yet been recognized. 

The effect of the measurement of residual value guarantees and purchase options on the carrying 
amount is deemed negligible.

Effect of renewal and termination options
Renewal and termination options can be exercised without the lessor’s approval. The fact that leases 
contain termination and renewal options gives the operating units of the voestalpine Group, which 
are responsible for utilizing the assets, a high degree of operational flexibility. The resulting flexibility 
and thus the range of potential future lease payments that have not yet been recognized in the state-
ment of financial position is high. voestalpine generally assumes that renewal options will be exercised.

As regards the maturity analysis of lease liabilities, see Note 20. Financial liabilities.
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Prior-year comparative information pursuant to IAS 17
The carrying amount for each asset class under finance leases included in property, plant and equip-
ment is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment Total

Land, land 
rights, and 

buildings

Plant and 
equipment

Fixtures and 
fittings

2018/19
Gross carrying amount 39.5 13.2 6.9 59.6

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment –17.7 –11.9 –5.3 –34.9

Carrying amount 21.8 1.3 1.6 24.7

In millions of euros

The terms and present value of the minimum finance lease payments are as follows:

Minimum finance 
lease payments

Discounts on finance 
lease payments

Present value of the 
minimum finance  

lease payments

2018/19
Less than one year 8.5 –0.6 7.9

Between one and five years 7.6 –0.7 6.9

More than five years 0.5 0.0 0.5

16.6 –1.3 15.3

In millions of euros

The most significant finance leases for buildings and production plants have a remaining term of five 
years. The Group has the option in this connection to purchase the plants at the end of a contractu-
ally agreed period or to exercise the given contract renewal option. 
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In addition to finance leases, obligations also exist under operating leases for property, plant and 
equipment that are not reported in the statement of financial position. These obligations have  
the following terms:

2018/19

Less than one year 47.3
Between one and five years 116.8
More than five years 42.9

207.0
 

In millions of euros

In the business year 2018/19, payments of EUR 64.3 million under operating leases have been 
 recognized as expenses.

The most significant operating leases concern land and buildings with minimum lease terms of up to 
50 years subject, in some cases, to termination options on the part of voestalpine companies and,  
in certain cases, to renewal options. Purchase options at fair value are available at the end of the 
lease term. There are no restrictions concerning dividends, additional debt, and further leases.

10. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GOODWILL

03/31/2018 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Gross carrying amount 1,558.2 1,560.6 1,563.6

Impairment losses –12.3 –12.3 –68.7

Carrying amount 1,545.9 1,548.3 1,494.9

In millions of euros
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The following table shows the reconciliation of the carrying amounts of goodwill for the periods 
 presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 2020:

Goodwill 

Carrying amount as of April 1, 2018 1,545.9

Additions 0.0

Disposals 0.0

Net exchange differences 2.4

Carrying amount as of March 31, 2019 1,548.3
 

Additions 2.6

Disposals 0.0

Impairment losses –56.5

Net exchange differences 0.4

Carrying amount as of March 31, 2020 1,494.9

In millions of euros

Details on the impairment of goodwill are explained in Chapter 11. Impairment losses and reversal  
of impairment losses.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Brands Other

Advance 
payments or 
payments in 

progress Total

Gross carrying amount 227.6 1,349.3 34.9 1,611.8

Accumulated amortization and impairment –36.6 –1,179.2 0.0 –1,215.8

Carrying amount as of April 1, 2018 191.0 170.1 34.9 396.0

Gross carrying amount 227.6 1,362.6 49.2 1,639.4

Accumulated amortization and impairment –42.3 –1,202.0 0.0 –1,244.3

Carrying amount as of March 31, 2019 185.3 160.6 49.2 395.1

Gross carrying amount 227.6 1,437.3 3.3 1,668.2

Accumulated amortization and impairment –48.0 –1,281.6 0.0 –1,329.6

Carrying amount as of March 31, 2020 179.6 155.7 3.3 338.6

In millions of euros
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The “Brands” column contains brands with an indefinite useful life in the amount of EUR 170.6 million. 
It also includes a capital market funding advantage associated with the brand name Böhler-  
Uddeholm. The amortization period of the capital market funding advantage is ten years.

Intangible assets with an unlimited useful life
The following CGUs and groups of CGUs contain brands with an indefinite useful life:

2018/19 2019/20

High Performance Metals Division 155.4 155.4

Welding Consumables 12.6 12.6

Total Metal Engineering Division 12.6 12.6

Precision Strip 2.6 2.6

Total Metal Forming Division 2.6 2.6

voestalpine Group 170.6 170.6

In millions of euros

The period during which these trademarks are expected to generate cash flows is not subject to a 
foreseeable limit. Hence trademarks are not subject to wear and tear and are not amortized. No 
 impairments have arisen.



C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

The following table shows the reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the other intangible assets 
for the periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 2020:

Brands Other

Advance 
payments or 
payments in 

progress Total

Carrying amount as of April 1, 2018 191.0 170.1 34.9 396.0
 

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.9

Additions 0.0 13.8 17.0 30.8

Transfers 0.0 8.5 –2.5 6.0

Disposals 0.0 0.0 –0.2 –0.2

Amortization –5.7 –41.4 0.0 –47.1

Impairment losses 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Reversal of impairment losses 0.0 6.9 0.0 6.9

Net exchange differences 0.0 1.8 0.0 1.8

Carrying amount as of March 31, 2019 185.3 160.6 49.2 395.1
 

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.9

Additions 0.0 19.2 3.6 22.8

Transfers 0.0 54.3 –49.5 4.8

Disposals 0.0 –1.2 0.0 –1.2

Amortization –5.7 –49.1 0.0 –54.8

Impairment losses 0.0 –28.3 0.0 –28.3

Reversal of impairment losses 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net exchange differences 0.0 –0.7 0.0 –0.7

Carrying amount as of March 31, 2020 179.6 155.7 3.3 338.6

In millions of euros

The functional classifications—cost of sales, distribution costs, administrative expenses, and other 
 operating expenses—may include amortization of intangible assets. 

As of March 31, 2020, commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets were EUR 0.1 million  
(March 31, 2019: EUR 0.1 million). Additions to “Advance payments or payments in progress” contain 
EUR 0.0 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 13.8 million) in capitalized development costs for a software 
project intended to map cross-company business processes and business processes that have  
been harmonized across the Steel Division. The carrying amount in the other intangible assets as  
of March 31, 2020, is EUR 74.2 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 89.0 million), and the remaining useful 
life is five years.
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11. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Impairment tests of cash generating units (CGUs)  
or groups of cash generating units containing goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the following CGUs or groups of CGUs:

2018/19 2019/20

Total Steel Division 160.1 160.1

HPM Production 378.8 378.8
Value Added Services 313.5 313.9
Total High Performance Metals Division 692.3 692.7

Steel 25.8 25.8
Wire Technology 7.1 7.1
Railway Systems 154.4 157.0
Tubulars 67.1 50.3
Welding Consumables 172.5 132.9
Total Metal Engineering Division 426.9 373.1

Tubes & Sections 70.0 70.0
Automotive Components 84.0 84.0
Precision Strip 103.8 103.8
Warehouse & Rack Solutions 11.2 11.2
Total Metal Forming Division 269.0 269.0

voestalpine Group 1,548.3 1,494.9

In millions of euros

As regards the value in use, goodwill is reviewed for impairment applying the discounted cash flow 
method. The calculation is performed on the basis of cash flows as of the beginning of March of each 
year under a five-year, medium-term business plan approved by the Management. This medium-term 
business plan is based on historical data as well as on assumptions regarding the expected future 
market performance. The Group’s planning assumptions are expanded by sectoral planning assump-
tions. Intra-Group evaluations are supplemented by external market studies. The determination of 
the perpetual annuity is based on country-specific growth figures derived from external sources. The 
budget year was adjusted in response to the economic uncertainties arising from the COVID-19 crisis. 
The capital costs are calculated as the weighted average cost of equity and borrowings using the 
capital asset pricing model (weighted average cost of capital – WACC). The parameters used for 
 determining WACC are established on an objective basis. The distortions in the capital markets  
resulting from the COVID-19 crisis that were identified by the reporting date were considered in 
the  determination.
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The following estimates and assumptions were used to measure the recoverable amounts of CGUs or 
groups of CGUs that account for a significant portion of the voestalpine Group’s total goodwill:

The Steel Division focuses on the production and processing of steel products for the automotive, 
white goods, electrical, processing as well as energy and engineering industries. It also manufactures 
high-quality input material (hot briquetted iron (HBI)) in Texas, USA, for the production of steel. The 
five-year, medium-term business plan for the Steel Division was prepared, for one, on the basis of 
 external economic forecasts for the eurozone, the USA, China, Russia, and Mexico (based on the 
IMF’s World Economic Outlook)1 and, for another, taking into account expected steel consumption.2  

The CRU Index was also considered in the revenue planning for the flat products. Positive, quality -
related adjustments were made in individual customer segments. 

The production plan reflects the sales forecasts. As regards procurement, the planning was based 
on assumptions concerning raw materials derived from global market forecasts (e.g., Platts price 
 assessments3). 

Based on these assumptions, it is expected as per the medium-term business plan that the gross 
 margin will once again develop along a steady trajectory following the business year 2020/21, which 
will be defined by the COVID-19 crisis. 

The fifth plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.33% (2018/19: 1.40%). The after-tax WACC is 6.08% (2018/19: 6.35%); the pre-tax WACC 
is 7.76% (2018/19: 8.35%).

The five-year, medium-term business plan for the High Performance Metals Division and its two units 
to which goodwill has been allocated—High Performance Metals (HPM) Production and Value Added 
Services—was based on the general economic environment of the relevant industry segments (in par-
ticular, the automotive,4 oil and gas, and aerospace industries) as well as on the growth forecasts5 for 
the regional sales markets of its core markets, in particular, the eurozone, the USA, China, and  Brazil.

HPM Production bundles seven production locations around the world. Its production activities cover 
a highly complex and highly demanding range of production: tool steel, high-speed steel, valve steel, 
high-grade engineering steel, powder-metallurgical steel, powder for additive manufacturing, special 
steels, and nickel-based alloys. Product manufacturing ranges from smelting to transforming (rolling, 
forging, hot-rolled, and cold-rolled strips) all the way to heat treatment and processing; add to that 
the fulfilment of the properties and specifications required by customers. The processing companies 
produce plate, profiles, and forged parts made of titanium alloys, nickel-based alloys as well as high, 
medium, and low-grade alloyed steels.

1 World Economic Outlook, International Monetary Fund (IMF)
2 The European Steel Association (EUROFER) regarding steel consumption in Europe; outside of Europe, World Steel Association
3 S&P Global Platts
4 Future Automotive Industry Structure 2030, Report by Oliver Wyman and the German Association of the Automotive Industry 
 (Verband der Automobilindustrie – VDA), Statista, Automotive Powertrain Forecast 2020-2030 by Ultimate Media, October 2019.
5 Ifo World Economic Survey (WES), III/2019, CESIFO Group Munich, August 2019;  
 International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Economic Outlook, October 2018; OECD, 2019; IWF, 2019; PMI Data from ICC Linz
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The internal forecasts and estimates for HPM Production—particularly with regard to the business that 
targets sophisticated metallurgical applications in the aerospace, oil and gas, energy engineering, 
and automotive industries—rely on external sources of information and are consistent with them.  
A  moderate trend is forecast for the automotive segment. The oil and gas segment is a strategic 
growth market for the division. The planning for the aerospace segment posits that an initial decline 
in the market will be followed by growth. Overall, this will lead to higher revenue and a positive gross 
margin trend in the planning period, not least due to the new special steel plant in Kapfenberg, Austria.

Changes in the cost of input materials due to alloy prices can be passed on to customers in part. 

The final plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.61% (2018/19: 1.78%). The after-tax WACC is 6.97% (2018/19: 7.21%); the pre-tax WACC is 
9.10% (2018/19: 9.75%).

In the Value Added Services business segment, the continued systematic expansion of services in the 
planning period will lead to greater customer loyalty and deeper value creation. Further emphases 
were already defined here in the past business year. Pre-processing, heat treatment, and coating— 
Value Added Services now operates 18 coating centers for customers worldwide—will also be 
 ex panded in line with customer requirements. Moreover, an all-out effort is being undertaken in 
 coordination with the powder strategy of the HPM Production unit to turn additive manufacturing 
into the division’s core competence. Ongoing activities will additionally focus on the systematic con-
tinuation of tried and  tested cost-savings and optimization programs as well as on new initiatives, 
 especially in the area of process digitalization. This will lead to higher revenue and a positive gross 
margin trend in the planning period. 

Changes in the cost of input materials due to alloy prices can be passed on to customers in part.

The fifth plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.65% (2018/19: 1.79%). The after-tax WACC is 7.19% (2018/19: 7.45%); the pre-tax WACC is 
9.23% (2018/19: 9.98%).

The Group’s expertise as the leading provider of high-quality rails, high-tech turnouts, and digital 
 monitoring systems as well as all associated services was combined in the Railway Systems business 
segment to further expand the Group’s global presence as a provider of complete railway infrastruc-
ture systems. The medium-term business plan for Railway Systems for the next five years is based on 
market forecasts1 and project planning for railway infrastructure, taking into consideration the busi-
ness segment’s strategic focus and the increasing influence of digitalization in the rail segment. It also 
accounts for the different levels of economic development in individual regions.2 As regards the 
 development of material factor costs, general forecasts of the development of personnel expenses 
and internal assumptions on the development of steel prices were integrated into the budgets. The 
planning assumes that the gross margin will be kept relatively constant over the planning period and 
that potential fluctuations in individual markets will balance each other out due to the business 
 segment’s global reach.

1 UNIFE Annual Report
2 World Economic Outlook, International Monetary Fund (IMF)
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The fifth plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.53% (2018/19: 1.60%). The after-tax WACC is 6.73% (2018/19: 6.23%); the pre-tax WACC 
is 8.46% (2018/19: 8.24%). 

The five-year, medium-term business plan for Welding Consumables, which engages in the produc-
tion and sale of welding and joining technology products, takes into account macroeconomic trends1 
in each region as well as the projected developments in the relevant industry segments. The expected 
price trends for raw materials, particularly alloys, are derived from current quoted market prices as 
well as available forecasts. Given pertinent market forecasts as well as the organizational measures 
and  optimization programs that have been initiated, are being implemented, and will be pushed 
 systematically during the planning period, too, both volume growth and a slight increase in the gross 
margin (which, among other things, also reflects positive effects from the company’s development 
into a full-service provider) are anticipated for the planning period. 

The fifth plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.37% (2018/19: 1.52%). The after-tax WACC is 6.54% (2018/19: 6.11%); the pre-tax WACC 
is 8.35% (2018/19: 8.11%).

The cash flow forecasts for Automotive Components are based on the medium-term market growth 
and production forecasts for the global automotive market based on the forecasts published by LMC 
Automotive,2 in this case particularly for the most important markets of Automotive Components in 
Europe, the USMCA region, and Asia, as well as for the most important customers of Automotive Com-
ponents—the European premium manufacturers. Internal estimates reflect the business segment’s 
internationalization and growth strategy. External indicators and market dynamics were adjusted  
in line with the current model portfolio of Automotive Components customers. Furthermore, customer- 
specific information regarding medium-term outlooks and sales projections served as sources for  
the sales planning of Automotive Components. This will lead to higher revenue and a positive gross 
margin trend in the five-year, medium-term business plan.

The planning of the Automotive Components business segment for the business year 2020/21 was 
revised in light of the COVID-19 crisis. The adjustments in both revenue and EBIT were estimated based 
on various external market studies and our customers’ current forecasts as to order call-ups that they 
have provided to us.

The fifth plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.41% (2018/19: 1.52%). The after-tax WACC is 7.24% (2018/19: 6.84%); the pre-tax WACC 
is 9.35% (2018/19: 9.19%).

1 World Economic Outlook, International Monetary Fund (IMF)
2 LMCA GAPF Data



C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

Precision Strip specializes in the production of globally available, technologically complex cold-rolled 
strip steel products with precise dimensional accuracy, excellent surface quality, and unique edge 
profiles for the highest customer requirements in the process industry. The five-year, medium-term 
business plan for Precision Strip was prepared taking into account the general regional parameters 
in the core markets and reflects the general economic environment of the industry segments that are 
key to the given entities. Current market conditions are characterized by stiff competition and strong 
pressure on margins. The growth indicated in the planning is largely based on securing market lead-
ership in niche markets, expanding market shares, and developing new markets. External forecasts 
were taken into account in internal estimates and generally adjusted very slightly downward. These 
external forecasts are country-specific figures for expected economic growth (GDP forecasts)1 that 
were supplemented by industry-specific experience in the relevant markets for the respective  product 
segments. Customer-specific information regarding medium-term outlooks and sales projections  
also served as sources for sales planning at Precision Strip. As a result, revenue is expected to  increase 
and the gross margin should be stable in the planning period. 

The fifth plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.33% (2018/19: 1.38%). The after-tax WACC is 7.13% (2018/19: 6.80%); the pre-tax WACC 
is 9.02% (2018/19: 9.01%).

Impairment losses
The Welding Consumables unit of the Metal Engineering Division is one to which goodwill was   
allo cated. In the business year 2019/20, an impairment loss of EUR 39.6 million on the goodwill of  
Welding Consumables was recognized in other operating expenses due to the current economic 
 environment arising from the COVID-19 crisis and the resulting declines in sales as well as due to  
the challenging development of margins. The recoverable amount (value in use) for this unit is 
EUR 460.3 million. 

The Tubulars unit of the Metal Engineering Division is one to which goodwill had been allocated. In 
the business year 2019/20, an impairment loss of EUR 16.8 million on the goodwill of the Tubulars  
unit was recognized in other operating expenses due to negative developments in the selling environ-
ment, which is affected particularly by the sharp drop in oil prices and the concomitant reduction in 
extraction rates, due to the considerable financial fallout from the Section 232 punitive tariffs that 
the US administration imposed on steel imports as well as due to the current economic environment 
arising from the COVID-19 crisis. The Tubulars unit engages mainly in the production of high quality 
seamless tubes. The recoverable amount (value in use) for the entire unit is EUR 341.1 million. 

The fifth plan year was used to calculate the perpetual annuity based on an expected growth rate 
of 1.36%. The after-tax WACC is 6.19%; the pre-tax WACC is 7.68%.

1 World Economic Outlook, International Monetary Fund (IMF)
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The discount rate and the cash flows are the most important forward-looking assumptions. There is 
the risk that any change in these assumptions will necessitate a material adjustment of the carrying 
amounts within the next business year. Any increase in the after-tax discount rate by one percentage 
point or any decrease in the cash flows by 10% would trigger the following reductions in the carrying 
amounts:

Excess of carrying 
amount over  

recoverable amount

Increase in 
discount rate by 

1% point

Decrease in 
cash flows by 

10% 

03/31/2020
Welding Consumables 0.0 –79.5 –46.0

Tubulars 0.0 –32.8 –17.0

In millions of euros

The impairment tests confirmed the carrying amount of all other goodwill. A sensitivity analysis of the 
aforementioned units to which goodwill has been allocated shows that all carrying amounts with two 
exceptions (High Performance Metals Production and Precision Strip) would still be covered if the 
 interest rate were to rise by one percentage point and thus that there is no need to recognize an 
 impairment loss. Furthermore, the cash flow sensitivity analysis has shown that, if the cash flows are 
reduced by 10%, all carrying amounts (with the exception of the carrying amount recognized for 
High Performance Metals Production) are still covered and that there is no need to recognize an 
 impairment loss. If the discount rate is raised by one percentage point and the cash flows are lowered 
by 10% as part of a combined sensitivity analysis, with the exception of the goodwill-bearing units 
High Performance Metals Production, Value Added Services, Automotive Components, and Precision 
Strip, the carrying amounts of the goodwill-bearing units described above are still covered.

The following table shows the excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount as well as  
the amount by which both major assumptions would have to change for the estimated recoverable 
amount to be equal to the carrying amount as well as the reduction in the carrying amount in con-
nection with an increase in the after-tax discount rate by one percentage point or a decrease in the 
cash flows by 10%:

Break-even analysis General sensitivity analysis
Excess of carrying 

amount over 
recoverable amount

Discount rate in 
percentage 

points

Cash flow  
in %

Increase in 
discount rate by 

1% point

Decrease in 
cash flows by 

10%

03/31/2020
HPM Production 58.6 0.1 –2.8 –302.1 –154.3

Value Added Services 351.0 1.6 –23.1 0.0 0.0

Automotive Components 201.8 1.3 –18.5 0.0 0.0

Precision Strip 45.1 0.8 –12.0 –11.5 0.0

In millions of euros
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Break-even analysis General sensitivity analysis
Excess of carrying 

amount over 
recoverable amount

Discount rate in 
percentage 

points

Cash flow  
in %

Increase in 
discount rate by 

1% point

Decrease in 
cash flows 

by 10%

03/31/2019
HPM Production 240.2 0.6 –10.5 –137.8 0.0

Welding Consumables 46.3 0.4 –9.3 –48.5 –3.7

In millions of euros

Impairment test of cash generating units that have no goodwill and of other assets
In the business year 2019/20, a total of EUR 45.8 million in impairment losses on “Land, land rights, 
and buildings”; “Plant and equipment”; and “Fixtures and fittings” were recognized in other operating 
expenses for the Hot Forming cash generating unit of the Metal Forming Division due to changes in 
the selling environment, due to changes in personnel that deviate from the previous year’s business 
plan , and due to the current economic environment arising from the COVID-19 crisis. The Hot  Forming 
unit comprises two plants in Germany and the United States and uses hot forming to develop metal 
pressed parts for the automotive industry. Of the aforementioned amount, EUR 37.5 million were 
 already recognized as of December 31, 2019.

The planning of Hot Forming for the budget year 2020/21 was revised in light of the COVID-19 crisis. 
The adjustments in both revenue and EBIT were estimated based on various external market studies 
as well as our customers’ current forecasts as to order call-ups that they have provided to us. The 
 recoverable amount (value in use) for this unit is EUR 232.7 million. An after-tax discount rate of 7.19% 
was applied; the pre-tax WACC is 9.26%.

In the business year 2019/20, a total of EUR 209.1 million in impairment losses on “Land, land rights, 
and buildings” and “Plant and equipment” were recognized in other operating expenses for the 
 Texas cash generating unit of the Steel Division; this unit comprises a single plant and engages in 
the production of hot briquetted iron (HBI). Of the aforementioned amount, EUR 177.3 million were 
already recognized as of December 31, 2019. Initially, this impairment loss was rooted in the HBI  
market’s increasingly certain dependence on general scrap prices starting in the summer of 2019, 
particularly because spot market customers in the lower and middle quality segment use  
HBI as a carrier of ore and substitute for rather low-quality scrap. The price of scrap dropped  
dramatically while iron ore prices remained high. The HBI spot market price disintegrated to a much 
greater degree than anticipated due to the deteriorating scrap/iron ore price ratio. The strong 
price sensitivity of the HBI spot market prices as well as the expectation that volatilities in the raw  
materials markets would continue unabated prompted the company in December 2019 to revise  
its earnings forecasts (reduction in the long-term sales volume) for the Texas unit. Furthermore,  
current economic developments shaped by the COVID-19 crisis subsequently led to another, albeit 
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greater adjustment of the short-term earnings forecasts, thus completing the assessments underly-
ing the impairment loss described. The recoverable amount (value in use) for this unit is EUR 666.2 mil-
lion. An after-tax discount rate of 6.34% was applied; the pre-tax WACC is 7.85%.

In the business year 2019/20, a total of EUR 30.7 million in impairment losses on “Land, land rights, 
and buildings” and “Plant and equipment” were recognized in other operating expenses for the  
Foundry cash generating unit of the Steel Division due to negative developments in the selling  
environment and the resulting reduction in expected earnings as well as due to the current eco nomic 
environment arising from the COVID-19 crisis. The Foundry unit comprises three facilities and focuses 
on the production of cast steel. Of the aforementioned amount, a total of EUR 22.5 million was   
already recognized as of December 31, 2019. The recoverable amount (value in use) for this unit is 
EUR 77.2 million. An after-tax discount rate of 5.98% was applied; the pre-tax WACC is 7.30%.

In the business year 2019/20, impairment losses of EUR 15.0 million on “Plant and equipment” and 
“Fixtures and fittings” were recognized in other operating expenses for the Buderus Edelstahl ohne 
Schmiede cash generating unit of the High Performance Metals Division. This unit which comprises a 
steel plant, rolling mills, and a drop forge; it focuses on the production of drop forge parts, semi- 
finished goods as well as hot and cold rolled steel. The impairment stems from negative develop-
ments in the selling environment particularly of the automotive and mechanical engineering segments, 
the resulting adjustment in the unit’s strategic alignment, and lower earnings forecasts due to the  
current economic developments arising from the COVID-19 crisis. The recoverable amount (value in 
use) for this unit is EUR 156.2 million. An after-tax discount rate of 6.44% was applied; the pre-tax 
WACC is 8.38%.

The discount rate and the cash flows are the most important forward-looking assumptions. There is 
the risk that any change in these assumptions will necessitate a material adjustment of the carrying 
amounts within the next business year. An increase in the after-tax discount rate by one percentage 
point and/or a decrease in the cash flows by 10% would trigger the following reductions in the carry-
ing amounts:

Excess of carrying 
amount over 

recoverable amount

Increase in 
discount rate by 

1% point

Decrease in 
cash flows by 

10% 

03/31/2020
Hot Forming 0.0 –33.0 –23.3

Texas 0.0 –85.1 –65.7

Foundry 0.0 –14.9 –7.7

Buderus Edelstahl ohne Schmiede 0.0 –33.9 –15.6

In millions of euros
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In the business year 2019/20, an impairment loss of EUR 26.4 million on intangible assets was 
 recognized in other operating expenses for a cash generating unit of the Metal Engineering Division 
that engages in the production of seamless tubes. A change in the delivery contract underlying the 
company’s relationship with Green Pipes during the business year ended led to a complete write-
off. The write-off of the customer relationships allocated to the Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG)  
segment arises from the negative developments in the oil and natural gas sector as well as from  
the  ramifications of the Section 232 tariffs. The recoverable amount of these assets is EUR 0.0 million. 
 After-tax discount rates of between 4.73% and 4.93% were applied; the pre-tax WACC is between 
6.30% and 6.58%.

In the previous year, the Metal Engineering Division recognized EUR 6.9 million in reversals of impair-
ment losses on intangible assets in other operating income for a cash generating unit that engages 
in the production of seamless tubes. The reversal of the impairment loss taken on the Green Pipes 
customer relationship that was recognized in the previous year resulted from a previously announced 
and subsequently implemented increase in the purchase commitments. The recoverable amount of 
these assets was EUR 32.5 million. The after-tax discount rates applied were between 4.61% and 
5.53%, and the pre-tax WACC was between 6.15 % and 7.38 %.

A decision was taken in the business year 2019/20 to outsource the hot rolling production step (cash 
generating unit Buderus Edelstahl ohne Schmiede). This led to the discontinuation of the hot rolling 
line and EUR 11.0 million in write-downs on assets. An additional impairment loss of EUR 7.2 million 
was taken on individual facilities belonging to three other voestalpine entities due to a lack of adap-
tive reuse. 

RECONCILIATION OF DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION, AND IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS BY FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION

2018/19 2019/20

Cost of sales 702.4 751.3

Distribution costs 32.9 45.3

Administrative expenses 29.1 46.4

Other operating expenses 20.7 427.5

785.1 1,270.5

In millions of euros
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12. INVESTMENTS IN ENTITIES CONSOLIDATED ACCORDING TO THE EQUITY METHOD,  
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND OTHER EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Investments 
in affiliates

Investments 
in associates

Investments 
in joint 

ventures
Other 

investments Securities Loans
Advance 

payments Total

Gross carrying 
amount 14.1 114.4 4.6 47.9 1.1 6.7 0.2 189.0

Accumulated 
depreciation/
revaluation –6.5 –0.5 0.0 –12.0 0.3 –0.7 0.0 –19.4

Carrying amount  
as of April 1, 2018 7.6 113.9 4.6 35.9 1.4 6.0 0.2 169.6

Gross carrying 
amount 23.4 120.5 4.5 47.9 0.9 2.7 0.2 200.1

Accumulated 
depreciation/
revaluation –12.4 –0.7 0.0 –11.9 0.3 –0.5 0.0 –25.2

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2019 11.0 119.8 4.5 36.0 1.2 2.2 0.2 174.9

Gross carrying 
amount 23.4 123.8 4.5 47.9 13.5 4.4 0.2 217.7

Accumulated 
depreciation/
revaluation –13.9 –0.7 0.0 –7.7 –1.4 –0.6 0.0 –24.3

Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2020 9.5 123.1 4.5 40.2 12.1 3.8 0.2 193.4

In millions of euros
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The following table shows the reconciliation of the carrying amounts of investments in entities 
 consolidated according to the equity method, other financial assets, and other investments for the 
periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 2020:

Investments 
in affiliates

Investments 
in associates

Investments 
in joint 

ventures
Other 

investments Securities Loans
Advance 

payments Total

Carrying amount  
as of April 1, 2018 7.6 113.9 4.6 35.9 1.4 6.0 0.2 169.6

Changes in the scope 
of consolidation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Additions 0.4 13.3 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 15.0
Transfers 3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.1 0.0 3.2
Disposals –0.3 –8.3 –1.0 0.0 –0.2 –4.2 0.0 –14.0
Depreciation/
impairment 0.0 –0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.1
Revaluation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Net exchange 
differences 0.0 1.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1
Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2019 11.0 119.8 4.5 36.0 1.2 2.2 0.2 174.9

Changes in the scope 
of consolidation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Additions 0.2 10.6 0.8 0.0 12.7 2.0 0.0 26.3
Transfers –0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.3
Disposals 0.0 –6.3 –0.7 0.0 –0.1 –0.3 0.0 –7.4
Depreciation/
impairment –1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 –1.7 0.0 0.0 –3.1
Revaluation 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.2
Net exchange 
differences 0.0 –1.0 –0.1 0.0 0.0 –0.1 0.0 –1.2
Carrying amount  
as of March 31, 2020 9.5 123.1 4.5 40.2 12.1 3.8 0.2 193.4

In millions of euros
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Loans granted comprise the following items:

03/31/2018 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Loans to affiliates 0.3 0.1 0.0
Other loans 5.3 2.0 1.9
Other receivables from financing 0.4 0.1 1.9

6.0 2.2 3.8

In millions of euros

13. DEFERRED TAXES
The tax effects of temporary differences, tax losses carried forward, and tax credits that result in the 
recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities include the following items:

 
Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

03/31/2019 03/31/2020 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Non-current assets 52.5 166.9 304.3 310.0

Current assets 104.8 101.1 154.7 151.7

Non-current liabilities 231.5 295.3 42.8 49.4

Current liabilities 51.8 83.0 31.7 51.8

Losses carried forward 192.9 126.5 0.0 0.0

633.5 772.8 533.5 562.9

Intercompany profit elimination (netted) 24.8 14.2 0.0 0.0

Hidden reserves (netted) 0.0 0.0 91.0 73.3

Acquisition-related tax credit 36.1 18.1 0.0 0.0

Other 18.5 28.3 1.6 5.8

Netting of deferred taxes owed to  
the same tax authority –515.6 –549.5 –515.6 –549.5

Net deferred taxes 197.3 283.9 110.5 92.5

In millions of euros
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Pursuant to IAS 12.34, the tax benefit from the acquisition of BÖHLER-UDDEHOLM Aktiengesell schaft 
is recognized as an unused tax credit and will be reversed as a deferred tax expense over a period 
of 14 years in the amount of EUR 18.1 million per year (remaining term: one year). This is offset by 
 actual tax savings.

Deferred tax assets on losses carried forward in the amount of EUR 126.5 million (March 31, 2019: 
EUR 192.9 million) were recognized. As of March 31, 2020, unused tax losses of approximately 
EUR 1,187.0 million (corporate income tax) (March 31, 2019: approximately EUR 507.6 million), for 
which no deferred tax asset has been recognized, are available. Approximately EUR 283.3 million  
in tax loss carryforwards (corporate income tax) can only be used for a limited time.

Deferred tax assets of EUR 197.1 million (previous year: EUR 86.9 million)—which are instrumental  
to the recognition of future taxable income in excess of the effects on earnings from the reversal of 
 taxable temporary differences—were recognized for Group companies that incurred a tax loss in  
the reporting or previous business year. The recognized amount is based on the tax-related planning 
for the respective company or tax group.

No deferred tax liabilities are shown for EUR 2,334.5 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 2,349.3 million)  
in taxable temporary differences from equity investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associ-
ates, because the parent company can control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and because no reversal of the temporary differences is expected for the foreseeable future. 

The change in the difference between deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is EUR 104.5 mil-
lion (March 31, 2019: EUR –3.6 million). This basically corresponds to the deferred tax income of 
EUR 88.0 million (March 31, 2019: deferred tax expense of EUR –33.3 million); to the change in   
deferred tax assets recognized in other comprehensive income in the amount of EUR 20.8 million 
(March 31, 2019: EUR 27.6 million); to the change in deferred taxes due to differences from foreign 
currency translation in the amount of EUR –4.1 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 2.4 million); and to  
the change in deferred taxes from initial consolidation and deconsolidation in the amount of 
EUR –0.2 million (March 31, 2019: EUR –0.3 million).

Additional disclosures pursuant to IAS 12.81 (ab):

Change 
2018/19 03/31/2019

Change 
2019/20 03/31/2020

Deferred taxes on actuarial gains/losses 26.6 177.0 8.2 185.2

Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 1.0 –1.9 12.6 10.7

Total of deferred taxes recognized in 
other comprehensive income 27.6 175.1 20.8 195.9

In millions of euros
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14. INVENTORIES

03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Raw materials and supplies 1,403.7 1,293.2

Work in progress 1,127.4 914.0

Finished goods 1,267.3 1,205.2

Merchandise 194.8 137.3

As yet unbillable services 9.2 4.4

Advance payments 50.6 44.1

4,053.0 3,598.2

In millions of euros

The Consolidated Financial Statements contain write-downs to the lower net realizable value in the 
amount of EUR 187.6 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 155.7 million). The carrying amount of the  inventories 
that have been written down to the lower net realizable value is EUR 865.0 million (March 31, 2019: 
EUR 605.2 million). As in the previous year, no inventories are pledged as security for liabilities as of 
March 31, 2020. An amount of EUR 6,846.4 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 7,195.4 million) has been 
recognized as cost of materials.

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

03/31/2019

Of which 
remaining 

term of more  
than 1 year 03/31/2020

Of which
remaining

term of more
than 1 year

Trade receivables 1,249.2 1.2 928.4 6.1

Contract assets 266.0 3.7 240.3 10.6

Other receivables and other assets 506.1 44.2 481.4 43.9

 Of which receivables  
 from income taxes 38.7 0.0 39.7 0.0

 Of which other tax assets 209.8 9.8 186.0 12.0

 Of which acquired  
 emission certificates 67.9 0.0 61.8 0.0

2,021.3 49.1 1,650.1 60.6

In millions of euros

Note 1. Revenue contains further information on the contract assets and liabilities.
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16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Cash on hand, cash at banks, checks 485.9 794.7

In millions of euros

17. EQUITY

Share capital (incl. disclosures in accordance with Section 241 Austrian Commercial Code  
(Unternehmensgesetzbuch – UGB)
As of March 31, 2020, the share capital is EUR 324,391,840.99 (March 31, 2019: EUR 324,391,840.99) 
and is divided into 178,549,163 (March 31, 2019: 178,549,163) no-par value bearer shares. All  
shares are fully paid in.

Under Article 4 (2a) of the Articles of Incorporation, the Management Board of voestalpine AG is 
 authorized until June 30, 2024, to increase the company’s share capital with the approval of the 
 Supervisory Board by up to EUR 64,878,368.92 by issuing up to 35,709,833 shares (= 20%) in return 
for cash contributions—if necessary in several tranches (Authorized Capital 2019/I). The Management 
Board has not exercised this authorization up until now.

Under Article 4 (2b) of the Articles of Incorporation, the Management Board of voestalpine AG is 
 authorized until June 30, 2024, to increase the company’s share capital by up to EUR 32,439,183.55 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board by issuing up to 17,854,916 shares (= 10%) in return for 
contributions in kind and/or in cash for the purpose of issuing shares to employees, executives, and 
members of the Management Board of the company or an affiliated company—if necessary in   
several tranches—as well as to exclude the shareholders’ subscription right (i) if the capital increase  
is made in return for contributions in kind, i.e. that shares are issued for the purpose of acquiring 
 companies, operations, or partial operations, or that shares are issued for one or more companies 
 located in Austria or abroad; or (ii) if the capital increase is carried out for the purpose of issuing shares 
to employees, executives, and members of the management board of the company or an affiliated 
company in the context of an employee shareholding scheme (Authorized Capital 2019/II). The 
 Management Board has not exercised this authorization up until now.

Under Article 4 (6) of the Articles of Incorporation, the Management Board of voestalpine AG is 
 authorized to increase the share capital of the company by up to EUR 31,330,922.84 by issuing up 
to 17,244,916 ordinary no-par value bearer shares (= 10%) to be issued to creditors of financial 
 instruments as defined in Section 174 Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG) (con-
vertible bonds, income bonds, or participation rights); the Management Board was authorized to 
 issue these shares at the Annual General Meeting on July 3, 2019 (Contingent Capital Increase). To 
date, the Management Board has not exercised the authorization to issue financial instruments as 
defined in Section 174 Austrian Stock Corporation Act.
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At the Annual General Meeting on July 3, 2019, the Management Board was authorized for a period 
of 30 months to repurchase treasury shares representing up to 10% of the respective share capital. 
The buyback price may not be more than 20% less than or 10% higher than the average closing 
price of the shares on the three market trading days prior to the buyback. The Management Board 
has not exercised this authority to date.

Capital reserves mainly include the share premium (net of capital funding costs), gains/losses from 
the sale of treasury shares, and share-based compensation.

Reserves for treasury shares include the deducted acquisition cost and/or the increase in equity from 
disposals of treasury shares at cost.

Retained earnings include the profit after tax less dividend distributions. When majority interests are 
increased or decreased, the difference between the acquisition cost of the additional shares and 
the pro-rated carrying amount of the non-controlling interests is recognized directly in retained  
earnings. Actuarial gains and losses from provisions for severance payments and pension obliga-
tions are recognized directly and in full in retained earnings in the year in which they are incurred.

The translation reserve serves to cover all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. 

The hedging reserve comprises gains and losses from the effective portion of the cash flow hedges. 
The cumulative gains or losses from hedged transactions recognized in the reserves are not recog-
nized in the income statement until the hedged transaction also affects the result.

The number of shares outstanding for the periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of March 31, 2020, has changed as follows:

Number of  
no-par value shares 

Number of  
treasury shares

Number of shares 
outstanding 

Balance as of April 1, 2018 176,349,163 28,597 176,320,566

Additions 2,200,000 2,200,000

Balance as of March 31, 2019 178,549,163 28,597 178,520,566

Balance as of March 31, 2020 178,549,163 28,597 178,520,566
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Hybrid capital
In the fourth quarter of the business year 2012/13, voestalpine AG issued a new subordinate,  undated 
EUR 500.0 million bond (Hybrid Bond 2013) following an invitation extended to the holders of the 
 Hybrid Bond 2007 to exchange the bond for a new hybrid bond at a 1:1 ratio. The outstanding 
 nominal value of the Hybrid Bond 2007 as a result of this exchange was EUR 500.0 million; the bond 
was  subsequently terminated and redeemed in full as of October 31, 2014. The coupon of the  
Hybrid Bond 2013 was 7.125% until October 31, 2014; 6% from October 31, 2014, to October 31, 
2019; the 5-year swap rate is +4.93% from October 31, 2019, to October 31, 2024; and the 3-month  
EURIBOR is +4.93% plus a step-up of 1% starting from October 31, 2024. The Hybrid Bond 2013 
could be called and redeemed by voestalpine AG, but not the creditors, for the first time on Octo-
ber 31, 2019. On September 9, 2019, the Management Board of voestalpine AG resolved to  
redeem the hybrid bond issued in 2013 in full pursuant to the Bond Conditions effective as of the 
bond’s first possible call date, specifically, October 31, 2019. The redemption amount was EUR 1,060  
(including accrued interest) per bearer bond with a nominal value of EUR 1,000. A total of  
EUR 30.0 million in interest payments on the Hybrid Bond 2013 was disbursed on October 31, 2019 
(October 31, 2018: EUR 30.0 million).

As this instrument satisfied the equity criteria of IAS 32, the proceeds from the bond issues were  
recognized as part of equity. Accordingly, coupon payments were also presented as part of the  
appropriation of profit.

Share-based compensation
As part of the practice of granting employees voestalpine shares in connection with the annual per-
formance bonus, 47.1 thousand shares with a fair value of EUR 1.2 million (2018/19: EUR 4.0 million) 
were removed from equity for this purpose, and 4.2 thousand shares with a value of EUR 0.1 million 
(2018/19: EUR 1.1 million) were added to equity.
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18. PENSIONS AND OTHER EMPLOYEE OBLIGATIONS

03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Provisions for severance payments 603.8 577.0

Provisions for pensions 513.6 540.3

Provisions for long-service bonuses 159.5 160.6

1,276.9 1,277.9

In millions of euros

PROVISIONS FOR SEVERANCE PAYMENTS

2018/19 2019/20

Present value of the defined benefit obligations (DBO)  
as of April 1 588.8 603.8

Service costs for the period 12.0 11.9

Past service costs 0.3 0.0

Interest costs for the period 10.1 8.7

Gains (–)/losses (+) on plan settlements 0.0 0.0

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0.0 1.0

Severance payments –37.6 –44.5

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
changes in financial assumptions 18.9 0.2

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
changes in demographic assumptions 7.1 0.0

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
experience-based adjustments 4.2 –4.8

Plan settlements 0.0 0.0

Other 0.0 0.7

Present value of the defined benefit obligations (DBO)  
as of March 31 603.8 577.0

In millions of euros

EUR 13.4 million (2018/19: EUR 12.8 million) in expenses were recognized in the income statement 
for defined contribution severance payments to external employee pension funds.
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PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS

Present value 
of the DBO Plan assets

Provisions for 
pensions

Balance as of April 1, 2018 743.5 –303.6 439.9

Service costs for the period 9.5 0.0 9.5

Past service costs –0.9 0.0 –0.9

Net interest for the period 15.1 –6.0 9.1

Return on plan assets  
(excluding amounts included in net interest) 0.0 5.9 5.9

Gains (–)/losses (+) on plan settlements/curtailments 0.0 0.0 0.0

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0.0 0.0 0.0

Pension payments –32.8 17.8 –15.0

Net exchange differences 2.5 –2.9 –0.4

Employer contributions/repayments 0.0 –2.0 –2.0

Employee contributions 0.0 –1.4 –1.4

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
changes in financial assumptions 33.6 0.0 33.6

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
changes in demographic assumptions 32.4 0.0 32.4

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
experience-based adjustments 3.0 0.0 3.0

Plan settlements 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other –2.9 2.8 –0.1

Balance as of March 31, 2019 803.0 –289.4 513.6

In millions of euros
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PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS

Present value 
of the DBO Plan assets

Provisions for 
pensions

Balance as of April 1, 2019 803.0 –289.4 513.6

Service costs for the period 9.1 0.0 9.1

Past service costs –0.5 0.0 –0.5

Net interest for the period 14.0 –5.0 9.0

Return on plan assets  
(excluding amounts included in net interest) 0.0 24.9 24.9

Gains (–)/losses (+) on plan settlements/curtailments –0.5 0.0 –0.5

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0.0 0.0 0.0

Pension payments –34.8 19.9 –14.9

Net exchange differences –8.4 1.2 –7.2

Employer contributions/repayments 0.0 –2.2 –2.2

Employee contributions 0.0 –0.9 –0.9

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
changes in financial assumptions 7.2 0.0 7.2

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
changes in demographic assumptions 0.2 0.0 0.2

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to  
experience-based adjustments 2.2 0.0 2.2

Plan settlements 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other 0.4 –0.1 0.3

Balance as of March 31, 2020 791.9 –251.6 540.3

In millions of euros
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The major plan asset categories for the periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of March 31, 2020, are as follows:

2018/19

Category

Assets with a quoted 
market price in  

an active market

Assets without a 
quoted market price 

in an active market Total assets

Debt instruments 42.9% 1.4% 44.3%

Equity instruments 29.2% 0.0% 29.2%

Property 0.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Cash and cash equivalents 5.6% 0.1% 5.7%

Insurance contracts 0.0% 9.6% 9.6%

Other assets 8.2% 0.0% 8.2%

Total 85.9% 14.1% 100.0%

2019/20

Category

Assets with a quoted 
market price in  

an active market

Assets without a 
quoted market price 

in an active market Total assets

Debt instruments 43.6% 0.0% 43.6%

Equity instruments 27.4% 0.0% 27.4%

Property 0.0% 3.1% 3.1%

Cash and cash equivalents 5.9% 0.1% 6.0%

Insurance contracts 0.4% 11.3% 11.7%

Other assets 8.2% 0.0% 8.2%

Total 85.5% 14.5% 100.0%

The plan assets include treasury shares with a fair value of EUR 0.6 million (March 31, 2019:  
EUR 0.9 million). 

The average expected return is determined by the portfolio structure of the plan assets, empirical 
data, and estimates of future returns. The calculation of the provisions for pensions was based on  
an expected (average) interest rate of 1.7% on plan assets. The actual interest rate was –6.9%.
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Pension obligations from Group’s Austrian companies are transferred to APK-Pensionskasse Aktien-
gesellschaft.

The investment policies aim to ensure that the plan assets have the best possible structure and that 
existing entitlements are covered at all times. 

Investment of the plan assets in Austria is governed by Section 25 Austrian Pension Fund Act (Pen
sionskassengesetz – PKG) and the Austrian Investment Fund Act (Investmentfondsgesetz – InvFG). 
Above and beyond these statutory requirements, investment guidelines of APK-Pensionskasse 
Aktien gesellschaft regulate issues such as the range of asset allocation, the use of umbrella funds, 
and the selection of fund managers. New investment instruments or the use of a broader range of 
funds  require the approval of APK-Pensionskasse Aktiengesellschaft’s management board. Both 
 equity and debt securities are diversified globally, but most of the debt securities are denominated 
or hedged in euros.

The assets of the investment and risk association (Veranlagungs- und Risikogemeinschaft, VRG 15)  
are invested in international equity and bond funds, alternative investment strategies (e.g., properties  
and private equity) as well as money market funds. The association’s long-term investment goal is to 
outperform the benchmark—30% global equities, 55% global bonds, 5% cash, 5% alternatives,  
and 5% properties—and to cover its current and future payment obligations. In accordance with  
Section 25 PKG, the assets of VRG 15 are invested in ways that guarantee the security, quality,  
liquidity, and profitability of the assets allocated to the association on the whole.

Asset allocation or regional allocation that deviate from the benchmark allocation are permitted if 
APK-Pensionskasse Aktiengesellschaft believes that current asset prices and/or future expected 
 returns warrant such an approach. Active asset management strategies may be utilized for all asset 
classes if market characteristics and/or cost/benefit considerations justify doing so.

Most of VRG 15’s assets are invested in liquid markets where prices are regularly quoted. Assets for 
which no active market price is quoted (e.g., certain property assets and private equity strategies)  
may be subject to conservative approaches as long as the return/risk profile of such assets is deemed 
advantageous.

Risk is managed actively, and it is generally expected that volatility and especially drawdown risks will 
be lower than the benchmark risk. 

EUR 34.9 million (2018/19: EUR 37.4 million) in expenses were recognized in the income statement 
for defined contribution plans. 
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The sensitivity analysis of the key actuarial assumptions used to determine defined benefit obligations 
affects the DBO as follows:

SENSITIVITIES

Interest rate Salary/wage increases Pension increases
+1.0% –1.0% +0.5% –0.5% +0.25% –0.25%

Pensions –13.2% +16.7% +0.8% –0.7% +2.9% –2.7%

Severance payments –9.8% +11.5% +5.4% –5.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Group-wide figures were determined for the effects associated with the interest rate, wage and  salary 
increases, and pension increases. The sensitivities are not determined by way of estimates or approxi-
mations, but instead by way of comprehensive analyses subject to variation of the parameters.

For the business year 2020/21, the expected contributions to the defined benefit plans are EUR 49.0 
million.

The average interest-weighted term of pension plans is 14.9 years, and 10.7 years for severance 
 payments.
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PROVISIONS FOR LONG-SERVICE BONUSES

2018/19 2019/20

Present value of the long-service bonus obligations (DBO)  
as of April 1 143.0 159.5

Service costs for the period 9.3 10.7

Interest costs for the period 2.5 2.3

Changes in the scope of consolidation 0.0 0.0

Long-service bonus payments –10.3 –9.9

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to changes in assumptions 13.7 0.0

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to experience-based adjustments 0.9 –2.4

Other 0.4 0.4

Present value of the long-service bonus obligations (DBO)  
as of March 31 159.5 160.6

In millions of euros

Expenses/revenue associated with provisions for severance payments, pensions, and long-service 
bonuses recognized in the income statement are categorized as follows:

2018/19 2019/20

Service costs for the period and past service costs 30.2 31.2

Net interest for the period 21.7 20.0

Gains (–)/losses (+) on plan settlements/curtailments 0.0 –0.5

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) from long-service bonus obligations 14.6 –2.4

Expenses/revenue recognized in the income statement 66.5 48.3

In millions of euros

Net interest for the period is recognized in finance costs.
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19. PROVISIONS

Balance  
as of 

04/01/2019

Changes in 
the scope of 

consolidation

Net 
exchange 

differences Use Reversals Transfers Additions

Balance  
as of 

03/31/2020

Non-current  
provisions
 Other personnel  
 expenses 14.0 0.1 –0.1 –4.5 0.0 –0.1 3.4 12.8

 Warranties and 
 other risks 6.1 0.0 0.0 –0.4 –1.5 –0.7 0.5 4.0

 Other non-current 
 provisions 147.2 0.0 –5.1 –88.2 –25.3 –4.3 51.3 75.6

167.3 0.1 –5.2 –93.1 –26.8 –5.1 55.2 92.4

Current provisions
 Unused vacation 
 entitlements 154.2 0.1 –2.2 –108.6 –0.1 0.0 93.3 136.7

 Other personnel 
 expenses 194.9 0.1 –1.5 –167.1 –5.2 0.1 136.6 157.9

 Warranties and 
 other risks 45.5 0.2 –0.3 –11.5 –6.0 1.6 37.1 66.6

 Onerous contracts 37.5 0.0 0.0 –22.0 –8.8 0.0 48.7 55.4

 Other current 
 provisions 210.8 0.0 –0.3 –138.8 –7.1 3.4 162.3 230.3

642.9 0.4 –4.3 –448.0 –27.2 5.1 478.0 646.9

810.2 0.5 –9.5 –541.1 –54.0 0.0 533.2 739.3

In millions of euros
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The provisions for personnel expenses mainly include incentive payments and bonuses. Provisions for 
warranties and other risks as well as for onerous contracts concern current operating activities. The 
other provisions mainly consist of provisions for sales commission; litigation, legal, and consulting  
fees; and environmental protection obligations. 

The amount recognized as a provision for warranties and other risks is calculated as the most reliable 
estimated amount that would be required to settle these obligations at the reporting date. The   
statistical measure is the expected value. In turn, this is based on the probability of an event occur-
ring in the light of past experience. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized when the unavoidable cost of meeting the given  
contractual obligations exceed the expected revenue. Before recognizing separate provisions for an 
onerous contract, an entity recognizes an impairment loss on the assets associated with the given 
contract. 

The antitrust investigations of the German Federal Cartel Office (Bundeskartellamt) regarding railway 
superstructure material that were triggered in 2011 by an application under the Leniency Notice  
were completed against voestalpine in 2013. A total of EUR 14.9 million in fines were issued against 
voestalpine in this connection. Another application under the Leniency Notice by voestalpine  
triggered the Bundeskartellamt’s investigation against special steel companies; it was completed  
in July 2018 as far as voestalpine is concerned. As the principal witness, no fines were imposed on 
voestalpine. In connection with the proceedings that the Bundeskartellamt launched in September 
2017 pursuant to a search warrant on suspicion of anti-competitive practices under German com-
petition law in the heavy plate segment, voestalpine agreed in December 2019 to settle the matter 
by paying a fine of EUR 65.5 million. These proceedings, too, have thus been brought to an end.

To the extent relevant, voestalpine set up provisions as of the March 31, 2020, reporting date for any 
negative effects from these anti-trust investigations.

Increases in provisions totaling EUR 0.6 million (2018/19: EUR 0.6 million) are included in the report-
ing period due to both accrued interest and changes in the discount rate.
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20. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Remaining term  
of up to 1 year

Remaining term  
of more than 1 year

03/31/2019 03/31/2020 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Bonds and liabilities to banks 1,009.9 642.5 2,594.3 3,484.9

Liabilities from leases1 7.9 44.1 7.4 369.0

Liabilities to affiliates 11.0 9.1 0.0 0.0

Liabilities to other investments 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other financial liabilities 113.1 58.4 60.1 35.8

 1,142.3 754.1 2,661.8 3,889.7

1 The increase in lease liabilities results from the first-time application of IFRS 16  
using the modified retrospective method pursuant to IFRS 16 as of April 1, 2019. In millions of euros

On October 14, 2014, voestalpine AG issued a fixed interest bond of EUR 400.0 million. The bond will 
be redeemed in October 2021 and carries an annual interest rate of 2.25%.

On September 27, 2017, voestalpine AG issued a fixed interest bond of EUR 500.0 million. The bond 
will be redeemed in September 2024 and carries an annual interest rate of 1.375%.

On April 10, 2019, voestalpine AG issued a fixed interest bond of EUR 500.0 million. The bond will be 
 redeemed in April 2026 and carries an annual interest rate of 1.75%.

In the business year 2019/20 (as in the previous year), there were no buybacks of corporate bonds.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Trade payables 1,487.8 1,261.5

Contract liabilities 114.5 141.4

Trade payables with reverse factoring agreements 5.7 6.9

Liabilities from bills of exchange accepted and drawn 702.6 600.5

Other liabilities from taxes 92.3 91.5

Other liabilities related to social security 51.9 60.4

Other liabilities 383.7 398.7

 2,838.5 2,560.9

In millions of euros

Note 1. Revenue contains further information on contract assets and liabilities.

The liabilities from bills of exchange stem from obligations under supply and service relationships that 
 provide for payment via bill of exchange. In this connection, payment terms of up to 120 days have 
been stipulated, and interest payments in the amount of EUR 3.2 million (2018/19: EUR 3.2 million) 
have been incurred.

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Liabilities from the issue and transfer of bills of exchange 2.1 0.8

Surety bonds and guarantees 0.6 0.5

 2.7 1.3

In millions of euros
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The Austrian Federal Finance Court has directed a request for a preliminary ruling to the European Court 
of Justice (ECJ) with regard to the Austrian energy tax rebate (BFG 10/31/2014, RE/5100001/2014). 
The amendment of the Austrian Energy Tax Rebate Act in the Budget Accompanying Act 2011 
 (Energieabgabenvergütungsgesetz mit dem Budgetbegleitgesetz 2011 – BBG 2011), applicable to 
periods after December 31, 2010, restricted the energy tax rebate to production companies. Sub-
sequently, the question of whether this restriction, which may be deemed state aid, violated EU law 
was submitted to the ECJ for a preliminary ruling; this has actually been affirmed by the court 
(ECJ 7/21/2016, docket no. C-493/14, Dilly’s Wellnesshotel GmbH). As a result, the restrictions  pursued 
by the Budget Accompanying Act 2011 did not enter into force with legal effect and, therefore,  service 
providers, in particular, can retroactively claim the energy tax rebate for periods after February 1, 2011. 
In its  subsequent ruling, the Federal Finance Court declared that the restriction to production com-
panies did not enter into effect. The Tax Office appealed this decision to the Higher Administrative 
Court, which forwarded the case anew to the ECJ in September 2017 (Resolution of September 14, 
2017, EU 2017/0005 and 0006-1). The decision of the ECJ dated November 14, 2019 (ECJ 11/14/2019, 
docket no. C-585/17, Dilly’s Wellnesshotel II) confirms that the limitation to manufacturing companies 
imposed by the BBG 2011 was put in place in ways consonant with European Union law. It remains to 
be seen how the Austrian Higher Administrative Court (docket no. Ro 2016/15/0041 dated 9/14/2017) 
will rule in its final decision. No adverse impact is anticipated for the voestalpine Group.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

General information
The principal financial instruments used by the voestalpine Group consist of bank loans, bonds,  
borrower’s notes, and trade payables. The primary aim of the financial instruments is to fund the 
 business activities of the Group. The Group holds various financial assets, such as trade receivables, 
current deposits, and non-current investments, which arise directly from its business activities.

The Group also uses derivative financial instruments. They mainly include interest rate swaps, forward 
exchange transactions, and commodity swaps. These derivative financial instruments serve to hedge 
interest rate and currency risks as well as risks from fluctuations in raw materials prices, which result 
from the business activities of the Group and its sources of financing.

Capital management
In addition to ensuring the availability of the liquidity necessary for supporting the Group’s business 
activities and maximizing shareholder value, the primary objective of its capital management is to 
ensure an adequate credit rating and a satisfactory equity ratio.

The voestalpine Group manages its capital using the net financial debt to EBITDA ratio as well as the 
gearing ratio, i.e., the net financial debt to equity ratio. Net financial debt consists of interest-bearing 
loans less financing receivables, loan receivables, securities as well as cash and cash equivalents. 
 Equity includes non-controlling interests in Group companies and any hybrid capital.
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The target for the gearing ratio is 50% and may only be exceeded up to a maximum of 75% for a 
limited period of time. The net financial debt/EBITDA ratio shall not exceed 3.0 and, if it does, only for 
a limited time. All growth measures and capital market transactions are aligned with these ratios.

These two ratios developed as follows in the reporting period:

03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Gearing ratio in % 46.6% 67.2%

Net financial debt to EBITDA ratio 2.0 3.2

Financial risk management – Corporate finance organization
Financial risk management also includes raw material risk management. Financial risk management 
is organized centrally with respect to policy-making power, strategy determination, and target  definition. 
The existent policies include targets, principles, duties, and responsibilities for both Group Treasury 
and individual Group companies. In addition, they govern matters related to pooling; money markets; 
credit and securities management; currency, interest rate, liquidity, and commodity price risks; and 
the reporting system. Group Treasury, acting as a service center, is responsible for implementation. 
Three organizationally separate units are responsible for closing, processing, and recording trans-
actions, which makes sure that a six-eyes principle is followed. Policies, policy compliance, and the 
conformity of the business processes with the internal control system (ICS) are additionally reviewed 
at regular intervals by an external auditor.

It is part of the voestalpine Group’s corporate policy to continuously monitor, quantify, and—where 
reasonable—hedge financial risks. The Group’s risk appetite is more on the low side. The strategy is 
aimed at achieving natural hedges and reducing fluctuations in cash flows and earnings. Market  
risks are also hedged by means of derivative financial instruments. 

To quantify interest rate risks, voestalpine AG uses the interest rate exposure as an indicator. The   
interest rate exposure quantifies the impact of a one percentage point change in the market rate  
on interest income and/or interest expense. 

Putting in place a netting process aggregates and balances the Group’s foreign currency cash flows. 
This creates a natural hedge. 

A sensitivity analysis is carried out to quantify the currency risk based on a potential strengthening 
(weakening) of the euro relative to the other currencies by 10% as of March 31. The analysis posits 
that all other influencing factors are constant.
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Liquidity risk – Financing
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of not being able to fulfill payment obligations due to insufficient funds.

The primary instrument for controlling liquidity risks is a precise financial plan that is submitted quar-
terly on a revolving basis by the operating entities directly to Group Treasury of voestalpine AG.  
Group Treasury conducted additional reviews in order to take current conditions resulting from the 
COVID-19 crisis into account. The need for funds and bank credit lines are determined based on  
the consolidated results. The planned liquidity needs for the next 12 months are to be covered by a 
liquidity reserve. 

Working capital is financed by Group Treasury. A central clearing system performs intra-Group netting 
daily. Entities with liquidity surpluses indirectly put these funds at the disposal of entities requiring 
 liquidity. Group Treasury deposits any residual liquidity with its principal banks. This makes it possible 
to lower the borrowing volume and optimize net interest income. 

Financing is either carried out in the given borrower’s local currency in order to avoid exchange rate 
risks or is currency hedged using currency swaps.

voestalpine AG carries contractually guaranteed credit lines of EUR 780.0 million (2018/19: EUR 700.0 mil-
lion) as a capitalized liquidity reserve. In addition, an item in current assets comprises securities and 
short-term investments that are used to cover any unexpected need for liquidity. As of March 31, 2020, 
freely disposable securities were EUR 55.4 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 182.2 million). Furthermore, 
cash and cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 794.7 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 485.9 million) 
are reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The sources of financing are managed pursuant to the principle that the Group must remain inde-
pendent of banks. Hence financing is currently provided by approximately 20 different domestic and 
foreign banks. The capital market is also used as a source of financing. 

The following capital market transactions were effected in the business year 2018/19:

Issuance of new borrower’s notes EUR 300.0 million

Issuance of new borrower’s notes USD 320.0 million
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The following capital market transactions were effected in the business year 2019/20:

Issuance of Senior Bond 2026 EUR 500.0 million

In April 2019, voestalpine AG successfully placed a new EUR 500.0 million corporate bond issue  
with a coupon of 1.75% in the capital market for general corporate funding purposes (maturity  
date: 2026). April 10, 2019, was the value date and start of official trading of the seven-year bond 
(ISIN AT0000A27LQ1).

A maturity analysis of all financial liabilities existent as of the reporting date is presented below:

LIABILITIES

Due within  
1 year

Due between  
1 and 5 years

Due after  
more than 5 years

03/31/2019 03/31/2020 03/31/2019 03/31/2020 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Bonds 0.0 121.3 396.7 895.7 497.2 547.8

Bank loans 1,009.9 521.2 1,293.7 1,763.4 406.7 278.0

Trade payables 1,487.5 1,261.5 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0

Liabilities from leases1 7.9 44.1 6.9 154.1 0.5 214.9

Liabilities from foreign 
currency hedges and 
commodity hedges 15.4 41.3 2.7 14.6 0.0 0.0

Thereof designated 
as hedge accounting 2.6 30.1 2.3 14.2 0.0 0.0

Liabilities from interest 
hedges (incl. cross 
currency swaps) 2.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

Thereof designated 
as hedge accounting 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other financial liabilities 124.5 67.5 35.1 35.8 25.0 0.0

Other liabilities 848.4 740.2 24.0 25.1 0.0 0.0

Total liabilities 3,495.6 2,797.1 1,760.3 2,888.7 929.4 1,040.7

1 The increase in lease liabilities results from the first-time application of IFRS 16  
using the modified retrospective method pursuant to IFRS 16 as of April 1, 2019. In millions of euros
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As estimated as of the reporting date, the following (prospective) interest expense corresponds to 
these existent liabilities:

Due within  
1 year

Due between  
1 and 5 years

Due after  
more than 5 years

2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Interest on bonds 15.9 25.5 45.5 75.1 6.9 23.8

Interest on bank loans 54.1 38.4 113.4 78.8 24.7 13.5

Interest on liabilities  
from leases 0.6 8.3 0.7 25.9 0.0 74.0

Interest on interest hedges 
(incl. cross currency swaps) 13.0 2.3 10.3 0.1 0.0 0.0

Interest on other financial 
liabilities 1.9 1.8 3.9 3.0 0.8 0.0

Total interest expense 85.5 76.4 173.8 183.0 32.4 111.4

In millions of euros

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to financial losses that may occur due to non-fulfillment of contractual obligations 
by individual business partners.

The management of credit risks from investment and derivative transactions is governed by internal 
guidelines. All investment and derivative transactions are limited for each counterparty, with the size 
of the limit being contingent on the bank’s rating.

For the most part, cash and cash equivalents are deposited with banks whose credit ratings are good. 
They are generally invested for the short term. The associated credit risk thus is secondary.

BREAKDOWN OF INVESTMENTS AT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS BY RATING CLASS

AAA AA A BBB <BBB/NR

Money market investments  
excl. account credit balances 0.0 188.0 150.5 0.0 0.0

Derivatives1 0.0 42.5 5.6 0.5 3.8

1 Only positive fair values In millions of euros
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The credit risk associated with derivative financial instruments is limited to transactions with a positive 
fair value and, in this case, to the amount of the fair value. As a result, solely the positive fair value of 
the derivative transactions is counted against the limit. Derivatives are closed exclusively based on 
standardized master agreements for financial futures transactions.

The credit risk of the underlying transactions is minimized to a large degree through a large number 
of credit insurances and bankable securities (guarantees, letters of credit). The default risk related to 
the Group’s remaining own risk is managed by way of defined credit assessment, risk evaluation, risk 
classification, and credit monitoring processes. The credit risk of the counterparties to financial  contracts 
is managed by monitoring the given counterparties’ credit ratings and changes in their credit default 
swap (CDS) levels on a regular basis.

Depending on both the customer structure and the line of business, financial assets are deemed to 
have been defaulted when they are more than 180 days past due or when it is no longer certain that 
they will be paid in full absent collateral sales.

Receivables are classified as financial assets with impaired credit ratings when specific indicators of 
impairment are present (in particular, substantial financial difficulties on the part of the debtor,  default 
or late payments, heightened risk of insolvency). Receivables are written off (derecognized) when they 
become uncollectible (especially when the counterparty becomes insolvent). A write-up to the amor-
tized cost is made if the reasons for the write-down no longer exist.

The maximum theoretical default risk equals the amount at which the receivables are recognized in 
the statement of financial position.

The expected loss rates are determined based on historical default rates in the past five years. 

As most of the receivables are insured, the risk of bad debt losses may be considered minor. There is 
no concentration of default risks, because the customer portfolio is well diversified. 
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The gross carrying amounts and allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are as follows:

2018/19 2019/20

Gross carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets 1,545.7 1,194.4

Less gross carrying amount of trade receivables and  
contract assets that are credit-impaired –62.4 –44.6

Gross carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets 
that are not credit-impaired 1,483.3 1,149.8

Less portfolio value adjustments –0.7 –0.6

Net carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets 
that are not credit-impaired 1,482.6 1,149.2

In millions of euros

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS THAT ARE PAST DUE BUT NOT CREDIT-IMPAIRED

2018/19 2019/20

Up to 30 days past due 165.0 163.7

31 to 60 days past due 47.9 45.6

61 to 90 days past due 21.8 16.9

91 to 120 days past due 11.0 8.1

More than 120 days past due 47.0 57.2

Total 292.7 291.5

In millions of euros
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The loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets that are credit-impaired have  developed 
as follows:

LOSS ALLOWANCE FOR RECEIVABLES THAT ARE CREDIT-IMPAIRED  
(INDIVIDUAL VALUE ADJUSTMENTS)

2018/19 2019/20

Opening balance as of April 1 24.6 29.7
 

Additions 11.4 7.1

Net exchange differences –0.2 –1.1

Changes in the scope of consolidation –0.4 0.1

Reversal –3.7 –5.4

Use –2.0 –5.2

Closing balance as of March 31 29.7 25.2

In millions of euros

LOSS ALLOWANCE FOR RECEIVABLES THAT ARE NOT CREDIT-IMPAIRED  
(PORTFOLIO VALUE ADJUSTMENTS)

2018/19 2019/20

Opening balance as of April 1 1.2 0.7
   

Change –0.5 –0.1

Closing balance as of March 31 0.7 0.6

In millions of euros

In the business year 2019/20, the portfolio value adjustments were not affected by any significant 
 individual loss allowances.
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voestalpine has analyzed the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on expected credit losses as of the 
reporting date using information external and internal to the Group and has assessed based thereon 
whether its prior estimates of credit losses must be adjusted. In particular, currently available infor-
mation regarding changes in probabilities of default (PDs) owing to the pandemic as well as internal 
 assessments of counterparties’ payment history and related non-payment risks served as the basis 
for these assessments. Given that non-payment risks are deemed very low at this time, voestalpine 
expects any increase in default risks due to the COVID-19 pandemic to have a negligible impact on 
the Group’s earnings.

Currency risk
The largest currency position in the Group arises from raw materials purchases in USD; however, the 
global business activities of the voestalpine Group also give rise to currency exposures in various  other 
currencies.

Cash inflows and outflows in the respective currencies are offset thanks to the implementation of  rolling 
multi-currency netting. The natural hedge created in this way mitigates risk. The use of derivative hedg-
ing instruments is another option. voestalpine AG hedges budgeted foreign currency payments at 
most over the next 12 months. Longer-term hedging occurs only for contracted projects. The hedging 
ratio is between 25% and 100%. The further in the future the cash flows, the lower the hedging ratio.

The net requirement for USD in the voestalpine Group was EUR 492.5 million in the business year 
2019/20. The decrease compared to the previous year (EUR 615.3 million) was due primarily to a 
 reduction in the volume of raw materials purchases. The remaining foreign currency exposure, result-
ing primarily from exports to the “non-eurozone” and raw material purchases, is significantly lower 
than the USD risk.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY PORTFOLIO 2019/20

15%
Other
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GBP
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Based on the sensitivity analysis, as of March 31, 2020, the risks of all open positions relative to the 
Group currency for the upcoming business year are as follows:

FOREIGN CURRENCY PORTFOLIO 2019/20

Planned 
position

Rate 
03/31/2020

Planned 
position 

(EUR)

Planned 
position 

(EUR)  
+10%

Delta 
(EUR)  

+10%

Planned 
position 

(EUR)  
–10%

Delta 
(EUR)  

–10%

USD –404.8 1.0956 –369.5 –335.9 33.6 –410.5 –41.1

CAD 62.1 1.5617 39.7 36.1 –3.6 44.1 4.4

GBP 34.9 0.8864 39.3 35.8 –3.6 43.7 4.4

SEK –356.8 11.0613 –32.3 –29.3 2.9 –35.8 –3.6

PLN 122.7 4.5506 27.0 24.5 –2.5 30.0 3.0

RON 91.5 4.8283 19.0 17.2 –1.7 21.1 2.1

CNY 143.2 7.7901 18.4 16.7 –1.7 20.4 2.0

Other 28.6 26.0 –2.6 31.7 3.2

Total 20.9 –25.5

In millions of euros
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Interest rate risks
voestalpine AG is primarily subject to cash flow risks (the risk that interest expenses or interest income 
will undergo a detrimental change) in connection with variable-interest financial instruments. The 
 positions shown include all interest-rate-sensitive financial instruments (loans, money market, issued 
and purchased securities as well as interest rate derivatives).

The primary objective of interest rate management is to optimize the interest expense subject to risk 
considerations. 

The variable-interest positions on the liabilities side significantly exceed the positions on the asset side, 
so that a one percentage point increase in the money market rate increases the interest expense by 
EUR 10.9 million (2018/19: EUR 13.9 million). A decrease in the interest rate by one percentage point 
lowers interest income by EUR –7.0 million (2018/19: EUR –11.6 million).

The weighted average interest rate for asset positions is −0.07% (2018/19: 0.61%) with a duration of 
0.00 years (2018/19: EUR 0.40 years)—including money market investments—and 1.42% (2018/19: 
1.78%) for liability positions with a duration of 2.40 years (2018/19: 2.01 years).

Position1

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
Duration 

(years)

Average 
capital 

commitment 
(years)2

Cash flow 
risk

+1% point1

Cash flow  
risk

–1% point1

Assets 791.8 –0.07% 0.00 0.00 –7.8 7.8

Liabilities 4,227.3 1.42% 2.40 4.11 18.7 –14.8

Net –3,435.5 10.9 –7.0

1 In millions of euros
2 Excluding revolving export loans of EUR 241.0 million
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In the previous year, the asset positions included EUR 129.6 million in investments in the V54 fund of 
funds. One hundred percent of the fund assets were invested in euro or cash bonds and money  
market securities of the two sub-funds, V101 (2018/19: EUR 54.4 million) and V103 (2018/19: 
EUR 25.0 million), as well as in various special funds (2018/19: EUR 50.0 million). In the business  
year 2019/20, the V54 fund of funds posted gains of 2.01% (2018/19: 0.47%). This fund of funds  
was closed in the current business year. 

In addition to the investment fund, there also were securities exposures in the amount of EUR 64.3 mil-
lion in the business year 2018/19.

Derivative financial instruments
In the business year 2019/20, hedge accounting in accordance with IFRS 9 was used to hedge foreign 
currency cash flows, interest-bearing receivables and liabilities, and raw materials purchase agree-
ments. In this connection, all transactions related to foreign currency and interest rate hedges are 
hedged in total. Solely the commodity index component is hedged in connection with raw materials 
procurement contracts. A hedging ratio of 100% is stipulated in this connection. The hedges are cash 
flow hedges. Hedge accounting is only applied to a portion of the completed hedge transactions. 
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The following derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges:

Nominal amount1 Fair value Line item in the  
statement of financial  
position that includes  
the hedging instrument

Change in the fair value  
used as the basis  

for recognizing hedge  
ineffectiveness

Ineffectiveness

Assets Liabilities
03/31/

2019
03/31/

2020
03/31/

2019
03/31/

2020
03/31/

2019
03/31/

2020
2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Cash flow hedge
Foreign currency hedges 389.3 545.9 3.3 0.5 4.5 21.3 Trade and other receivables (assets)

Trade and other payables (liabilities)
–1.2 –20.8 0.0 0.0

Commodity hedges 88.5 207.4 9.2 1.0 0.4 23.0 Trade and other receivables (assets)
Trade and other payables (liabilities)

8.8 –22.1 0.0 0.0

Total 477.8 753.3 12.5 1.5 4.9 44.3 7.6 –42.9 0.0 0.0

1 A total of EUR 508.8 million of the derivative financial instruments classified as cash flow hedges have short-term maturities.  
 The remaining portion largely has maturities of two to three years. In millions of euros
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The following derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges:

Nominal amount1 Fair value Line item in the  
statement of financial  
position that includes  
the hedging instrument

Change in the fair value  
used as the basis  

for recognizing hedge  
ineffectiveness

Ineffectiveness

Assets Liabilities
03/31/

2019
03/31/

2020
03/31/

2019
03/31/

2020
03/31/

2019
03/31/

2020
2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20

Cash flow hedge
Foreign currency hedges 389.3 545.9 3.3 0.5 4.5 21.3 Trade and other receivables (assets)

Trade and other payables (liabilities)
–1.2 –20.8 0.0 0.0

Commodity hedges 88.5 207.4 9.2 1.0 0.4 23.0 Trade and other receivables (assets)
Trade and other payables (liabilities)

8.8 –22.1 0.0 0.0

Total 477.8 753.3 12.5 1.5 4.9 44.3 7.6 –42.9 0.0 0.0

1 A total of EUR 508.8 million of the derivative financial instruments classified as cash flow hedges have short-term maturities.  
 The remaining portion largely has maturities of two to three years. In millions of euros



C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

The hedging volume of key foreign currency hedges is as follows:

Nominal 
amount

(in millions  
of euros)

03/31/2019

Nominal 
amount

(in millions  
of euros)

03/31/2020

Average  
rate

03/31/2019

Average  
rate

03/31/2020

Cash flow hedge      

Foreign currency hedges      

USD 389.3 412.6 1.1674 1.1660

The following underlying transactions were hedged:

Change in the value of  
the hedged item used as 
the basis for recognizing 

any ineffectiveness

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

03/31/2019 03/31/2020 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Cash flow hedge
Currency risk  
(future purchase and sale transactions) 1.2 20.8 –1.2 –20.8

Commodity price risk  
(future purchase and sale transactions) –8.8 22.1 8.8 –22.1

Total –7.6 42.9 7.6 –42.9

In millions of euros
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The cash flow hedge reserve developed as follows:

CASH FLOW HEDGE

2018/19 2019/20

Opening balance as of April 1 8.7 5.6

Hedging gains and losses recognized in  
other comprehensive income –2.1 –40.5

Foreign currency hedges –10.9 –18.5

Commodity hedges 8.8 –22.0

Reclassification from other comprehensive income  
to profit or loss (revenue) –4.0 1.7

Foreign currency hedges –4.0 1.7

Reclassification from other comprehensive income  
to profit or loss (financial result) 0.5 0.0

Interest rate hedges 0.5 0.0

Reclassification from other comprehensive income  
to non-financial assets 1.5 –11.6

Foreign currency hedges 0.6 –2.8

Commodity hedges 0.9 –8.8

Deferred taxes on changes in the cash flow hedge reserve 1.0 12.6

Closing balance as of March 31 5.6 –32.2

In millions of euros

The following derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The associated gains/losses 
are posted in the income statement:

Nominal amount Fair value
Assets Liabilities

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

Foreign currency 
hedges 849.0 970.9 2.3 9.7 13.1 10.9

Cross currency swaps 191.0 153.6 14.1 41.2 2.9 0.0

Commodity hedges 11.3 3.1 1.2 –0.0 0.1 0.7

Total 1,051.3 1,127.6 17.6 50.9 16.1 11.6

In millions of euros
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Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges have the following effects on cash flows and the profit or 
loss for the period:

Total contractual 
cash flows

Contractual cash flows

up to  
1 year

between  
1 and 5 years

more than  
5 years

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

Foreign currency hedges                

Assets 3.3 0.5 3.3 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Liabilities –4.5 –21.2 –2.2 –7.1 –2.3 –14.1 0.0 0.0

 –1.2 –20.7 1.1 –6.6 –2.3 –14.1 0.0 0.0
               

Commodity hedges                

Assets 9.2 0.9 9.2 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Liabilities –0.4 –23.0 –0.4 –22.9 0.0 –0.1 0.0 0.0

 8.8 –22.1 8.8 –22.0 0.0 –0.1 0.0 0.0

In millions of euros
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The nominal amounts are allocated to the aforementioned maturity buckets as follows:

Total  
nominal amount

Nominal amount

up to  
1 year

between  
1 and 5 years

more than  
5 years

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

03/31/
2019

03/31/
2020

Foreign currency hedges                

Assets 246.7 39.3 246.7 38.0 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0

Liabilities 142.6 506.6 66.9 265.0 75.7 241.6 0.0 0.0

 389.3 545.9 313.6 303.0 75.7 242.9 0.0 0.0
               

Commodity hedges                

Assets 73.5 21.9 73.2 21.1 0.3 0.8 0.0 0.0

Liabilities 15.0 185.6 15.0 184.7 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0

 88.5 207.5 88.2 205.8 0.3 1.7 0.0 0.0

In millions of euros
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Categories of financial instruments

Categories Financial  
assets  

measured  
at AC1

Hedge  
accounting

Financial  
assets  

measured  
at FVTPL

Total

Assets 03/31/2019        

Other financial assets, non-current 2.4 – 33.4 35.8

Trade and other receivables 1,209.62 12.4 160.9 1,382.9

Other financial assets, current – – 182.3 182.3

Cash and cash equivalents 485.9 – – 485.9

Carrying amount 1,697.9 12.4 376.6 2,086.9

1 The carrying amount of the financial assets measured at AC represents an adequate  
 approximation of the fair value.
2 The receivables of EUR 1,582.0 million reported as of March 31, 2019, were adjusted by  
 EUR 372.4 million (mainly receivables from tax authorities). In millions of euros

Categories Financial  
assets  

measured  
at AC1

Hedge  
accounting

Financial  
assets  

measured  
at FVTPL

Total

Assets 03/31/2020
Other financial assets, non-current 4.1 – 48.4 52.5

Trade and other receivables 901.4 1.5 162.6 1,065.5

Other financial assets, current – – 55.5 55.5

Cash and cash equivalents 794.7 – – 794.7

Carrying amount 1,700.2 1.5 266.5 1,968.2

1 The carrying amount of the financial assets measured at AC represents an adequate  
 approximation of the fair value. In millions of euros
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Categories Financial liabilities 
measured  

at AC

Hedge
accounting

Financial liabilities 
measured  

at FVTPL

Total

Carrying 
amount

Fair value Carrying 
amount

(= fair value)

Carrying  
amount

(= fair value)

Carrying 
amount

Fair value

Liabilities 03/31/2019
Financial liabilities, 
non-current 2,661.8 2,688.7 – – 2,661.8 2,688.7

Financial liabilities,  
current 1,142.3 1,140.3 – – 1,142.3 1,140.3

Trade and other payables¹ 2,360.2 2,360.2² 4.9 16.1 2,381.2 2,381.2

Total 6,164.3 6,189.2 4.9 16.1 6,185.3 6,210.2

1 The carrying amount of the trade and other payables represents an adequate approximation of the fair value.
2 Liabilities of EUR 2,710.9 million reported as of March 31, 2019, were adjusted by EUR 350.7 million  
 (mainly liabilities to tax authorities and employees). In millions of euros

Categories Financial liabilities 
measured  

at AC

Hedge
accounting

Financial liabilities 
measured  

at FVTPL

Total

Carrying 
amount

Fair value Carrying 
amount

(= fair value)

Carrying  
amount

(= fair value)

Carrying 
amount

Fair value

Liabilities 03/31/2020
Financial liabilities, 
non-current 3,889.6 3,707.1 – – 3,889.6 3,707.1

Financial liabilities,  
current 754.1 752.2 – – 754.1 752.2

Trade and other payables¹ 2,026.8 2,026.8 44.3 11.7 2,082.8 2,082.8

Total 6,670.5 6,486.1 44.3 11.7 6,726.5 6,542.1

1 The carrying amount of the trade and other payables represents an adequate approximation of the fair value. In millions of euros
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The financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, excluding bonds issued, fall under Level 2. Valu-
ation is performed according to the discounted cash flow method, whereby the input parameters for 
the calculation of the fair values are the foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and credit spreads  
observable on the market. Using the input parameters, the fair values are calculated by discounting 
estimated future cash flows at market interest rates.

Bonds issued are measured using Level 1 inputs based on the quoted price as of the reporting date.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are an appropriate approximation of the fair value.

The table below analyzes regular fair value measurements of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
These measurements are based on a fair value hierarchy that categorizes the inputs included in the 
valuation methods used to measure fair value into three levels. The three levels are defined as follows:

INPUTS

Level 1 Comprises quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical  
assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 Comprises inputs other than the quoted prices included in Level 1  
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 Comprises unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY LEVELS USED FOR RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

03/31/2019     
Financial assets     
Other financial assets, non-current 1.3 – 32.1 33.4

Receivables from derivatives – hedge accounting – 12.4 – 12.4

Trade and other receivables – 17.6 143.3 160.9

Other financial assets, current 182.3 – – 182.3

183.6 30.0 175.4 389.0

Financial liabilities     
Liabilities from derivatives – hedge accounting – 4.9 – 4.9

Trade and other payables – 16.1 – 16.1

0.0 21.0 0.0 21.0
  

03/31/2020     
Financial assets
Other financial assets, non-current 12.0 – 36.4 48.4

Receivables from derivatives – hedge accounting – 1.5 – 1.5

Trade and other receivables – 50.9 111.7 162.6

Other financial assets, current 55.5 – – 55.5

67.5 52.4 148.1 268.0

Financial liabilities     
Liabilities from derivatives – hedge accounting – 44.3 – 44.3

Trade and other payables – 11.7 – 11.7

– 56.0 – 56.0

  In millions of euros
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The derivative transactions (Level 2) are measured using the discounted cash flow method by deter-
mining the value that would be realized if the hedging position were closed out (liquidation method). 
The observable currency exchange rates and raw materials prices as well as interest rates are the   
input for the calculation of fair values. Fair values are calculated based on the inputs by discounting 
expected future cash flows at market interest rates.

The voestalpine Group recognizes reclassifications between different levels of the fair value hierarchy 
as of the end of the reporting period in which the change occurred. There were no reclassifications  
in the business years 2018/19 or 2019/20.

The table below presents the reconciliation of Level 3 financial assets measured at fair value between 
the opening balance and the closing balance, as follows:

LEVEL 3 – FVTPL – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS – NON-CURRENT

2018/19 2019/20

Opening balance 32.1 32.1

Total of gains/losses recognized in the income statement:   

Finance costs/Finance income 0.0 4.3

Closing balance 32.1 36.4

In millions of euros

Level 3 includes the equity investment in Energie AG Oberösterreich that is measured at fair value. The 
fair value of this entity can be reliably determined based on the valuation report that is prepared once 
a year for Energie AG Oberösterreich as a whole, taking into account all relevant information.

Significant sensitivities in the determination of the fair values may result from changes in the underly-
ing market data of comparable entities and the input factors used to determine the net present value 
(particularly discount rates, non-current forecasts, plan data, etc.).
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LEVEL 3 – FVTPL – TRADE RECEIVABLES (SALE BUSINESS MODEL)

2018/19 2019/20

Opening balance as of April 1 144.1 143.3

Disposals –144.1 –143.3

Additions 143.3 111.7

Closing balance as of March 31 143.3 111.7

In millions of euros

The receivables in this portfolio are sold monthly on a rolling basis as part of the Group’s factoring 
 programs. The measurement gains or losses allocable to this portfolio are of secondary significance.

The credit risk associated with a particular debtor is the most important factor in the fair value deter-
mination of the portfolio entitled, “Trade and other receivables held for factoring.” Any increase/ 
decrease by 1% in the established default rates thus would change the fair value of this portfolio at 
most in the same amount; as a rule, however, the fair value change is disproportionately low, because 
credit  insurance has been purchased for significant portions of the portfolio.

The table below shows the net gains and losses on financial instruments, broken down by measure-
ment category:

2018/19 2019/20

Financial assets at AC 4.5 10.5

Financial liabilities at AC –114.8 –118.0

Financial assets at FVTPL 11.4 –2.3

Derivatives at FVTPL –5.5 35.6

In millions of euros
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Total interest income and total interest expense for financial assets and financial liabilities that were 
not measured at fair value through profit or loss are as follows:

2018/19 2019/20

Total interest income 11.2 16.4

Total interest expense –114.8 –118.0

In millions of euros

The impairment loss on financial instruments measured at AC is EUR 8.8 million (2018/19: EUR 13.4 mil-
lion), and the reversals of loss allowances are EUR 5.4 million (2018/19: EUR 3.7 million).

24. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The consolidated statement of cash flows was prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash 
equivalents include cash on hand, cash at banks, and checks. The effects of changes in the scope of 
consolidation were eliminated and reported in the cash flows from investing activities.

2018/19 2019/20

Interest received 6.0 6.1

Interest paid 120.7 129.3

Taxes paid 232.2 137.9

In millions of euros

Interest received and paid as well as taxes paid are included in the cash flows from operating activities.
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NON-CASH EXPENSES AND INCOME

2018/19 2019/20

Depreciation, amortization, impairment / reversal 771.7 1,278.8

Result from the sale of assets –4.6 –15.9

Changes in pensions and other employee obligations,  
non-current provisions, and deferred taxes 124.8 –181.0

Other non-cash income and expenses –46.8 4.7

 845.1 1,086.6

In millions of euros

Cash flows from operating activities include dividend income of EUR 11.9 million (2018/19:  
EUR 16.5 million) from associates and joint ventures as well as other investments. 

Cash flows from investing activities include inflows of cash and cash equivalents from acquisitions  
in the amount of EUR 2.3 million (2018/19: EUR 6.5 million) and outflows of acquisition costs in  
the amount of EUR 13.4 million (2018/19: EUR 2.0 million); for details, see chapter D. Acquisitions  
and other additions to the scope of consolidation. The disposal of subsidiaries resulted in an outflow 
of cash and cash equivalents from cash flows from investing activities of EUR 0.2 million (2018/19: 
EUR 0.0 million). 

Cash flows from financing activities include dividends for non-controlling interests in the amount of 
EUR 21.0 million (2018/19: EUR 18.1 million).
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The cash flows and non-cash changes in financial liabilities are presented below:

Balance  
as of April 1

Cash flows Non-cash changes Balance as of 
March 31

Increase  
in non-current 

financial 
liabilities

Repayment  
of non-current 

financial  
liabilities  

(including current 
maturities of  

long-term debt)

Repayment  
of lease 

liabilities

Change in 
current financial 

liabilities and 
other financial 

liabilities

Changes in  
the scope of 

consolidation

Foreign  
exchange 

effects

Reclassifications Other  
changes

Financial liabilities 2018/19
Non-current financial liabilities 2,775.0 789.2 –315.1 0.0 –0.5 0.0 40.1 –636.1 1.8 2,654.4

Current financial liabilities 1,302.2 0.0 –855.5 0.0 42.6 0.8 4.5 636.1 3.7 1,134.4

Non-current lease liabilities 8.6 0.0 0.0 –0.7 0.5 0.0 0.0 –1.4 0.4 7.4

Current lease liabilities 13.3 0.0 0.0 –6.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 0.0 7.9

Total financial liabilities 4,099.1 789.2 –1,170.6 –7.5 42.6 0.8 44.6 0.0 5.9 3,804.1

Financial liabilities 2019/20
Non-current financial liabilities 2,654.3 1,157.8 –150.7 0.0 –0.6 0.0 16.6 –159.7 3.0 3,520.7

Current financial liabilities 1,134.4 0.0 –635.7 0.0 56.4 4.3 –9.2 159.7 0.0 709.9

Non-current lease liabilities 400.4 0.0 0.0 –0.9 1.2 0.2 –2.2 –45.4 15.7 369.1

Current lease liabilities 51.3 0.0 0.0 –52.6 –1.4 0.0 –0.7 45.4 2.1 44.1

Total financial liabilities 4,240.4 1,157.8 –786.4 –53.5 55.6 4.5 4.5 0.0 20.8 4,643.8

In millions of euros

The additions to assets due to finance lease activities contain non-cash investments in the amount of 
EUR 32.8 million (2018/19: EUR 0.4 million).
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The cash flows and non-cash changes in financial liabilities are presented below:

Balance  
as of April 1

Cash flows Non-cash changes Balance as of 
March 31

Increase  
in non-current 

financial 
liabilities

Repayment  
of non-current 

financial  
liabilities  

(including current 
maturities of  

long-term debt)

Repayment  
of lease 

liabilities

Change in 
current financial 

liabilities and 
other financial 

liabilities

Changes in  
the scope of 

consolidation

Foreign  
exchange 

effects

Reclassifications Other  
changes

Financial liabilities 2018/19
Non-current financial liabilities 2,775.0 789.2 –315.1 0.0 –0.5 0.0 40.1 –636.1 1.8 2,654.4

Current financial liabilities 1,302.2 0.0 –855.5 0.0 42.6 0.8 4.5 636.1 3.7 1,134.4

Non-current lease liabilities 8.6 0.0 0.0 –0.7 0.5 0.0 0.0 –1.4 0.4 7.4

Current lease liabilities 13.3 0.0 0.0 –6.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 0.0 7.9

Total financial liabilities 4,099.1 789.2 –1,170.6 –7.5 42.6 0.8 44.6 0.0 5.9 3,804.1

Financial liabilities 2019/20
Non-current financial liabilities 2,654.3 1,157.8 –150.7 0.0 –0.6 0.0 16.6 –159.7 3.0 3,520.7

Current financial liabilities 1,134.4 0.0 –635.7 0.0 56.4 4.3 –9.2 159.7 0.0 709.9

Non-current lease liabilities 400.4 0.0 0.0 –0.9 1.2 0.2 –2.2 –45.4 15.7 369.1

Current lease liabilities 51.3 0.0 0.0 –52.6 –1.4 0.0 –0.7 45.4 2.1 44.1

Total financial liabilities 4,240.4 1,157.8 –786.4 –53.5 55.6 4.5 4.5 0.0 20.8 4,643.8

In millions of euros

The additions to assets due to finance lease activities contain non-cash investments in the amount of 
EUR 32.8 million (2018/19: EUR 0.4 million).
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Business transactions between the Group and non-consolidated subsidiaries and associates or their 
subsidiaries as well as joint ventures are carried out at arm’s length and are included in the following 
items of the Consolidated Financial Statements:

2018/19 2019/20

With joint 
ventures

With associates 
and non- 

consolidated 
subsidiaries

With joint 
ventures

With associates 
and non- 

consolidated 
subsidiaries

Revenue 0.0 216.5 0.5 164.9

Cost of materials 4.4 146.1 3.7 121.6

Other operating income 0.6 4.1 0.6 5.0

Other operating expenses 0.0 4.0 0.0 21.8

 03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Trade and other receivables 0.0 49.2 0.1 40.0

Financial liabilities/ 
trade and other payables 0.0 47.8 0.0 32.8

In millions of euros

Receivables from and liabilities to associates and joint ventures as well as non-consolidated sub-
sidiaries comprise both direct and indirect relationships.
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In addition, there are business transactions with core shareholders that have a significant influence 
due to the consolidation of the voestalpine shares using the equity method. Business transactions are 
carried out at arm’s length and are presented as follows:

03/31/2019 03/31/2020

Cash and cash equivalents 13.1 53.1

Financial liabilities/trade and other payables 176.5 181.7

Guarantees received 2.2 0.8

In millions of euros

Interest expense of EUR 1.8 million (2018/19: EUR 1.5 million) was recognized in connection with the 
aforementioned financial liabilities as well as trade and other payables.

Under the first type of factoring agreement (see Note 28. Disclosures of transactions not recorded  
in the statement of financial position), receivables were sold to core shareholders at arm’s length as 
of the business year 2019/20. As of March 31, 2020, these receivables were recognized at a total  
of EUR 244.1 million (2018/19: EUR 218.1 million). Interest expense of EUR 1.0 million (2018/19:  
EUR 0.6 million) was recognized for the business year 2019/20 in this connection.

The non-inclusion of non-consolidated entities in the Consolidated Financial Statements has no  material 
impact on the Group’s net assets, financial position, and results of operations.
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Management Board
The fixed compensation of the Management Board is determined by the General Committee of the 
Supervisory Board pursuant to Austrian legal requirements and is reviewed periodically.

The award of a bonus is subject to a target agreement to be concluded with the General Committee 
of the Supervisory Board that consists of quantitative and qualitative targets. The maximum bonus is 
limited to 200% of the annual gross salary for members of the Management Board and to 250% of 
the annual gross salary for the chairman of the Management Board. If the agreed targets regarding 
quantitative targets are achieved exactly, 60% of the maximum bonus applies; if the agreed  
targets regarding qualitative targets are achieved, 20% of the maximum bonus applies. Any over-
achievement of the targets is taken into consideration proportionately until the maximum bonus is 
reached. The quantitative targets are “earnings before interest and taxes” (EBIT), the “return on  
capital employed” (ROCE), and working capital as a percentage of revenue; for the time being, the 
latter applies only to the business year 2019/20. Specific target amounts are determined periodi-
cally (in each case for a period of three years) by the General Committee of the Supervisory Board in  
consultation with the Management Board. They are computed independently of the respective 
 budget and/or the medium-term business plan, i.e., budget compliance does not mean that a  
bonus is granted. The stipulated qualitative targets for the business year 2019/20 were, first, presen-
tation of a report to the Super visory Board regarding a long-term digitalization strategy and, second, 
presentation of an initial, indicative profitability analysis of a current technological scenario regard-
ing CO2-reduced steel production. 

The amount of the contractually stipulated company pension payable to the members of the  
Management Board, Dipl.-Ing. Herbert Eibensteiner, Dr. Wolfgang Eder (until July 3, 2019), and  
Mag. Dipl.-Ing. Robert Ottel depends on the length of their service. The amount of the annual  
pension equals 1.2% of the most recent annual gross salary for each year of service. However,  
the pension benefit cannot exceed 40% of the most recent annual gross salary (excluding variable 
compensation). A defined contribution arrangement was put in place for the following members of 
the Management Board: Dipl.-Ing. Franz Rotter; Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Franz Kainersdorfer; Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Peter 
Schwab; and Dipl.-Ing. Hubert Zajicek; pursuant to the agreement, the company pays 15% of their 
annual gross salary (excluding bonuses) into the pension fund. 

An extraordinary supplementary payment to the defined contribution system was resolved in the  
business year 2018/19 for the Management Board members, Dipl.-Ing. Franz Rotter, Dipl.-Ing. Dr. 
Franz Kainersdorfer, and Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Peter Schwab. The payment to the pension fund shall be made 
in five equal annual instalments starting on March 31, 2020.

Upon termination of their director’s contracts, Management Board members are granted severance 
pay that is modeled on the approach set forth in the Austrian Employment Act (Angestellten 
gesetz – AngG), pursuant to which the maximum allowable under the law may not be surpassed. 

D&O insurance has been purchased for the members of the Management Board (as well as for the 
Group’s executives) and for the members of the Supervisory Board at a cost of EUR 0.3 million (2018/19: 
EUR 0.2 million) that is borne by the company.
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The compensation paid to the members of the Management Board of voestalpine AG for the business 
year 2019/20 comprises the following:

Current 
compensation 

fixed

Current 
compensation 

variable Total

Dipl.-Ing. Herbert Eibensteiner 0.98 0.47 1.45

Dr. Wolfgang Eder (until 07/03/2019) 0.45 0.62 1.07

Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Franz Kainersdorfer 0.87 0.35 1.22

Mag. Dipl.-Ing. Robert Ottel, MBA 0.87 0.35 1.22

Dipl.-Ing. Franz Rotter 0.87 0.35 1.22

Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Peter Schwab, MBA 0.87 0.35 1.22

Dipl.-Ing. Hubert Zajicek, MBA (since 07/04/2019) 0.44 0.18 0.62

2019/20 5.35 2.67 8.02
2018/19 5.55 7.76 13.31

In millions of euros

The variable compensation specified in the foregoing table for the previous year includes EUR 0.42 mil-
lion in long-service bonuses. No long-service bonuses were paid in the business year 2019/20. In 
 addition to the compensation contained in the above table, a total of EUR 3.41 million in severance 
payments were made to Dr. Wolfgang Eder in the business year 2019/20. Furthermore, the following 
service costs (personnel expenses) are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements for 
 members of the Management Board with defined benefit pension agreements: Dr. Wolfgang Eder 
(until July 3, 2019) EUR 0.00 million (2018/19: EUR 0.00 million); Mag. Dipl.-Ing. Robert Ottel 
EUR 0.42 million (2018/19: EUR 0.32 million); and Dipl.-Ing. Herbert Eibensteiner EUR 0.40 million 
(2018/19: EUR 0.29 million). In the business year 2019/20, expenses for ongoing pension fund  
contributions as well as expenses—to the extent relevant—for the aforementioned supplementary 
 defined contribution payment were recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements as follows 
for the Management Board members with defined contribution pension agreements: Dipl.-Ing. Franz 
Rotter EUR 0.59 million (2018/19: EUR 1.14 million); Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Franz Kainersdorfer EUR 0.52 million 
(2018/19: EUR 0.37 million); Dipl.-Ing. Dr. Peter Schwab EUR 0.69 million (2018/19: EUR 1.15 million); 
and Dipl.-Ing. Hubert Zajicek EUR 0.06 million. Pension payments in the amount of EUR 1.52 million 
(2018/19: EUR 1.02 million) were paid by the pension fund for former members of the Management 
Board with defined benefit pension agreements.

As of the reporting date, the outstanding balance of the variable compensation was EUR 1.57 million 
(2018/19: EUR 5.87 million). No advances or loans were granted to the members of the Management 
Board of voestalpine AG. 

Directors’ dealings notices of the members of the Management Board are published on the company’s 
website (www.voestalpine.com » Investors » Corporate Governance).



C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

Supervisory Board 
Under Article 15 of the Articles of Association, the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory 
Board of voestalpine AG are paid compensation of 0.1% of the profit after tax pursuant to the  
adopted Consolidated Financial Statements. The total amount is distributed as follows based on an 
allocation key: 100% for the Chairman, 75% for the Deputy Chairman, and 50% for each of  
the other members, with a minimum compensation of EUR 27,000 for the Chairman, EUR 20,000 for  
the Deputy Chairman, and EUR 13,000 for each of the other members of the Supervisory Board 
 pursuant to the amendment of Article 15 of the Articles of Association resolved by the Annual 
 General Meeting 2016. The compensation of the Supervisory Board is limited to four times the stated 
amounts. The members of the Supervisory Board nominated by the Works Council do not receive  
any compensation. All members of the Supervisory Board are paid an attendance fee of EUR 500  
per meeting. No separate compensation is paid for meetings of the committees of the Supervisory 
Board, but an attendance fee of EUR 500 per meeting is paid nonetheless.

According to this arrangement, the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board were paid 
the following compensation for the business year 2019/20: Dr. Joachim Lemppenau (Chairman): 
EUR 27,000 (2018/19: EUR 96,000); Dr. Heinrich Schaller (Deputy Chairman): EUR 20,000 (2018/19: 
EUR 72,000); and all other shareholder representatives: EUR 13,000 (2018/19: EUR 48,000) each. 

The Articles of Association have contained finalized rules as to the annual compensation of the 
 members of the Supervisory Board and the method of calculating it since the Annual General Meet-
ing 2006. As a result, the Annual General Meeting need not adopt a separate resolution every year.

The total compensation paid to the members of the Supervisory Board (including attendance fees) 
for the business year 2019/20 is EUR 0.19 million (2018/19: EUR 0.50 million). The compensation of 
the Supervisory Board for the business year 2019/20 will be paid at the latest 14 days after the   
Annual General Meeting on July 1, 2020. No advances or loans were granted to members of the  
Supervisory Board of voestalpine AG.

Directors’ dealings notices of the members of the Supervisory Board are published on the company’s 
website (www.voestalpine.com » Investors » Corporate Governance).
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26. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Reporting date Average
03/31/2019 03/31/2020 2018/19 2019/20

Waged employees 30,564 29,476 30,292 30,050

Salaried employees 18,228 18,192 18,088 18,207

Apprentices 1,310 1,337 1,403 1,443

 50,102 49,005 49,783 49,700

The personnel expenses included in these Consolidated Financial Statements are EUR 3,086.6 million 
(2018/19: EUR 3,124.1 million).

27. EXPENSES FOR THE GROUP AUDITOR
Expenses for the Group auditor in the business year are structured as follows:

2018/191 2019/20

Expenses for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the separate financial statements of voestalpine AG 0.26 0.25

Expenses for the audit of the subsidiaries of voestalpine AG 1.06 0.96

Expenses for other certifications 0.03 0.02

Expenses for tax consulting services 0.00 0.00

Expenses for other services 0.26 0.18

1.61 1.41

1 Audited by Grant Thornton Unitreu GmbH.
 

In millions of euros
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28. DISCLOSURES OF TRANSACTIONS NOT RECORDED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
In the voestalpine Group, trade receivables are sold monthly to various banks on a revolving basis.  
In this context, there are four different types of factoring agreements. 

Under the first type of factoring agreement, trade receivables totaling EUR 832.1 million (March 31, 
2019: EUR 803.6 million) were sold to various banks. Receivables covered by credit insurance were 
assigned to banks in an amount corresponding to 100% of the nominal value, with the acquiring 
banks assuming the risk of default. Any claims arising under the credit insurance are assigned to the 
acquiring bank. The selling Group company only assumes liability for default up to—generally—10% 
of the retention level under the credit insurance. As of the reporting date, the maximum risk associ-
ated with the liability for default was EUR 83.2 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 80.4 million). The liability 
for default corresponds to the theoretical maximum loss. The probability of needing to fall back on 
this liability is extremely low. The fair value of this risk is assessed at EUR 0.0 million (March 31, 2019: 
EUR 0.3 million). The receivables are derecognized in full in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 
due to the transfer of the material risks and opportunities as well as control to the acquiring party. 

Under the second type of factoring agreement, uninsured trade receivables of EUR 248.3 million 
(March 31, 2019: EUR 226.4 million) were sold. The acquiring bank assumes 100% of the default  
risk. All of the receivables are fully derecognized. With the exception of the capitalized service fee 
mentioned below for the administration of the receivables, there is no ongoing commitment. 

Under the third type of factoring agreement—introduced in October 2014—both insured and  uninsured 
trade receivables of EUR 108.4 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 141.8 million) were sold. Any claims  
arising under the credit insurance were assigned to the acquiring bank. At the time the receivables 
were sold, loss reserves of 0.9% and dilution reserves of 1.6% (with reference to the sold receivables) 
were deducted from the purchase price. The dilution reserves totaling EUR 1.7 million (March 31, 2019: 
EUR 2.3 million) for receivables sold as of the reporting date concern claims to discounts, bonuses, 
etc. and are posted as other receivables. The carrying amount corresponds to the fair value. A loss 
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reserve to cover any defaults in the amount of EUR 1.0 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 1.3 million) for 
receivables sold as of the reporting date was posted as an expenditure, which is reversed in the  
absence of any defaults. The theoretical maximum loss is limited to the loss reserve. The receivables 
are derecognized in full in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 due to the transfer of the material 
risks and opportunities as well as control to the acquiring party. 

Under the fourth type of factoring agreement, both insured and uninsured trade receivables of 
EUR 28.6 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 31.3 million) were sold. Any claims under the credit insurance 
were assigned to the acquiring bank. For bad debts, a “first loss reserve account” was funded in the 
amount of EUR 0.3 million for 12 months by the selling Group company. The first loss reserve account 
was EUR 0.3 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 0.3 million) as of the reporting date and was reported as 
cash. The carrying amount corresponds to the fair value. The theoretical maximum loss is limited to 
the amount of the first loss reserve account. Due to the transfer of the material risks and opportunities 
as well as control to the acquiring party, the receivables were derecognized in full in accordance with 
the provisions of IFRS 9. 

Under all of the types of factoring agreements, the payments received from customers during the 
 period between the last sale of receivables and the reporting date are recognized on an accrual 
 basis in other current financial liabilities. 

The administration of receivables for all types of factoring contracts remains with the respective  
Group companies. For the receivables sold, as of March 31, 2020, a total service fee of 0.15% of  
the sold receivables of EUR 1.8 million (March 31, 2019: EUR 1.8 million) was recognized in other 
 provisions. The carrying amount corresponds to the fair value of the ongoing commitment.

29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No significant events have occurred after the reporting period.
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30. EARNINGS PER SHARE
In accordance with IAS 33, the diluted and basic earnings per share are calculated as follows:

2018/19 2019/20

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent  
(in millions of euros) 408.5 –222.0

Issued ordinary shares (average) 176,715,830 178,549,163

Effect of treasury shares held (average) –28,597 –28,597

Weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares 176,687,233 178,520,566

Diluted and basic earnings per share (euros) 2.31 –1.24

31. APPROPRIATION OF NET PROFIT
In accordance with the Austrian Stock Corporation Act, the appropriation of net profit is based on  
the annual financial statements of voestalpine AG as of March 31, 2020. They show net retained  
profits of EUR 100.0 million. The Management Board proposes a dividend of EUR 0.20 per share 
(2018/19: EUR 1.10).

Linz, May 26, 2020

The Management Board

The Consolidated Financial Statements of voestalpine AG and associated documents will be filed with the Commercial Register of the 
Commercial Court of Linz under company register number FN 66209 t. 

Appendix to the Notes: Investments 

This report is a translation of the original German-language report, which is solely valid.

Herbert Eibensteiner Franz Kainersdorfer

Franz Rotter Peter Schwab Hubert Zajicek

Robert Ottel
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REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of voestalpine AG, Linz and its subsidiaries 
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply with legal requirements 
and give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2020, 
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements under section 245a UGB.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 and with the Austrian 
 Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. Those standards require the application of the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our  
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in  
Austria, and we have fulfilled our other professional responsibilities in accordance with these require-
ments. We  believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in  
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
 opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

AUDITOR’S REPORT



C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets and property plant and equipment

» Description and Issue
In the consolidated financial statements of voestalpine AG as at March 31, 2020, goodwill, other 
intangible assets and property plant and equipment are presented in the amounts EUR 1,494.9 mil-
lion, EUR 338.6 million and EUR 6,558.8 million. Impairment losses of EUR 401.7 million were 
 recognized within the business year 2019/20. The recoverable amount is defined as the value in 
use. An impairment loss is recognized at the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or 
cash generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount.

For further information, please refer to Section B. Summary of Accounting Policies, “Uncertainties in 
Accounting Estimates and Assumptions”, “Impairment Testing of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets, 
and Property, Plant and Equipment” as well as “9. Property, Plant and Equipment”, “10. Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets” and “11. Impairment Losses and Reversal of Impairment Losses” in  
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

The assessment of the recoverability is based on assumptions concerning the future. The determina-
tion of the recoverable amount in the course of an impairment test is based on several assumptions 
such as future net cash flows and discount rates. Estimates of future cash flows are subject to 
 uncertainties, which have increased due to the global COVID-19-crisis. The determination of  
the discount rate is complex and depends on management’s estimates and market data. Small 
 changes of the assumptions applied can significantly influence the impairment losses recognized. 
Due to these facts and also given the significance of goodwill, other intangible assets, property, 
plants and equipment and impairment accounted for in the consolidated financial statements we 
identified this position as a key audit matter. 

» Our Response 
We assessed the appropriateness of the assumptions underlying the planning of future cash flows 
and compared these to the five-year mid-term planning approved by the Management. We com-
pared the parameters of the impairment tests with internal information and validated them based 
on historical data and discussed them with management. We assessed adjustments of the budget 
year as a response to the COVID-19 crisis with regard to timing and quantitative impacts by 
 discussions with the Management and compared those to internal information and available 
 industry-specific market expectations derived from external sources.
 
Furthermore we verified the appropriateness of the valuation model by involvement of internal 
 experts. We assessed the applied discount rates by determining a range for plausible discount rates.
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Recoverability of deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward

» Description and Issue
In the consolidated financial statements of voestalpine AG, deferred tax assets on tax losses carried 
forward amounting to EUR 126.5 million are recognized. A deferred tax asset shall be recognized 
for the carryforward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilized. Moreover convincing other 
 evidence needs to be available in case of a history of recent losses.

For further information, please refer to Section B. Summary of Accounting Policies, “Uncertainties in 
Accounting Estimates and Assumptions” and “Income Taxes” as well as “8. Income Taxes” and 
“13. Deferred Taxes”.

The assessment of recoverability of deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward is based on 
 estimates of future taxable profit and is therefore subject to uncertainties. In particular for Group 
companies with a history of recent losses convincing other evidence needs to be available and 
 probability of sufficient future taxable profit has to be high. Therefore, we have identified this  
position as a key audit matter.

» Our Response 
We examined the appropriateness of the assumptions underlying the planning of future taxable 
profit with regard to deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward. This also included analyzing 
whether these were determined consistently among the Group companies. Concerning Group 
 companies that show a history of recent losses we assessed the appropriateness of deferred tax 
 assets recorded based on convincing other evidence for future taxable profit.

OTHER MATTER –  
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PREVIOUS YEAR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended March 31, 2019 were audited 
by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on May 28, 2019. 

OTHER INFORMATION
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the informa-
tion in the annual report, excluding the consolidated financial statements, the consolidated manage-
ment report and the audit opinion as well as the separate consolidated report on non-financial  
information (Corporate Responsibility Report). We received the annual report (not including the  
report of the Supervisory Board) prior to the date of our independent auditor’s report; the report of 
the Supervisory Board and the report on non-financial information (Corporate Responsibility Report) 
will be provided to us after this date. 
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. With respect to the information in the 
 consolidated management report beyond the consolidated non-financial statement we refer to the 
section “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Management Report”.
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
 appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of  
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT COMMITTEE  
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the EU, the additional requirements under section 245a UGB and for such internal control as  
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
 liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT  
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
 statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to  
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 
and with Austrian Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, which require the application of the ISAs, 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial  
statements.
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 and with Austrian Generally 
 Accepted Auditing Standards, which require the application of the ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting  
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the  
override of internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  2 0 1 9 / 2 0

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

» Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
 report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures  
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the under-
lying transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

» We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial state-
ments. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

» We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

» We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,   
related safeguards.

» From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were  
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period  
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circum stances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
 consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE  
CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT

Pursuant to statutory provisions, the consolidated management report is to be audited as to whether 
it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and whether it has been prepared in 
 accordance with the applicable legal requirements. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated management report in   
accordance with the Austrian Commercial Code. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable with respect to the 
 consolidated management report.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated management report is prepared in accordance with the applicable 
legal requirements, includes appropriate disclosures according to section 243a UGB and is consis-
tent with the consolidated financial statements.

STATEMENT
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained in the 
course of our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have not identified material  
misstatements in the consolidated management report.
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Other Matters which we are required to address according to  
Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014
We were appointed as auditors by the annual general meeting on July 3, 2019 and commissioned by 
the supervisory board on August 1, 2019 to audit the consolidated financial statements for the 
 financial year ending March 31, 2020. We have been auditing the Group since the financial year 
 ending March 31, 2020. 

We confirm that our opinion expressed in the section “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated 
 Financial Statements” is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee referred to in 
 Article 11 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014.
 
We declare that we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of 
 Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 and that we remained independent of Group in conducting the audit.

Engagement Partner
The engagement partner responsible for the audit is Marieluise Krimmel. 

Vienna, May 26, 2020

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH

Marieluise Krimmel    pp. Monika Viertlmayer
Certified Public Accountant (Austria)  Certified Public Accountant (Austria)

This English translation of the audit report was prepared for the client’s convenience only. It is not a legally binding translation of the 
German audit report.

The consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report may be published or transmitted together only if the consolidated 
 financial statements and the consolidated management report are identical with the confirmed version. Section 281 para 2 Austrian 
Commercial Code applies to versions that differ.
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The Management Board of voestalpine AG confirms to the best of its knowledge that the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting 
 standards, give a true and fair view of the Group’s net assets, financial position, and results of  
operations; that the Group Management Report describes the Group’s development, business 
 performance, and position such that it gives a true and fair view of the Group’s net assets, financial 
position, and results of operations; and that the Group Management Report describes the material 
risks and uncertainties to which the Group is exposed. 

Linz, May 26, 2020

The Management Board

Herbert Eibensteiner
Chairman of the Management Board

Franz Kainersdorfer
Member of the Management Board

Franz Rotter
Member of the Management Board

Peter Schwab
Member of the Management Board

Hubert Zajicek
Member of the Management Board

Robert Ottel
Member of the Management Board

This report is a translation of the original German-language report, which is solely valid.

MANAGEMENT BOARD STATEMENT  
IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 124 (1) OF THE AUSTRIAN STOCK  
EXCHANGE ACT 2018 (BÖRSEGESETZ 2018 – BÖRSEG 2018)


